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August 25, 2021 
Ref: 249128 

Jay Yule, Superintendent 
SD 47, Powell River 
Email: jay.yule@sd47.bc.ca 
 
cc: 
Steve Hopkins, Treasurer 
steve.hopkins@sd47.bc.ca 
 
Dear Jay Yule: 
 
We are pleased to inform you that SD 47, Powell River has been provided a grant in the 
amount of $129,932.00 to support mental health and well-being promotion in your school 
community. This grant is a combination of $74,932.00 one-time COVID-19 Recovery Plan 
funding and $55,000.00 Early Actions Initiative funding. These funds can be used in 
combination or separately according to the intentions outlined below to support mental 
health and well-being promotion. An Electronic Funds Transfer will follow on August 31, 
2021.   
 
The one-time COVID-19 Recovery Plan grant funding in the amount of $74,932.00 is to 
help address the impacts on students and staff of isolation and stress in response to the 
COVID-19 pandemic and response measures, and to support the recovery from COVID-19.  
 
The intention for the one-time COVID-19 Recovery Plan grant funding is to: 

 Address and mitigate the mental health impacts of COVID-19 and the pandemic response 
measures and to support recovery; 

 Enhance existing school district capacity building measures to provide extra support in 
alignment with the Key Principles and Strategies for K-12 Mental Health Promotion in 
Schools, developed by the Mental Health School Start-Up Working Group, and the 
Mental Health in School Strategy to support pandemic recovery;   

 Enhance existing school district strategic plans to ensure alignment with any new 
initiatives; and 

 Ensure collaboration at school and district levels to promote flexibility and local decision 
making to encourage partnerships within the school district community. 

 
The Early Actions Initiative Recovery Plan grant funding in the amount of $55,000.00 is to 
support mental health promotion and capacity building.  

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/key-principles-and-strategies-for-k-12-mental-health-promotion.pdf�
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/key-principles-and-strategies-for-k-12-mental-health-promotion.pdf�
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/erase/documents/mental-health-wellness/mhis-strategy.pdf�


 
 
 
 
The intention of the Early Actions Initiative grant funding is to: 

 Use existing student data (as chosen by SD 47, Powell River from any relevant and 
appropriate data source) to fund the development of new/enhanced evidence-based, 
inclusive mental health and well-being activities; 

o Mental Health activities may be universal or targeted in support of students, 
families, and/or educators; 

 Build upon 2018/19 through 2020/21 funding for an integrated and sustainable mental 
health infrastructure in the district, considering the approaches of Social and Emotional 
Learning, Mental Health Literacy and Trauma Informed Practice; and 

 Engage with local First Nations, Indigenous Rightsholders and Partners to ensure planned 
activities are culturally safe and meet the needs of Indigenous children and youth; 

 
Please see the attached Overview for Mental Health in Schools Grant Funding Document for 
more information.   
A grant of this nature requires that the Ministry outline its standard expectations in terms of 
accountability and acknowledgement.  
 
In accordance with conditions placed on all government grants, SD 47, Powell River must: 

 Use all grant funds only for the purpose outlined above. 
 By December 1, 2021, provide the Ministry a report through the Action Plan 

Questionnaire outlining how the funding has been or will be spent. Funding must be spent 
before the end of the fiscal.   

 The Action Plan Questionnaire has been updated to include questions specific to 
the COVID-19 Recovery Plan funding to identify how this one-time funding will 
be used to support pandemic recovery through the initiation of new or 
enhancement of existing supports. 

 Completion of the 2021/2022 Action Plan Questionnaire is required and may impact 
future grant funding if not completed.   

 The Ministry may reclaim any portion of the grant should SD 47, Powell River not use 
the funds received for the purposes outlined in this letter. 

 
Further, we ask that you acknowledge the Province of British Columbia’s assistance on written 
materials related to this grant. The following acknowledgement may be used: 

 
“We acknowledge the financial support of the Province of British Columbia 
through the Ministry of Education.” 



 
Action plan Questionnaire: 

 Action Plan Questionnaire link: https://www.awinfosys.com/surveyfull3/minofed/main/ 
(please note this link will be active September 1 – December 1, 2021).  

 The initial password to access the Action Plan Questionnaire for SD 47, Powell River is 
047. This password is only shared with the recipient of this letter.  

 You will have the capacity to save, log out, and log in as desired prior to submitting the 
final Action Plan by December 1, 2021. 

 If you are experiencing technical difficulties accessing the Action Plan Questionnaire, 
please contact AWIS at support@awinfosys.com or 1-866-558-5339. 
 

Thank you for your continued commitment to supporting students, educators, and families of 
your district in building mental health and well-being capacity and supporting our Provincial 
commitment to overall student success. 
 
 

Sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
Jennifer McCrea  
Assistant Deputy Minister 
Learning Division 
Ministry of Education 

https://www.awinfosys.com/surveyfull3/minofed/main/�
mailto:support@awinfosys.com�
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August 25, 2021 
 
To: Superintendents of British Columbia School Districts and the Federation of Independent School Associations 
in BC 
 
Overview for Mental Health in Schools Grant Funding 
The Ministry of Education is once again pleased to provide grant funding to each school district, as well as to 
the Federation of Independent School Associations in BC (FISA BC) on behalf of independent schools, to better 
support mental health for students.  
 
In addition to the $3.633 million in school-based wellness programs and support funding previously identified 
for the 2021-22 school year, the Province recently announced $5 million in a one-time COVID-19 Recovery Plan 
funding to help address the impacts on students and staff of isolation and stress in response to the COVID-19 
pandemic and response. For the 2021-22 school year, school districts and FISA BC will receive a collective total 
of $8.633 million in grants to promote mental health and well-being and provide additional supports for 
students, families, and educators. 
 
The intention of combining the COVID-19 Recovery Plan funding with the Early Actions Initiative funding is to 
address and mitigate the mental health impacts of COVID-19 and the pandemic response measures and to 
support recovery in alignment with existing strategic plans and initiatives.   
 
These grants provide school districts and FISA BC with an opportunity to build capacity in mental health and 
well-being related knowledge, skills, and resources in school communities. Grants may be combined or 
separately (in alignment with the intentions outlined in the grant letter) for a range of activities. Sustainable 
capacity building initiatives are encouraged, such as train-the-trainer programs and the development of video 
or web-based resource materials for educators, students, and/or families.   
 
Supporting Information 
Mental health is a priority for the Province of BC. A Pathway to Hope , released by the Ministry of Mental Health 
and Addictions in 2019, provides a 10-year roadmap which includes a major focus on child and youth mental 
health, and highlights the importance of promoting early childhood social and emotional development and 
mental health in schools.  
 
The Ministry of Education’s Mental Health in Schools (MHiS) Strategy, released in the fall 2020, outlines a vision 
and pathway for mental health promotion in the K-12 education system. The MHiS Strategy embeds positive 
mental health and wellness programs and services for students in all areas including school culture, leadership, 
curriculum and learning environments through three core elements of Compassionate Systems Leadership, 
Capacity Building, and Mental Health in the Classroom. 
 
Developed in partnership with the BC Centre for Disease Control and the Mental Health School Start-up 
Working Group, Key Principles and Strategies for K-12 Mental Health Promotion in Schools provides schools with 
important, evidence-based information for promoting mental health during the 2021/22 school start-up and 
addressing the impacts of the pandemic. 
 

https://news.gov.bc.ca/files/BCMentalHealthRoadmap_2019.pdf?fbclid=IwAR1ub5sqCqTUjdnYjEasTNH5SDeF0itBVl8XDB2JRFyTbau2eTJFmpu80hY
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/erase/documents/mental-health-wellness/mhis-strategy.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/key-principles-and-strategies-for-k-12-mental-health-promotion.pdf
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Mental health promotion is about fostering learning environments in which all members of the school 
community are supporting individual resilience, creating supportive settings, and addressing the influence of 
the broader determinants of mental health. Research shows that schools have been identified as the most 
appropriate environment for universal mental health promotion, as well as for early recognition of mental 
health challenges. 
 
Action plans for the one-time COVID-19 Recovery Plan funding should ensure alignment with the Key Principles 
and Strategies for K-12 Mental Health Promotion in Schools, developed by the Mental Health School Start-Up 
Working Group, and the Mental Health in School Strategy to support pandemic recovery. Actions should 
incorporate elements from Key Principles and Strategies for K-12 Mental Health Promotion in Schools resource: 

 
  In 2018/19 and 2019/20, school districts and FISA BC were asked to consider the approaches of social and 
emotional learning, trauma-informed practice, and mental health literacy, which are foundational elements of 
mental health promotion. In 2020/21, the Ministry encouraged an additional focus on compassionate systems 
leadership and supporting adult well-being when planning activities.  
 
As in years past, the Ministry is asking that key elements are considered for planning Early Actions Initiative 
funded mental health activities:  

• Indigenous perspectives and culturally responsive and inclusive environments 
• Compassionate Systems Leadership  
• Inquiry-based conversations around data  
• Social and emotional learning, trauma-informed practice, and mental health literacy 

These elements will be reflected in the action plan questions and are described in detail below: 

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/key-principles-and-strategies-for-k-12-mental-health-promotion.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/key-principles-and-strategies-for-k-12-mental-health-promotion.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/erase/documents/mental-health-wellness/mhis-strategy.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/key-principles-and-strategies-for-k-12-mental-health-promotion.pdf
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We wish you continued success with your mental health activities for 2020/21. If you have questions, please 
contact EDUC.MentalHealth@gov.bc.ca. 
 
Stay well!   
 
The Ministry of Education, Mental Health Team 
 

 

Indigenous Perspectives and Culturally Safe and Inclusive Environments

Engagement and collaboration with First Nations and Indigenous partners is necessary to facilitate the 
inclusion of Indigenous perspectives on positive mental health. School districts and FISA BC should work 
closely with First Nations and Indigenous partners when planning grant-funded initiatives to ensure the 
activities are culturally safe and meet the needs of Indigenous students.

Compassionate Systems Leadership

Leadership that is compassionate, collective, and able to think and act across organizations and 
systems is an important component in a more systemic approach to mental health in schools. 
Systems Leadership is anchored in self-awareness, social awareness, responsible decision-making, 
self management and relationship skills. 

Inquiry-based Conversations around Data

Developing a comprehensive plan is essential for an effective and sustainable mental health 
strategy. The Ministry encourages the use of a variety of data sources, including the Mental Health 
Dashboard (updated to include 2020/21 data), to ensure decisions regarding mental health 
initiatives are evidence-based.

Social and emotional learning (SEL), trauma informed practice (TIP), and mental health literacy (MHL) are 
key components of mental health promotion. School districts and schools are incouraged to to use each 
of these approaches to meet their varying needs and priorities. When combined, these approaches 
create strong foundations for positive mental health.  

 

For more information on mental health and well-being, including definitions, supports and 
resources, please visit the erase: Mental Health & Well-being website at erase.gov.bc.ca. 

2021/2022Action Plan Questionnaire – Points to note: 
• Completed Action Plan Questionnaires are due by December 1, 2021. 
• Please submit Action Plan Questionnaires online at: https://www.awinfosys.com/surveyfull3/minofed/main/  
• The online submission portal will be available September 1 – December 1, 2021. 
• Each school district and FISA BC has been provided a confidential password, found in your grant letter. 
• If you are having trouble accessing the Action Plan Questionnaire (e.g., password issues, website not loading), 

please contact AWIS at support@awinfosys.com or 1-866-558-5339. 
• The Ministry may contact school districts and FISA BC for additional information regarding action plan items to 

share learnings, opportunities and to promote provincial alignment of mental health and wellbeing strategies.  

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/erase
https://www.awinfosys.com/surveyfull3/minofed/main/
mailto:support@awinfosys.com
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Operating Grant Holdback: Addressing Learning Impacts April 1, 2021 

 
Background 
The Ministry of Education is releasing $5.9M of the 2020/2021 public school operating grant “holdback”. Additional 
funds may be available after the May 2021 enrolment count. This funding is in addition to the operating grants 
calculated from the September, February and May enrolment counts.  
 
These funds must be used to address the learning impacts as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, recognizing that these 
will not be the only funds budgeted by school districts to address learning impacts. The funding is provided under 106.3 
of the School Act. As such the funding is not targeted, but school districts are required by the Ministry to report on how 
the funding has been utilized. 
 
Expected Funding 
School District allocations are based on the proportion of operating grants calculated from the September 1701 count, 
fully recognizing the diversity of students and geography of each district. 
 
Use of Funding 
School districts may use their holdback allocation to: 

1. Assess learning impacts to students due to the pandemic  
2. Develop and deliver additional resources to address learning impacts to students caused by the pandemic. 
3. Deliver learning recovery strategies. 
 
Required Reporting 
School districts will be required to report: 

1. The strategies and resources that have been developed 
2. The number and diversity of the students that have been supported. 
3. The total number of additional staff hours provided (Admin, Teacher, Support Staff) 
4. Other supplies, services and costs purchased or supplied. 
5. The number of Self-Identified Indigenous Students. 
6. The number of First Nations Bands in your district. 
 
Please report back using this reporting template. 
 

 

 

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/download/8A03B08C9808481BB0955B63ECDB4F1A


 
 

 
 

 
.../2 

 
Ministry of Education 
 
 
 

Learning Division 

Indigenous 
Education 
 

Logo Artist: 
Chris Paul 

Mailing Address: 
PO Box 9887 Stn Prov Govt 
Victoria BC  V8W 9T6 
 

Telephone: 250-356-1891 

Location: 

4th Floor, 620 Superior Street 
Victoria BC 
Email:  EDUC.IndigenousEducation@gov.bc.ca 
Website:  www.gov.bc.ca/indigenouseducation 

 

 
July 14, 2021 

Ref: 248685 
 

 
Dr Jay Yule, Superintendent 
Steve Hopkins, Secretary-Treasurer 
School District No. 47 (Powell River) 
Email: jay.yule@sd47.bc.ca; steve.hopkins@sd47.bc.ca 

 

Dear Jay Yule and Steve Hopkins: 
 
Re: Equity Grant to improve educational outcomes of Indigenous Children and Youth 

in Care and learners with disabilities or diverse abilities 
 
We are pleased to advise that School District No. 47 (Powell River) has been awarded an Equity 
Grant in the amount of $79,000.00 to improve the educational outcomes of Indigenous Children 
and Youth in Care (CYIC) and learners with disabilities or diverse abilities. An EFT will follow 
shortly. 
 
A grant of this nature requires that the Ministry outline its standard expectations in terms of 
accountability and acknowledgement. In accordance with conditions placed on this government 
grant, School District No. 47 (Powell River) must: 
 

• Use all grant funds only for the purpose outlined herein. 
• Be aware that the Ministry will reclaim any portion of the grant should School District 

No. 47 (Powell River) not use the funds received for the purposes outlined in this letter. 
District Innovation: 

• District team is to engage with and co-create a plan to utilize these grant dollars with 
local First Nations, Métis Chartered Communities and local Indigenous community 
partners. 

• District is responsible for attending and contributing to three District cohort meetings 
between October 2021 and May 2022. During these meetings, District will discuss 
current realities, outline measures taken and share promising practices that address 
disparities in outcomes for Indigenous, and/or CYIC, and/or students with disabilities or 
diverse abilities.  



- 2 - 

Resource Deliverable: 

By June 25, 2022, District will submit a report to the Ministry of Education that will 
accompany the “Equity Action Plan”, articulating.  
1. a budget breakdown of how the monies were spent 
2. goals and actions that were taken 
3. engagement with local First Nations and Métis Chartered Communities 
4. involvement of local community partners 
5. how student success outcomes were measured 
6. promising practices and approaches utilized to improve student outcomes 

 
Further, we ask that you acknowledge the Province of British Columbia’s assistance on written 
materials related to this grant. The following acknowledgement may be used: 

 
“We acknowledge the financial support of the Province of British Columbia 
through the Ministry of Education.” 

 
We are honoured to have this opportunity to work with you and your District on improving the 
educational outcomes of Indigenous Children and Youth in Care and learners with disabilities or 
diverse abilities.  
 
Sincerely, 

 
on behalf of 

Patricia Kovacs 
Executive Director, Equity, Wellness and Inclusion  
Learning Division 
 
cc:  Gail Blaney and Jasmin Marshman, District Leads for Indigenous Education, School 

District No. 47 (Powell River), Email: gail.blaney@sd47.bc.ca; 
jasmin.marshman@sd47.bc.ca 

 Joe Heslip, Equity in Action Lead, Email: Joe.Heslip@gov.bc.ca 
 

 



















































SD #47 Before and After School Program Concept Plan 

Rationale:  

• To provide quality childcare before and after school 

Locations:  

• Each elementary school could have a program if there were enough registrations to make it 

financially feasible. 

Hours: 

• Before school – 7:30-School start up (approximately one hour) 

• After school – School ending – 5:30 (approximately two hours) 

Program goals: 

• Provide enriching academic opportunities for children. 

• Provide safe, supervised, and cost-effective childcare. 

• Provide play-based experiences indoors and out. 

Ratio of student to staff: 

• 12:1 (K – grade 1) 

• 15:1 (grade 2-5) 

Cost for families: 

• $10 per day for both before and after school care. Monthly registrations would be given priority 

rather than drop ins. 

• Hardship clause for those who need it. 

Staffing required: 

• Staffing to ensure appropriate ratios. 

• Coordinator to oversee the district program to facilitate learning resources, scheduling, parent 

communication, and problem solving. 

Costs involved: 

 Direct costs: 

• 3 hours of EA time for each group of 12-15 students = $105 per day 

• With a minimum of 10 students needed to run the program, the cost per day for staffing 

would be approximately $100 per day. 

• Incidentals such as snacks and supplies. 

Indirect costs: 

• District coordinator  



* With the programs open both before and after school, a childcare grant from the MCFD as well as a 

grant from Community Link could be accessed.  

Next steps: 

• With Board support, families will be surveyed for interest to see which schools could support 

the program. A more comprehensive plan will then be submitted for Board approval. 

• Providing care before school as well as the times for after school is still being considered 

depending on the survey. 

• Once need is determined, principals will be consulted on the best location in each of their 

schools. 

• Licensing will begin once spaces are identified. 
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School District No. 47 (Powell River)

MANAGEMENT REPORT

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements.

On behalf of School District No. 47 (Powell River)

Signature of the Chairperson of the Board of Education

Signature of the Superintendent

Signature of the Secretary Treasurer

DRAFT

The external auditors, MNP, conduct an independent examination, in accordance with Canadian generally 
accepted auditing standards, and express their opinion on the financial statements.  The external auditors have 
full and free access to financial management of School District No. 47 (Powell River) and meet when required.  
The accompanying Independent Auditors' Report outlines their responsibilities, the scope of their examination 
and their opinion on the School District's financial statements.

Date Signed

Date Signed

Date Signed

The accompanying financial statements of School District No. 47 (Powell River) have been prepared by 
management in accordance with the accounting requirements of Section 23.1 of the Budget Transparency and 
Accountability Act of British Columbia, supplemented by Regulations 257/2010 and 198/2011 issued by the 
Province of British Columbia Treasury Board, and the integrity and objectivity of these statements are 
management's responsibility.  Management is also responsible for all of the notes to the financial statements and 
schedules, and for ensuring that this information is consistent, where appropriate, with the information 
contained in the financial statements.

Management is also responsible for implementing and maintaining a system of internal controls to provide 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded, transactions are properly authorized and reliable financial 
information is produced.

The preparation of financial statements necessarily involves the use of estimates based on management's 
judgment particularly when transactions affecting the current accounting period cannot be finalized with 
certainty until future periods.

The Board of Education of School District No. 47 (Powell River) (called the ''Board'') is responsible for 
ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting and internal control and exercises 
these responsibilities through the Board.  The Board reviews internal financial statements on a monthly basis 
and externally audited financial statements yearly.

DRAFT
Page 1
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Statement 1

2021 2020
Actual Actual

$ $
Financial Assets

Cash and Cash Equivalents 7,418,399            6,420,916            
Accounts Receivable

Due from Province - Ministry of Education 142,338               

Other 186,313               137,426               
Total Financial Assets 7,747,050            6,558,342            

Liabilities

Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Other 2,196,740            2,373,754            

Unearned Revenue 515,518               324,083               
Deferred Revenue 568,191               573,196               
Deferred Capital Revenue 37,413,838          37,504,271          
Employee Future Benefits 788,119               729,268               
Total Liabilities 41,482,406          41,504,572          

Net Debt (33,735,356)        (34,946,230)        

Non-Financial Assets

Tangible Capital Assets 47,009,412          46,765,129          
Prepaid Expenses 90,289                84,327                
Total Non-Financial Assets 47,099,701          46,849,456          

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) 13,364,345          11,903,226          

Signature of the Chairperson of the Board of Education

Signature of the Superintendent

Signature of the Secretary Treasurer

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Statement of Financial Position
As at June 30, 2021

Date Signed

Date Signed

Date Signed

Approved by the Board

DRAFT

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
DRAFT - Not Finalized

September 03, 2021  16:00 Page 3



Statement 2

2021 2021 2020
Budget Actual Actual

$ $ $
Revenues

Provincial Grants
Ministry of Education 37,237,168          38,357,190          31,807,678          
Other 88,400                128,300               101,100               

Tuition 420,000               516,651               1,062,276            
Other Revenue 2,557,947            1,965,962            2,593,422            
Rentals and Leases 97,900                126,654               217,446               
Investment Income 30,000                31,459                52,239                
Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,585,275            1,615,684            1,599,999            
Total Revenue 42,016,690          42,741,900          37,434,160          

Expenses

Instruction 33,917,023          32,361,264          28,813,537          
District Administration 1,540,590            1,429,836            1,227,502            
Operations and Maintenance 5,822,640            6,366,277            5,246,843            
Transportation and Housing 1,125,578            1,123,404            1,110,605            
Total Expense 42,405,831          41,280,781          36,398,487          

Surplus (Deficit) for the year (389,141)             1,461,119            1,035,673            

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) from Operations, beginning of year 11,903,226          10,867,553          

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) from Operations, end of year 13,364,345          11,903,226          

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Statement of Operations
Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
DRAFT - Not Finalized

September 03, 2021  16:00 Page 4



Statement 4

2021 2021 2020
Budget Actual Actual

$ $ $

Surplus (Deficit) for the year (389,141)             1,461,119            1,035,673            

Effect of change in Tangible Capital Assets

Acquisition of Tangible Capital Assets (500,000)             (2,132,723)          (1,248,673)          
Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 1,854,799            1,888,440            1,928,693            
Total Effect of change in Tangible Capital Assets 1,354,799            (244,283)             680,020               

Use of Prepaid Expenses (5,962)                 137,029               
Total Effect of change in Other Non-Financial Assets -                          (5,962)                 137,029               

(Increase) Decrease in Net Debt, before Net Remeasurement Gains (Losses) 965,658               1,210,874            1,852,722            

Net Remeasurement Gains (Losses)

(Increase) Decrease in Net Debt 1,210,874            1,852,722            

Net Debt, beginning of year (34,946,230)        (36,798,952)        

Net Debt, end of year (33,735,356)        (34,946,230)        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Statement of Changes in Net Debt
Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
DRAFT - Not Finalized

September 03, 2021  16:00 Page 5



Statement 5

2021 2020
Actual Actual

$ $
Operating Transactions

Surplus (Deficit) for the year 1,461,119          1,035,673          
Changes in Non-Cash Working Capital

Decrease (Increase)
Accounts Receivable (191,225)            69,279               
Prepaid Expenses (5,962)                137,029             

Increase (Decrease)
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities (177,014)            502,089             
Unearned Revenue 191,435             (311,288)            
Deferred Revenue (5,005)                415,231             
Employee Future Benefits 58,851               93,071               

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets 1,888,440          1,928,693          
Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue (1,615,684)         (1,599,999)         
Total Operating Transactions 1,604,955          2,269,778          

Capital Transactions

Tangible Capital Assets Purchased (2,132,723)         (1,248,673)         
Total Capital Transactions (2,132,723)         (1,248,673)         

Financing Transactions

Capital Revenue Received 1,525,251          1,216,348          
Total Financing Transactions 1,525,251          1,216,348          

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents 997,483             2,237,453          

Cash and Cash Equivalents, beginning of year 6,420,916          4,183,463          

Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year 7,418,399          6,420,916          

Cash and Cash Equivalents, end of year, is made up of:

Cash 7,418,399          6,420,916          
7,418,399          6,420,916          

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended June 30, 2021

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Schedule 1 (Unaudited)

Operating Special Purpose Capital 2021 2020
Fund Fund Fund Actual Actual

$ $ $ $ $

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year 2,023,163            9,880,063            11,903,226          10,867,553          

Changes for the year

Surplus (Deficit) for the year 1,730,875            (269,756)              1,461,119            1,035,673            
Interfund Transfers

Local Capital (1,044,000)           1,044,000            -                           

Net Changes for the year 686,875               -                           774,244               1,461,119            1,035,673            

Accumulated Surplus (Deficit), end of year - Statement 2 2,710,038            -                           10,654,307          13,364,345          11,903,226          

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Changes in Accumulated Surplus (Deficit) by Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Schedule 2 (Unaudited)

2021 2021 2020
Budget Actual Actual

$ $ $
Revenues

Provincial Grants
Ministry of Education 31,741,800        32,920,874        27,483,822        
Other 88,400               128,300             101,100             

Tuition 420,000             516,651             1,062,276          
Other Revenue 1,255,447          1,179,307          1,284,272          
Rentals and Leases 97,900               126,654             217,446             
Investment Income 27,500               28,459               48,239               
Total Revenue 33,631,047        34,900,245        30,197,155        

Expenses

Instruction 27,919,763        26,897,024        23,491,015        
District Administration 1,440,083          1,333,489          1,134,948          
Operations and Maintenance 3,461,424          4,009,525          3,249,837          
Transportation and Housing 931,894             929,332             960,988             
Total Expense 33,753,164        33,169,370        28,836,788        

Operating Surplus (Deficit) for the year (122,117)            1,730,875          1,360,367          

Budgeted Appropriation (Retirement) of Surplus (Deficit) 622,117             

Net Transfers (to) from other funds

Tangible Capital Assets Purchased (500,000)            
Local Capital (1,044,000)         (250,000)            
Total Net Transfers (500,000)            (1,044,000)         (250,000)            

Total Operating Surplus (Deficit), for the year -                        686,875             1,110,367          

Operating Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year 2,023,163          912,796             

Operating Surplus (Deficit), end of year 2,710,038          2,023,163          

Operating Surplus (Deficit), end of year

Internally Restricted 1,162,164          1,052,648          
Unrestricted 1,547,874          970,515             
Total Operating Surplus (Deficit), end of year 2,710,038          2,023,163          

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Operating Operations
Year Ended June 30, 2021

DRAFT - Not Finalized
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Schedule 2A (Unaudited)

2021 2021 2020
Budget Actual Actual

$ $ $
Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education

Operating Grant, Ministry of Education 31,729,935        32,761,556        27,562,477        
ISC/LEA Recovery (1,020,247)         (877,909)            (1,018,738)         
Other Ministry of Education Grants

Pay Equity 243,303             243,304             243,304             
Funding for Graduated Adults 10,000               4,223                 11,936               
Student Transportation Fund 91,754               91,754               91,754               
Carbon Tax Grant 30,978               
Employer Health Tax Grant 185,528             
Support Staff Wage Increase Funding 99,565               
Teachers' Labour Settlement Funding 629,555             629,555             259,938             
Early Career Mentorship Funding 50,000               50,000               

FSA Scorer Grant 7,500                 7,506                 7,506                 
District Capacity Building - Early Learning 6,000                 9,574                 
Equity Scan Implementation 3,000                 

Early Learning Framework Implementation 1,885                 

Total Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education 31,741,800        32,920,874        27,483,822        

Provincial Grants - Other 88,400               128,300             101,100             

Tuition

Summer School Fees 15,784               
International and Out of Province Students 420,000             516,651             1,046,492          
Total Tuition 420,000             516,651             1,062,276          

Other Revenues

Other School District/Education Authorities 151,200             151,200             164,296             
Funding from First Nations 1,020,247          877,909             1,018,738          
Miscellaneous

Misc. Billings & Recoveries 50,000               28,225               69,570               
Purchase Card Rebate 14,000               16,433               14,287               
North Van. Island Aboriginal Training Society 20,000               20,688               

Art Starts Grant 14,590               6,400                 
Cosmotology Revenues 1,889                 10,981               
Cafeteria Revenues 68,373               

Total Other Revenue 1,255,447          1,179,307          1,284,272          

Rentals and Leases 97,900               126,654             217,446             

Investment Income 27,500               28,459               48,239               

Total Operating Revenue 33,631,047        34,900,245        30,197,155        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Operating Revenue by Source
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Schedule 2B (Unaudited)

2021 2021 2020
Budget Actual Actual

$ $ $
Salaries

Teachers 11,620,268        11,523,292        10,235,792        
Principals and Vice Principals 1,733,022          1,697,346          1,711,122          
Educational Assistants 2,059,768          1,900,703          2,079,263          
Support Staff 2,502,154          2,484,387          2,206,047          
Other Professionals 1,649,463          1,665,643          1,224,681          
Substitutes 1,178,450          983,921             851,842             
Total Salaries 20,743,125        20,255,292        18,308,747        

Employee Benefits 4,693,745          4,597,570          4,239,053          

Total Salaries and Benefits 25,436,870        24,852,862        22,547,800        

Services and Supplies

Services 3,581,608          3,728,167          2,008,414          
Student Transportation 13,200               7,181                 6,391                 
Professional Development and Travel 268,349             185,522             298,562             
Rentals and Leases 295,199             296,850             225,397             
Dues and Fees 200,250             213,555             371,245             
Insurance 82,500               81,498               74,139               
Supplies 3,266,988          3,167,020          2,748,164          
Utilities 608,200             636,715             556,676             
Total Services and Supplies 8,316,294          8,316,508          6,288,988          

Total Operating Expense 33,753,164        33,169,370        28,836,788        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)

Year Ended June 30, 2021
Schedule of Operating Expense by Object
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Schedule 2C (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Operating Expense by Function, Program and Object

Principals and Educational Support Other

Teachers Vice Principals Assistants Staff Professionals Substitutes Total

Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries Salaries

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

1 Instruction

1.02 Regular Instruction 9,160,730            309,433               217,015               348,762               748,283               10,784,223          

1.03 Career Programs 95,681                50,000                145,681               

1.07 Library Services 121,377               2,020                  16,463                139,860               

1.08 Counselling 317,823               11,368                24,714                353,905               

1.10 Special Education 1,333,422            22,383                1,900,703            12,561                373,833               101,028               3,743,930            

1.30 English Language Learning 40,000                40,000                

1.31 Indigenous Education 325,066               8,442                  333,508               

1.41 School Administration 1,280,900            532,484               16,976                1,830,360            

1.60 Summer School -                          

1.61 Continuing Education 81,352                54,633                135,985               

1.62 International and Out of Province Students 47,841                21,242                18,217                2,510                  89,810                

Total Function 1 11,523,292          1,697,346            1,900,703            803,237               795,445               877,239               17,597,262          

4 District Administration

4.11 Educational Administration 467,886               467,886               

4.40 School District Governance 80,741                80,741                

4.41 Business Administration 109,059               222,828               331,887               

Total Function 4 -                          -                          -                          109,059               771,455               -                          880,514               

5 Operations and Maintenance

5.41 Operations and Maintenance Administration 17,328                57,764                75,092                

5.50 Maintenance Operations 994,638               7,900                  85,717                1,088,255            

5.52 Maintenance of Grounds 82,388                82,388                

5.56 Utilities -                          

Total Function 5 -                          -                          -                          1,094,354            65,664                85,717                1,245,735            

7 Transportation and Housing

7.41 Transportation and Housing Administration 18,625                33,079                51,704                

7.70 Student Transportation 459,112               20,965                480,077               

Total Function 7 -                          -                          -                          477,737               33,079                20,965                531,781               

9 Debt Services

Total Function 9 -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Total Functions 1 - 9 11,523,292          1,697,346            1,900,703            2,484,387            1,665,643            983,921               20,255,292          

Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Schedule 2C (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Operating Expense by Function, Program and Object

1 Instruction

1.02 Regular Instruction
1.03 Career Programs
1.07 Library Services
1.08 Counselling
1.10 Special Education
1.30 English Language Learning
1.31 Indigenous Education
1.41 School Administration
1.60 Summer School
1.61 Continuing Education
1.62 International and Out of Province Students
Total Function 1

4 District Administration

4.11 Educational Administration
4.40 School District Governance
4.41 Business Administration
Total Function 4

5 Operations and Maintenance

5.41 Operations and Maintenance Administration
5.50 Maintenance Operations
5.52 Maintenance of Grounds
5.56 Utilities
Total Function 5

7 Transportation and Housing

7.41 Transportation and Housing Administration
7.70 Student Transportation
Total Function 7

9 Debt Services

Total Function 9

Total Functions 1 - 9

Year Ended June 30, 2021

Total Employee Total Salaries Services and 2021 2021 2020
Salaries Benefits and Benefits Supplies Actual Budget Actual

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

10,784,223          2,525,443            13,309,666          3,075,783            16,385,449          16,407,419          14,587,103          
145,681               30,943                176,624               1,067                  177,691               184,126               169,696               
139,860               32,116                171,976               16,352                188,328               204,473               234,217               
353,905               73,430                427,335               6,330                  433,665               278,129               301,311               

3,743,930            883,736               4,627,666            1,525,803            6,153,469            6,931,591            4,631,688            
40,000                8,000                  48,000                9,473                  57,473                52,438                17,436                

333,508               74,890                408,398               27,199                435,597               448,481               373,634               
1,830,360            367,023               2,197,383            95,091                2,292,474            2,449,275            1,950,890            

-                          -                          -                          186,924               
135,985               33,552                169,537               237,398               406,935               557,891               451,893               

89,810                18,393                108,203               257,740               365,943               405,940               586,223               
17,597,262          4,047,526            21,644,788          5,252,236            26,897,024          27,919,763          23,491,015          

467,886               101,366               569,252               53,143                622,395               694,544               515,204               
80,741                4,505                  85,246                44,258                129,504               138,000               120,067               

331,887               74,699                406,586               175,004               581,590               607,539               499,677               
880,514               180,570               1,061,084            272,405               1,333,489            1,440,083            1,134,948            

75,092                15,024                90,116                64,972                155,088               183,605               171,488               
1,088,255            229,412               1,317,667            1,688,122            3,005,789            2,503,349            2,363,500            

82,388                17,435                99,823                106,014               205,837               166,270               158,173               
-                          -                          642,811               642,811               608,200               556,676               

1,245,735            261,871               1,507,606            2,501,919            4,009,525            3,461,424            3,249,837            

51,704                10,676                62,380                2,384                  64,764                66,961                63,751                
480,077               96,927                577,004               287,564               864,568               864,933               897,237               
531,781               107,603               639,384               289,948               929,332               931,894               960,988               

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

20,255,292          4,597,570            24,852,862          8,316,508            33,169,370          33,753,164          28,836,788          
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Schedule 3 (Unaudited)

2021 2021 2020
Budget Actual Actual

$ $ $
Revenues

Provincial Grants
Ministry of Education 5,495,368          5,436,316          4,323,856          

Other Revenue 1,302,500          786,655             1,309,150          
Total Revenue 6,797,868          6,222,971          5,633,006          

Expenses

Instruction 5,997,260          5,464,240          5,322,522          
District Administration 100,507             96,347               92,554               
Operations and Maintenance 644,941             607,224             217,930             
Transportation and Housing 55,160               55,160               

Total Expense 6,797,868          6,222,971          5,633,006          

Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit) for the year -                        -                        -                        

Total Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit) for the year -                        -                        -                        

Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year

Special Purpose Surplus (Deficit), end of year -                        -                        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)

Year Ended June 30, 2021
Schedule of Special Purpose Operations
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Schedule 3A (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Changes in Special Purpose Funds and Expense by Object

Annual Learning Scholarships School Ready, Classroom

Facility Improvement and Generated Strong Set, Enhancement

Grant Fund Bursaries Funds Start Learn OLEP CommunityLINK Fund - Overhead

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Deferred Revenue, beginning of year 13,420                487,542              1,267                69,605                  
District Entered 191,346              (191,346)             

Deferred Revenue, beginning of year, as restated -                          -                          204,766              296,196              -                          -                          1,267                69,605                  -                          

Add: Restricted Grants
Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education 122,930              100,916              128,000              14,700                56,361              205,122                120,435              
Other 72,926                650,376              

122,930              100,916              72,926                650,376              128,000              14,700                56,361              205,122                120,435              
Less: Allocated to Revenue 122,930              100,916              70,288                716,367              101,273              10,345                52,690              181,527                120,435              
Deferred Revenue, end of year -                          -                          207,404              230,205              26,727                4,355                  4,938                93,200                  -                          

Revenues

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education 122,930              100,916              101,273              10,345                52,690              181,527                120,435              
Other Revenue 70,288                716,367              

122,930              100,916              70,288                716,367              101,273              10,345                52,690              181,527                120,435              
Expenses

Salaries
Teachers 22,517              42,500                  
Educational Assistants 80,733                33,175                  
Support Staff 34,887                73,477                1,016                  45,480                
Other Professionals 61,933                  
Substitutes 62,560                

34,887                80,733                -                          -                          73,477                1,016                  22,517              137,608                108,040              
Employee Benefits 4,231                  20,183                21,734                4,503                31,479                  3,510                  
Services and Supplies 83,812                70,288                716,367              6,062                  9,329                  25,670              12,440                  8,885                  

122,930              100,916              70,288                716,367              101,273              10,345                52,690              181,527                120,435              

Net Revenue (Expense) before Interfund Transfers -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                        -                            -                          

Interfund Transfers

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                        -                            -                          

Net Revenue (Expense) -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                        -                            -                          

Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Schedule 3A (Unaudited)School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Changes in Special Purpose Funds and Expense by Object

Deferred Revenue, beginning of year

District Entered
Deferred Revenue, beginning of year, as restated

Add: Restricted Grants
Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education
Other

Less: Allocated to Revenue
Deferred Revenue, end of year

Revenues

Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education
Other Revenue

Expenses

Salaries
Teachers
Educational Assistants
Support Staff
Other Professionals
Substitutes

Employee Benefits
Services and Supplies

Net Revenue (Expense) before Interfund Transfers

Interfund Transfers

Net Revenue (Expense)

Year Ended June 30, 2021

Classroom Classroom Mental Safe Return Federal Safe Auditory

Enhancement Enhancement Health to Return to Outreach New Life 

Fund - Staffing Fund - Remedies in Schools School Grant Class Fund Program Society TOTAL

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

1,362                  573,196              
-                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          1,362                  573,196              

1,763,914           319,914              55,000                180,570              1,011,119           1,415,683           5,494,664           
723,302              

1,763,914           319,914              55,000                180,570              1,011,119           1,415,683           -                          6,217,966           
1,763,914           319,914              55,000                180,570              1,011,119           1,415,683           -                          6,222,971           

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          1,362                  568,191              

1,763,914           319,914              55,000                180,570              1,011,119           1,415,683           5,436,316           
786,655              

1,763,914           319,914              55,000                180,570              1,011,119           1,415,683           -                          6,222,971           

1,434,078           281,228              430,142              18,761                2,229,226           
4,410                  45,000                163,318              

75,944                172,935              86,916                490,655              
239,990              301,923              

7,200                  45,000                114,760              
1,434,078           285,638              7,200                  75,944                693,077              345,667              -                          3,299,882           

329,836              34,276                15,189                127,821              76,501                669,263              
47,800                89,437                190,221              993,515              2,253,826           

1,763,914           319,914              55,000                180,570              1,011,119           1,415,683           -                          6,222,971           

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

-                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          -                          

Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Schedule 4 (Unaudited)

2021 Invested in Tangible Local Fund 2020
Budget Capital Assets Capital Balance Actual

$ $ $ $ $
Revenues

Investment Income 2,500             3,000             3,000             4,000                
Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,585,275      1,615,684                   1,615,684      1,599,999         
Total Revenue 1,587,775      1,615,684                   3,000             1,618,684      1,603,999         

Expenses

Amortization of Tangible Capital Assets
Operations and Maintenance 1,716,275      1,749,528                   1,749,528      1,779,076         
Transportation and Housing 138,524         138,912                      138,912         149,617            

Total Expense 1,854,799      1,888,440                   -                    1,888,440      1,928,693         

Capital Surplus (Deficit) for the year (267,024)        (272,756)                     3,000             (269,756)        (324,694)           

Net Transfers (to) from other funds

Tangible Capital Assets Purchased 500,000         -                    

Local Capital 1,044,000      1,044,000      250,000            
Total Net Transfers 500,000         -                                 1,044,000      1,044,000      250,000            

Other Adjustments to Fund Balances

Tangible Capital Assets Purchased from Local Capital 607,472                      (607,472)        -                    

Total Other Adjustments to Fund Balances 607,472                      (607,472)        -                    

Total Capital Surplus (Deficit) for the year 232,976         334,716                      439,528         774,244         (74,694)             

Capital Surplus (Deficit), beginning of year 9,260,858                   619,205         9,880,063      9,954,757         

Capital Surplus (Deficit), end of year 9,595,574                   1,058,733      10,654,307    9,880,063         

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Schedule of Capital Operations
Year Ended June 30, 2021

2021 Actual
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Schedule 4A (Unaudited)

Furniture and Computer Computer

Sites Buildings Equipment Vehicles Software Hardware Total

$ $ $ $ $ $ $

Cost, beginning of year 4,038,922            68,269,579          1,334,285            1,389,116            81,651                189,056               75,302,609          

Changes for the Year

Increase:
Purchases from:

Deferred Capital Revenue - Bylaw 1,222,348            125,000               177,903               1,525,251            

Local Capital 112,315               387,685               95,054                12,418                607,472               

112,315               1,610,033            220,054               190,321               -                          -                          2,132,723            

Decrease:
Deemed Disposals 40,910                51,060                91,970                

-                          -                          40,910                -                          -                          51,060                91,970                

Cost, end of year 4,151,237            69,879,612          1,513,429            1,579,437            81,651                137,996               77,343,362          

Work in Progress, end of year -                          

Cost and Work in Progress, end of year 4,151,237            69,879,612          1,513,429            1,579,437            81,651                137,996               77,343,362          

Accumulated Amortization, beginning of year 27,018,937          564,471               812,394               42,988                98,690                28,537,480          

Changes for the Year

Increase:  Amortization for the Year 1,561,958            133,429               138,912               16,330                37,811                1,888,440            

Decrease:
Deemed Disposals 40,910                51,060                91,970                

-                          40,910                -                          -                          51,060                91,970                

Accumulated Amortization, end of year 28,580,895          656,990               951,306               59,318                85,441                30,333,950          

Tangible Capital Assets - Net 4,151,237            41,298,717          856,439               628,131               22,333                52,555                47,009,412          

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Tangible Capital Assets
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Schedule 4C (Unaudited)

Bylaw Other Other Total

Capital Provincial Capital Capital

$ $ $ $

Deferred Capital Revenue, beginning of year 34,307,206        2,401,745          795,320             37,504,271        

Changes for the Year

Increase:
Transferred from Deferred Revenue - Capital Additions 1,525,251          1,525,251          

1,525,251          -                        -                        1,525,251          

Decrease:
Amortization of Deferred Capital Revenue 1,501,259          88,506               25,919               1,615,684          

1,501,259          88,506               25,919               1,615,684          

Net Changes for the Year 23,992               (88,506)              (25,919)              (90,433)              

Deferred Capital Revenue, end of year 34,331,198        2,313,239          769,401             37,413,838        

Work in Progress, beginning of year -                        

Changes for the Year

Net Changes for the Year -                        -                        -                        -                        

Work in Progress, end of year -                        -                        -                        -                        

Total Deferred Capital Revenue, end of year 34,331,198        2,313,239          769,401             37,413,838        

School District No. 47 (Powell River)
Deferred Capital Revenue
Year Ended June 30, 2021
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Schedule 4D (Unaudited)

MEd Other

Bylaw Restricted Provincial Land Other

Capital Capital Capital Capital Capital Total

$ $ $ $ $ $

Balance, beginning of year -                        

Changes for the Year

Increase:
Provincial Grants - Ministry of Education 1,525,251          1,525,251          
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School District 47 (Powell River) 

Communicable Disease Guidelines 

September 2021 

 

1.0 General Information 
The Purpose of this document is to outline the control measures in place to minimize or 
eliminate the potential for transmission of communicable disease and to provide guidance for 
administrators, educators, and support staff to help maintain a safe and healthy environment 
for students and their families.   
 
This document was developed following the guidance provided in the Provincial COVID-19 

Communicable Disease Guidelines for K-12 Setting. 

 

2.0  Infection Prevention & Exposure Control Measures 
Infection prevention and exposure control measures (also called communicable disease 
measures or health and safety measures) help create safe environments by reducing the spread 
of communicable diseases like COVID-19. These are more effective in settings such as schools 
where there is a relatively consistent grouping of people and multiple measures of various 
effectiveness can be routinely and consistently implemented. 

 

 Robust illness policies for students and staff. 
 

 Reinforcement and adoption of effective personal practices (e.g. hand hygiene, 
respiratory etiquette). 

 

 Various environmental measures (e.g. enhanced cleaning and disinfecting practices, 
ensuring HVAC systems are operating properly etc.). 

 
The Hierarchy for Infection Prevention and Exposure Control Measures for Communicable 
Disease describes measures that should be taken to reduce the transmission of COVID-19 in 
schools. Control measures at the top are more effective and protective than those at the 
bottom. By implementing a combination of measures at each level, the risk of COVID-19 is 
substantially reduced. 
 

 Public Health Measures (includes vaccinations, orders from the Provincial Health officer 
or local Medical Health Officer, testing, and contact tracing). 
 

 Environmental Measures (Includes ventilation and cleaning and disinfecting). 
 

 Administrative Measures (Includes space arrangement, communications to staff, 
students and families, and visitor policies). 

 

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/safe-caring-orderly/k-12-covid-19-health-safety-guidlines.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/safe-caring-orderly/k-12-covid-19-health-safety-guidlines.pdf
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 Personal Measures (Includes respecting personal space, staying home when sick, 
ensuring immunizations are up to date and hand hygiene). 

 

 Personal Protective Equipment Includes masks when recommended). 
 

 

3.0 Physical Distancing and Space Arrangement 
Although public health no longer recommends learning groups and physical distancing of 2M as 
communicable disease measures for the K-12 setting, there are a number of strategies that 
schools can consider to help create space between people and to support students and staff in 
returning to school using a trauma-informed approach: 

 

 Remind students and staff about respecting others personal space. Use visual supports, 

signage, prompts, video modelling as necessary. 

 

 Use available space to spread people out, both in learning environments and for 

gatherings and events, where possible. 

 

 Implement strategies that prevent crowding at pick-up and drop-off times. 

 

 Focus on entry and exit areas, and other places where people may gather or crowd. 

 

 Stagger recess/snack, lunch, and class transition times to provide a greater amount of 

space for everyone. 

 

 Take students outside more often, where and when possible. 

 

 Manage flow of people in common areas, including hallways and around lockers, to 

minimize crowding and allow for ease of people passing through. 

 

 Use floor markings and posters to address traffic flow throughout the school. This 

may include one-way hallways and designated entrance and exit doors. It is 

important not to reduce the number of exits and ensure the fire code is adhered to. 

   

3.1 School Gatherings and Events 
School gatherings and events (including staff meetings, professional development events, inter-
school events, etc.) can occur in line with those permitted as per relevant local, regional, 
provincial, and federal public health recommendations and Orders. School Principals and other 
organizers should apply a trauma-informed lens to their planning, including consideration of: 

 

 Respecting student and staff comfort levels regarding personal space. 

 

 Using space available to spread people out as much as possible, respecting room 

occupancy limits, and ensuring enough space is available to prevent involuntary physical 

contact between attendees (e.g. overcrowding). 
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 Gradual transitions to larger gatherings (e.g. school wide assemblies), including starting 

with virtual or smaller in-person options, shorter in-person sessions, etc. 

  

 Examinations or assessments are not considered school gatherings however, they must 

still be delivered in accordance with the health and safety guidelines outlined in this 

document. 

 

3.2 Personal Items 
Staff and students can continue to bring personal items to school, but they should be 
encouraged to not share items that come in contact with the mouth (e.g. food, drinks, 
unwashed utensils, wind instruments, etc.). 
 
Students can continue to use their lockers, as it is better for personal items to be stored in a 
locker than to be stored in classrooms or carried throughout the school. School should 
implement strategies to manage the flow of students around lockers to minimize crowding and 
allow for ease of people passing through. 

 

 

4.0 Supporting Students with Disabilities/Diverse Abilities 
Supporting students with disabilities/diverse abilities may require staff providing support 
services to be in close physical proximity or in physical contact with a student. 

 

When staff are working with a student indoors, and the service cannot be provided from behind 

a barrier, staff are required to wear a non-medical mask, a face covering or a face shield (in 

which case a non-medical mask should be worn in addition to the face shield). Additional 

personal protective equipment is not required beyond that used as part of the personal care 

routine normally encountered in their regular course of work (e.g., gloves for toileting). 

When working with students where seeing facial expressions and/or lip movement is important, 

and the service cannot be provided from behind a barrier, options include having the staff 

member wear a mask with a transparent section to enable visualization of the mouth. More 

information on masks and face coverings is available on the BCCDC website. 

 

 Students in Grades 4 to 12 are also required to wear a non-medical mask or face 

covering when receiving services indoors and a barrier is not present. 

 

 For students in Grades K to 3, the student or parent/caregiver should determine 

whether or not the student should also be wearing any PPE when receiving services in 

close physical proximity. 

 

In addition to a non-medical mask, those providing health or education services that require 

being in close proximity to a student should follow their standard risk assessment methods to 

determine what PPE is needed for general communicable disease prevention in accordance with 

routine practices. 

 

Schools will have non-medical masks and face shields available for staff. 

 

 

http://www.bccdc.ca/health-info/diseases-conditions/covid-19/prevention-risks/masks
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5.0 Student Transportation 
The following strategies will be considered for student transportation on buses: 
 

 Buses used for transporting students will be cleaned and disinfected according to the 
guidance provided in section 6 of this document. 
 

 Bus drivers should clean their hands often, including before and after completing trips. 
Drivers are encouraged to regularly use alcohol-based hand sanitizer with at least 60% 
alcohol during trips.  

 

 Bus drivers are required to wear a non-medical mask, a face covering or a face shield (in 
which case a non-medical mask should be worn in addition to the face shield) on school 
buses except when driving. 

 

 Students in grades 4 to 12 are required to wear non-medical masks or face coverings 
when they are on the bus. Students in Grades K to 3 are encouraged to wear a non-
medical mask or face covering on school buses but are not required to do so. 

 
 Non-medical masks or face coverings should be put on before loading. 

 

 Parents and caregivers must assess their child daily for symptoms of common cold, 
influenza, COVID-19, or other infectious respiratory diseases before sending them to 
school. If a child is sick, they must not take the bus or go to school.  
 

 Students should clean their hands before and after taking the bus. 
 

 Passengers are to be spread out if empty seats are available. 
 

 Windows may be opened when the weather permits.  
 

 Bus drivers and students should practice respiratory etiquette while on the bus.  
 

 

6.0 Cleaning and Disinfecting 
Regular cleaning and disinfection are essential to preventing the transmission of COVID-19 from 
contaminated objects and surfaces.  SD47 and staff all have a joint shared responsibility to 
ensure our work areas are clean.  Schools will be cleaned and disinfected in accordance with the 
guidelines set out in this document. 
  

6.1 Cleaning and Disinfecting Frequency 
  The following frequency guidelines must be adhered to when cleaning and disinfecting: 

 

 General cleaning of the premises, and cleaning and disinfecting of frequently touched 

surfaces will occur every evening after school ends for the day. 

 

 In addition to the evening cleaning and disinfecting of schools, disinfecting of some 

frequently touched surfaces will occur during the school day. This added measure will 

be in place to start the school year and will be reviewed again at winter break.  
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 Clean and disinfect any surface that is visibly dirty. 

 

 Empty garbage containers daily. (Students and staff should be encouraged to bring any 

waste resulting from their lunch and snacks home with them to be recycled and 

composted, in order to limit the demand on recycling and composting). 

The requirements for daily cleaning and disinfecting outlined above do not apply to spaces 

and/or equipment that are not being used by students, staff or visitors. 

 

6.2 Frequently Touched Surfaces 
  Frequently touched surfaces include: 

 

 Items used by larger numbers of students and staff, including doorknobs, light 

switches, hand railings, faucet handles, toilet handles, and water fountains. 

 

 Water fountains can continue to be used however students and staff should be 

encouraged to use personal water bottles which can be refilled at the fountain 

filling stations. If using water fountains, students and staff should practice hand 

hygiene before and after use and should not place their mouth on the fountain. 

Water fountains will be cleaned as a frequently touched item. 

 

 Shared equipment (e.g. computer keyboards and tablets, glassware and testing 

equipment for science labs, kitchen equipment for culinary programs, sewing 

machines and equipment for home economics programs, PE/sports equipment, 

music equipment, etc). 

 

 Appliances (staff and students can share the use of appliances and other objects, but 
treat items like microwaves, refrigerators, coffee pots, photocopiers or laminators as 
frequently touched surfaces). 

 

 Service counters (e.g., office service window, library circulation desk). 
 

Frequently-touched items like toys or manipulatives that may not be able to be cleaned often 
(e.g. fabrics) or at all (e.g. sand, foam, playdough, etc.) can be used, if hand hygiene is practiced 
before and after use. Carpets and rugs (e.g. in Primary and Strong Start classes) can be used. 
 
There is no evidence that the COVID-19 virus is transmitted via textbooks, paper or other paper-
based products. Laminated or glossy paper-based products (e.g. children’s books or magazines) 
and items with plastic covers can be contaminated if handled by a person with COVID-19; 
however, the risk is low. There is no need for these items to be cleaned and disinfected or 
quarantined for any period of time, or for hand hygiene to be practiced before or after use. 

 

6.3 Cleaning and Disinfecting Bodily Fluids 
Follow these procedures, in conjunction with district protocols, when cleaning and disinfecting 
bodily fluids (e.g. runny nose, vomit, stool, urine): 
 

 Wear disposable gloves when cleaning blood or body fluids. 
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 Wash hands before wearing and after removing gloves. 

 

 Follow regular health and safety procedure and regularly used PPE for blood and bodily 

fluids (e.g. toileting, spitting, biting). 

 

6.4 Laundry 
Follow these procedures when doing laundry (Home Economics, PE, Life Skills Programs, etc.): 

 

 Laundry should be placed in a laundry basket with a plastic liner. 

 

 Do not shake dirty items. 

 

 Wearing gloves is optional. If choosing to wear gloves, ensure hand hygiene is 

performed before and after use. No other PPE is required. 

 

 Clean hands with soap and water immediately after removing gloves. 

 

  Wash with regular laundry soap and hot water (60-90 degrees Celsius) 

 

 

7.0 Visitor Access/Volunteers/Community Use 
The School District recognizes (1) there are circumstances where parents and others need 

access to school buildings; (2) the importance of volunteers in schools; and (3) the integral role 

that school buildings play in after hours community programming.  

 

The School District will take a ‘measured approach’ to the implementation of these three facets 

of the Guidelines by focusing first on getting students, staffs and families settled into their first 

few weeks of school. 

 

7.1 Visitor Access 
 Schools can leave front entrance doors unlocked for visitor access but should encourage 

visitors to make appointments. 

 

 There may be times throughout the school year where visitor access may again be 

restricted by either local or provincial public health orders or recommendations. 

 

 Schools are responsible for ensuring that visitors are aware of communicable disease 

protocols and requirements, and have completed a daily health check, prior to entering 

the school. 

 

 Information on communicable disease protocols and requirements for visitors 

should be posted by the entrance to the school, on school websites, and included in 

communications to students and families. 
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 Schools must have a sign in/sign out process in place for all visitors and staff who are not 

typically onsite (e.g. TTOCs, itinerate teachers/specialists, maintenance or IT personnel, 

district administrators or other personnel, etc.). 

 

 All visitors must wear a non-medical mask when they are inside the school.  

 

 Where possible, visitor access should be limited to those areas required for the purpose 

of the visit (e.g. school office for drop-off/pick-up of items, gymnasium for sporting 

event, etc.), and parent/caregivers should be encouraged to drop-off/pick-up students 

outside of the school. 

 

 Parents/caregivers and other visitors should respect others’ personal space while on 

school grounds, including outside. 

 

7.2 Volunteers 
The school district recognizes the importance of parent and community participation in schools; 
as such it is expected that the use of some parent volunteers in schools will resume this school 
year.  The district will be taking the month of September to allow staff, students, and families 
time to settle into the new school year. Subject to local circumstances respecting the pandemic, 
the district will begin to consider various opportunities for parent and community participation 
beginning in October. 
 
The following information outlines which circumstances have already been approved as well 

which ones will soon be under consideration.  

 

 Parent and community members involved with the district’s outdoor food literacy 
garden program. 

 

 Parent and community members involved with preparation and/or delivery of school 
meal programs. 
 

 Parent and community members participating in approved school field trips. 
 

 Parent and community members involved in coaching and/or assisting with school 
sports and/or other extracurricular activities. 

 

 It is expected that there may be other supportable examples and/or circumstances for 
parent or community participation, School Principals should seek guidance from District 
Administration wherever clarification is required.  

 

7.3 Community Use of School District Facilities 
The school district recognizes its facilities are important community assets; as such it is expected 
that some community use of school buildings will resume this school year. The district will be 
taking the month of September to allow staff, students, and their families time to settle into the 
new school year. Subject to local circumstances respecting the pandemic, the district will begin 
to consider various additional community use of facilities beginning in October.  
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The following information outlines which circumstances have already been approved, which 
ones will be under consideration, and provides additional relevant information pertaining to 
community use of school buildings.  
 

 Contractual and historical leasehold or rental arrangements will continue to be honored 
and those activities may take place to start the year. 

 
 Gymnastics programming at the ‘old’ Max Cameron gymnasium on Field Street. 

 
 Community group users on Texada Island; Museum, Commercial Kitchen, Pottery, etc 

 

 Community School Programming at Kelly Creek Community School; this includes use 
of the Community House and the Gymnasium. It’s expected that this use supports 
students of the school. Any adult use of the gymnasium must be approved by the 
School Principal and won’t be considered before October.  

 

 Youth and Family Services leased space within the Oceanview Education Centre. 
 

 Powell River Boxing Club use of space within the Oceanview Education Centre. 
 

 City of Powell River recreational programming of the gymnasium at the Oceanview 
Education Centre.  

 

 Public fee for service use of the Outdoor Learning Centre (OLC) 
 

 Any of the above spaces that are shared spaces with the School District will be governed 

by these protocols. Any user group or third-party organization with sole use of any 

space, will be responsible for their own cleaning and oversight of their own protocols. 

This includes responsibility for their own contact tracing strategies. 

 

 Meetings of Parent Advisory Councils (School PAC’s). 

 

 Support will be considered for any local, provincial, or federal elections if requested, 

beginning with the September Federal Election. 

 

 Community Use of regular school gymnasiums is currently under consideration, these 

guidelines will be updated after September to outline what, if any accommodations can 

be made.  

 

 It is expected that there may be other supportable examples and/or circumstances, 
School Principals should seek guidance from District Administration wherever 
clarification is required.  
  

 There may be times throughout the school year where visitor access may again be 

restricted by either local or provincial public health orders or recommendations. 
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8.0 Illness & Self-Assessment Policies and Protocols 
 

8.1 Daily Health Check 
A daily health check is a tool to reduce the likelihood of a person with COVID-19 coming to 

school or work when they are infectious. 

 Parents and caregivers should assess their children daily for illness before sending 

them to school.  

 

 Parents/caregivers and students can utilize the provincial K-12 Health Check app or 

the District Daily Health Check form for daily assessment of symptoms.  

 

 Staff and other adults should complete a daily health check prior to entering the 

school. 

 

 If a student, staff, or other adult is sick, they must not enter the school. 

 

8.2 School & District Responsibilities 
 Ensure staff and other adults (e.g. parents, caregivers, visitors) entering the 

school/worksite are aware of their responsibility to complete a daily health check prior 
to entering the school/worksite (e.g. emails/letters to parents and staff, orientation 
video, signage on doors) and to stay home if they are sick. 
 

 Clearly communicate with parents/caregivers their responsibility to complete a daily 

health check with their child and keep them home from school if they are sick. 

 

 Establish procedures for students and staff who become sick while at school/work to be 

sent home as soon as possible. 

 

 Some students or staff may not be able to be picked up immediately. As such, 

schools should have a space available where the student or staff can wait 

comfortably and is separated from others (at least 2M) and provide the student or 

staff with a non- medical mask if they don’t have one (unless they are experiencing 

gastrointestinal symptoms and are at risk of vomiting). 

 

 Schools must provide supervision for younger children. Supervising staff should 

wear a non-medical mask and face shield if they are unable to maintain physical 

distance, avoid touching bodily fluids as much as possible, and practice diligent hand 

hygiene. 

 

 Staff responsible for facility cleaning should clean and disinfect the 

surfaces/equipment which the persons bodily fluids may have been in contact with 

while they were ill (e.g., their desk in a classroom, the bathroom stall they used, 

etc.) prior to the surfaces/equipment being used by others. Cleaning/disinfecting 

the entire room the person was in is not required in these circumstances. 

 

https://www.k12dailycheck.gov.bc.ca/healthcheck?execution=e1s1
https://www.sd47.bc.ca/Documents/Know%20%20the%20symptoms.pdf
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 Establish procedures that allow for students and staff to return to school/work in line 

with the guidance in the Staying Home, Self-Isolation and Symptoms section. 

 

 This is to ensure students and staff who are not sick are not kept out of 

school/away from work longer than necessary. 

 

 Schools should not require a health status of any individual, beyond those required to 

support medical accommodation as per usual practices. 

 

8.3 Staying Home When Required to Self-Isolate 
Students, staff or other adults must stay home if they are required to self-isolate. 

 

Additional information on self-isolation requirements and support is available from BCCDC. 

 

8.4 Symptoms of Illness and Return to School 
Students, staff or other adults should stay at home when sick, as this is one of the most 

important ways to reduce the introduction to and the spread of COVID-19 in schools. The 

following resources provide guidance regarding specific symptoms of illness:  

 Parents/caregivers and students can use the K-12 Health Check app. 

  

 Staff and other adults can refer to BCCDC’s “ When to get tested for COVID-19” 

 

 Staff, students and parents/caregivers can also use the BCCDC online Self-Assessment 

Tool, call 8-1-1 or their health care provider.  

When a staff, student or other adult can return to school depends on the type of symptoms they 

experienced, if a COVID19 test is recommended, and the type of illness they had.  

 

Students and staff who experience symptoms consistent with a previously diagnosed health 

condition (e.g. seasonal allergies) can continue to attend school when they are experiencing 

these symptoms as normal. They do not require re-assessment by a health-care provider and 

should not be required to provide a health-care provider note. If they experience any new or 

unexplained symptoms, they should seek assessment by a healthcare provider.  

 

Students or staff may still attend school if a member of their household develops new symptoms 

of illness, provided the student/staff has no symptoms themselves. If the household member 

tests positive for COVID-19, public health will advise the asymptomatic student/staff on self-

isolation and when they may return to school.  

 

8.5 Protocols for Managing Illness and Confirmed Cases at School 

Refer to the COVID-19 Protocols for School and District Administrators for more information. 

 

 

 

http://www.bccdc.ca/health-info/diseases-conditions/covid-19/self-isolation
https://www.k12dailycheck.gov.bc.ca/healthcheck?execution=e1s1
http://www.bccdc.ca/Health-Info-Site/Documents/COVID_public_guidance/When_to_get_tested.pdf
https://bc.thrive.health/
https://bc.thrive.health/
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/safe-caring-orderly/covid-19-protocols-for-administrators.pdf
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9.0 Hand Hygiene 
Rigorous handwashing with plain soap and water is the most effective way to reduce the spread 
of illness (antibacterial soap is not needed for COVID-19). 
  
Follow these guidelines to ensure effective hand hygiene in schools: 
  

 Practice diligent hand hygiene by washing hands with plain soap and water for at least 20 
seconds (temperature does not change the effectiveness of washing hands with plain soap 
and water). 
  

 Facilitate regular opportunities for staff and students to practice hand hygiene: 
  

 Use portable hand-washing sites and/or alcohol-based hand sanitizer dispensers 
containing at least 60% alcohol, where sinks are not available.  

 
  Handwashing should be encouraged upon school entry and before/after breaks and 

eating, using washroom and using frequently touched shared equipment.  
 

 Promote the importance of diligent hand hygiene to staff and students regularly. For 
example, display BCCDC’s hand hygiene poster at handwashing sites. 
  

 Ensure hand-washing supplies are always well stocked including soap, paper towels and 
where appropriate, alcohol-based hand rub with a minimum of 60% alcohol.  

 

 Staff should assist younger students with hand hygiene as needed.  
 

 Students and staff may bring their own sanitizer or plain soap if they are on the list 
authorized by Health Canada or have a medical condition that requires specialized soaps. 
(See the List of Hand Sanitizers Authorized by Health Canada for products that have met 
Health Canada’s requirements and are authorized for sale in Canada.)  

 

 If hands are visibly soiled, alcohol-based hand rub may not be effective at eliminating 
microbes. Soap and water are preferred when hands are visibly dirty. If it is not available, use 
an alcohol-based hand wipe followed by alcohol-based hand rub. 

 
 

When Students Should Perform 
Hand Hygiene: 

When Staff Should Perform Hand 
Hygiene: 

 
 When they arrive at school. 
 Before and after any breaks 

(e.g., recess, lunch). 
 Before and after eating and 

drinking (excluding drinks 
kept at a student's desk or 
locker). 

 Before and after using an 
indoor learning space used 

 
 When they arrive at school. 
 Before and after any breaks (e.g. 

recess, lunch). Before and after 
eating and drinking. 

 Before and after handling food or 
assisting students with eating. 

 Before and after giving medication 
to a student or self. 

 After using the toilet. 

http://www.bccdc.ca/health-professionals/clinical-resources/covid-19-care/signage-posters
https://www.canada.ca/en/health-canada/services/drugs-health-products/disinfectants/covid-19/hand-sanitizer.html
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by multiple classes with 
shared equipment. 

 After using the toilet. 
 After sneezing or coughing 

into hands. 
 Whenever hands are visibly 

dirty. 
 
 

 After contact with body fluids (i.e., 
runny noses, spit, vomit, blood). 

 After cleaning tasks. 
 After removing gloves. 
 After handling garbage. 
 Whenever hands are visibly dirty. 
 

10.0 Respiratory Etiquette 
 Students and staff should: 
 

 Cough and sneeze into the bend of the elbow, sleeve, or a tissue.  
 

 Throw away used tissues and immediately perform hand hygiene. 
 

 

11.0 Personal Protective Equipment 
Personal protective equipment (including masks) can provide an additional layer of protection. 
Non-medical masks and face coverings (masks) have a role to play in preventing the spread of 
COVID-19. They provide some protection to the wearer and to those around them.  
 
In the event a regional or provincial public health recommendation or Order requires stricter 
non-medical mask use than what is outlined in this document, that recommendation or Order 
should be followed. 
 
Those wearing masks should still continue to respect others personal space.  
 
Masks should not be used in place of the other safety measures detailed in this document.  

 
K-12 STAFF 
All K-12 staff are required to wear a mask or a face shield (in which case a mask should be worn 
in addition to the face shield) indoors in schools and on school buses. 
 
Supporting students with complex behaviours, medical complexities or receiving delegated care 
may require staff providing health services or other health care providers to be in close 
proximity or in physical contact with a medically complex or immune suppressed student.  

 

 People providing these services in schools must wear a mask (medical or non-medical) 
when providing services and the service cannot be provided from behind a physical 
barrier. Additional PPE over and above that needed for routine practices and the use of 
a medical or non-medical mask is not necessary. 
 

 Those providing health services in schools may be receiving different guidance related 
to PPE from their regulatory college or employer. Health service providers are 
encouraged to work with their employer to confirm what PPE is recommended for the 
services they provide in school settings. 
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 Parents and caregivers of children who are considered at higher risk of severe illness 
due to COVID-19 are encouraged to consult with their health care provider to determine 
their child’s level of risk.  

 
 K-12 STUDENTS 

All students in Grades 4 to 12 are required to wear a mask or a face shield (in which case a non-
medical mask should be worn in addition to the face shield) indoors in schools and on school 
buses. Students in Grades K to 3 are encouraged to wear a mask indoors in schools and on 
school buses but are not required to do so - mask wearing remains a personal or 
family/caregiver choice for these students, and their choices must be respected. 
 
Staff should utilize positive and inclusive approaches to engage students in the use of masks and 
should not employ measures that are punitive or stigmatizing in nature. 

 
 VISITORS 
 All visitors must wear a non-medical mask when they are inside the school.  
 

EXCEPTIONS FOR STAFF, STUDENTS AND VISITORS 
The guidance outlined above regarding mask requirements does not apply to staff, students and 
visitors in the following circumstances: 
  

 to a person who cannot tolerate wearing a mask for health or behavioural reasons;  
 

 to a person who is unable to put on or remove a mask without the assistance of another 
person;  

 

 if the mask is removed temporarily for the purposes of identifying the person wearing it; 
  

 if the mask is removed temporarily to engage in an educational activity that cannot be 
performed while wearing a mask (e.g. playing a wind instrument, engaging in high-
intensity physical activity, etc.); 

  

 if a person is eating or drinking;  
 

 if a person is behind a barrier; or  
 

 while providing a service to a person with a disability or diverse ability (including but not 
limited to a hearing impairment) where visual cues, facial expressions and/or lip 
reading/movements is important. 
 
 

Schools must not require a health care provider note (ie: a doctor’s note) to confirm if staff, 
students, or visitors cannot wear a mask. 
 
 While the mask requirements outlined in this document specifically apply to K-12 schools, 
public health recommends that staff and visitors at non-school sites (e.g., administrative offices, 
maintenance facilities, etc.) wear masks in indoor common/shared spaces if they are not fully 
vaccinated. Staff and visitors at non-school sites must also adhere to any regional or provincial 
public health recommendations or orders for workplaces requiring increased mask use. 
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School must not require a health-care provider note (i.e. a doctors note) to confirm if staff, 
students or visitors cannot wear a mask. 
 
No student should be prevented from attending or fully participating at school if they do not 
wear a mask. 

 
 

12.0 General Ventilation and Air Circulation  
At this time there is no evidence that a building’s ventilation system, in good operating 

condition, would contribute to the spread of the virus. Good indoor air ventilation alone cannot 

protect people from exposure to COVID-19; however, it may reduce risk when used in addition 

to other preventive measures. 

 

The district endeavours to ensure that the heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) 

systems are operated and maintained as per standards and specifications for ongoing comfort 

for workers (as per part 4 f the OHS regulation). 

 

Ventilation system upgrades and improvements include: 

 

 Filters upgraded – Upgraded to MERV-13 Air Filters, which capture 80-90% of the 

expected contaminated particles floating in the air. 

 

 Airflow increased – increased the amount of outside air that comes into our facilities, 

ensuring additional air changes of clean air (either filtered or fresh) every hour.  

 

12.1 Ventilation and Power Outage Contingency Plans  
Each SD47 facility has unique measures in place for improving ventilation and indoor air quality 

in the event the HVAC system is temporarily out of service. To determine risk levels, buildings 

experiencing a power outage should consult with the Director of Operations, who will require 

the following information: 

 

 Number of occupants. 

 

 Square footage of room. 

 

 Ceiling height. 

 

 Availability of opening windows/doors. 

 

 Type of activity. 

 

If staff are unable to open outside windows or doors during an HVAC system outage, class can 

be held outside (if weather permits), in the gymnasium, in the library, or in any other available 

learning space until the risk assessment is complete. 
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13.0 Emergency and Evacuation Drills 
Schools should continue to practice various procedures, including six school fire evacuation drills 

required annually by BC Fire Code 2.8.3.2, Lockdown drills, etc. 

 

 Staff should be notified in advance of emergency/evacuation drills. 

 

 The BC Fire Code requires schools to conduct “total evacuation fire drills” involving all 

occupants in the building. Partial building evacuations involving smaller groups of 

students would not comply with the fire drill requirements of BC Fire Code 2.8.3.2 

 

 Schools must continue to review their fire safety plans on a minimum annual basis, as 

per the BC Fire Code, to “ensure it takes account of the changes in use and other 

characteristics of the building” (such as pandemic-related protocols). Changes to school 

fire safety plans, including fire drill procedures, should be developed in cooperation with 

the local fire department. 

 

 Emergency procedures may require modification to adhere to communicable disease 

plans (e.g. designating additional muster locations to reduce crowding where required, 

making efforts to minimize involuntary physical contact between participants, etc.).  

 

 In the event of an actual emergency, procedure modifications may be suspended to 

ensure for a timely, efficient, and safe response. 

 

 

14.0 Communication and Training/Orientation 
The School District will continue to post relevant information on the District home page and the 

District COVID-19 page in addition to posting to school websites as well as using other electronic 

means of communication such as facebook, twitter and email.  

 

 Stakeholder groups are being consulted and informed of the return to school plan and the 
Communicable Disease Guidelines.  

 Staff and students will be provided with an orientation on the District’s return to school 

plans and the Communicable Disease Guidelines. 

 Schools and worksites will post signage, including occupancy limits and effective 

handwashing practices.  Signage should also be posted at the main entrance indicating who 

is restricted from entering the premises (including visitors and workers with symptoms.) 

 Site committee and Joint Health and safety Committee meetings will review relevant 

guidelines at the beginning of the year and additionally on an as needed basis. 

  

15.0 Curriculum, Programs and Activities 

 All curriculum, programs and activities should operate in alignment with provincial K-12 health 
and safety guidelines, including school-lead activities held off campus (e.g. CMA program, field 
trips, Programs at the OLC, etc). 
 

https://www.sd47.bc.ca/Board/procedures/AdministrativeProcedures/AP525%20-%20Fire%20Drills%20for%20Schools.pdf
https://free.bcpublications.ca/civix/document/id/public/bcfc2018/bcfc_2018dbp2s28/search/CIVIX_DOCUMENT_ROOT_STEM:(2.8.3.2)%20AND%20CIVIX_DOCUMENT_ANCESTORS:bcfc2018?2&2#hit1
https://free.bcpublications.ca/civix/document/id/public/bcfc2018/bcfc_2018dbp2s28/search/CIVIX_DOCUMENT_ROOT_STEM:(2.8.3.2)%20AND%20CIVIX_DOCUMENT_ANCESTORS:bcfc2018?2&2#hit1
https://www.worksafebc.com/en/resources/health-safety/posters/help-prevent-spread-covid-19-occupancy-limit
https://www.worksafebc.com/en/resources/health-safety/posters/help-prevent-spread-covid-19-handwashing
https://www.worksafebc.com/en/resources/health-safety/posters/help-prevent-spread-covid-19-entry-check-visitors
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/safe-caring-orderly/k-12-covid-19-health-safety-guidlines.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/safe-caring-orderly/k-12-covid-19-health-safety-guidlines.pdf
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For any curricular or program specific information not specifically listed in this document, please 
review the provincial K-12 health and safety guidelines and develop your program plans in 
alignment with those guidelines.  
 
Equipment should be cleaned and disinfected as per Cleaning and Disinfecting guidelines 
outlined in this document. 
 

 Equipment that touches the mouth (e.g. water bottles, instrument mouth pieces) should 
not be shared unless cleaned and disinfected in between use. 

 
Hand hygiene should be practiced before and after using frequently touched pieces of 
equipment and whenever hands are visibly dirty. 
 

15.1 Dual Credit 
Students may earn credits towards graduation by enrolling in and successfully completing 
courses at specific post-secondary institutions.  
 

 For students taking dual credit courses through Brooks Secondary school, the guidelines 
outlined in this document apply. 
 

 For students taking dual credit courses at Vancouver Island University (VIU), Brooks 
Administration must ensure students are aware of and adhere to the communicable 
disease plans set out by VIU.  

 

15.2 Field Trips 
 When planning field trips, staff should follow existing policies and procedures as well as the 
guidance in this document. Additional measures specific to field trips should be taken, including:  
 

 For transportation, including school bus transportation, public transit and carpooling, 
see guidance in the transportation section in this document. 

  

 Schools must ensure that volunteers providing supervision are trained in and strictly 
adhere to required health and safety guidelines. 

  

 Alignment with relevant local, regional, provincial and federal public health 
recommendations and Orders, including for international travel.  

 

 Schools should consider guidance provided for overnight camps from BCCDC and the BC 
Camps Association when planning overnight trips that include group accommodation. 

 
15.3 Food/Culinary Programs 
 Schools can continue to include food preparation as part of learning programs for students. 
Please review the relevant provincial K-12 health and safety guidelines for details.  

 

15.4 Food Services 
 For detailed information regarding the operation of the cafeteria at Brooks Secondary or for 
relevant guidelines related to other food and lunch programs at the various elementary schools, 
please visit the provincial K-12 health and safety guidelines for details. 

 

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/safe-caring-orderly/k-12-covid-19-health-safety-guidlines.pdf
https://www.sd47.bc.ca/Board/procedures/AdministrativeProcedures/AP314%20-%20Student%20Trips.pdf
http://www.bccdc.ca/health-info/diseases-conditions/covid-19/childcare-schools/camps
http://bccamping.org/
http://bccamping.org/
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/safe-caring-orderly/k-12-covid-19-health-safety-guidlines.pdf
https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/safe-caring-orderly/k-12-covid-19-health-safety-guidlines.pdf


 

17 | P a g e  
 

15.5 Kindergarten Program and Entry 
 Please review the provincial K-12 health and safety guidelines when developing school specific 
plans at each of the various elementary schools.  

 

15.6 Music Programs 
 K-12 staff and students in grades 4 to 12 must wear masks when indoors and a barrier is not 

present. Masks can be temporarily removed while engaging in an educational activity that 
cannot be performed while wearing a mask (e.g. playing a wind instrument) but must be 
worn while singing. 
 

 Shared equipment should be cleaned and disinfected as per Cleaning and Disinfecting 
guidelines and students should be encouraged to practice proper hand hygiene before and 
after participating in music classes and music equipment use.  

 

 Equipment that touches the mouth (e.g. instrument mouth pieces) should not be 
shared unless cleaned and disinfected in between uses.  

 

 The B.C. Music Educators’ Association and the Coalition for Music Education in B.C. have 
also developed Guidance for Music Classes in BC During COVID-19. In the case of any 
discrepancy in guidance, schools are expected to follow the Ministry of Education 
guidelines outlined in this document.  

 
15.7 Physical and Health Education *PHE) / Outdoor Programs 
 Spread out students and staff within available space, and encourage outdoor activities and 

programs, as much as possible.  

 

 K-12 staff and students in Grades 4 to 12 are required to wear masks during PHE/Outdoor 

program classes when they are indoors, and a barrier is not present. 

 

 Students are not required to wear masks during high-intensity physical activities (e.g. 

stationary bike, weightlifting, basketball, soccer); mask use during these activities is left 

to students’ personal choice. Staff encouraged to move high-intensity physical activities 

outdoors whenever possible. 

 

 For low intensity activities (e.g. yoga, walking), students are required to wear masks 

when they are indoors, and a barrier is not present. 

 

 Shared equipment can be used, provided it is cleaned and disinfected as per the guidelines 

in the Cleaning and Disinfecting section of this document.  

 

 Students should be encouraged to practice proper hand hygiene before and after using 

frequently touched pieces of equipment (e.g. before and after a sports game using a 

shared ball), as well as proper respiratory etiquette.  

 

 Equipment that touches the mouth (e.g. water bottles) should not be shared unless 

cleaned and disinfected in between uses. 

 

https://www2.gov.bc.ca/assets/gov/education/administration/kindergarten-to-grade-12/safe-caring-orderly/k-12-covid-19-health-safety-guidlines.pdf
https://drive.google.com/file/d/1KG2rE1rU-NENxbQsuYN20xnM9TBlNn3Z/view
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15.8 Playgrounds 
There is no current evidence of COVID-19 transmission in playground environments. 
Playgrounds are a safe environment. The following measures should be taken when using 
playgrounds:  
 

 Ensure appropriate hand hygiene practices before and after outdoor play.  
 

 Attempt to minimize direct contact between students. 
 

 Sand and water can be used for play if children wash their hands before and after play. 
COVID-19 does not survive well on surfaces, other than hard surfaces. There is no evidence 
showing that the virus survives on sand, in water, or on playdough. 

 

15.9 School Libraries / Learning Commons 
 Laminated or glossy paper-based products (e.g. books, magazines, worksheets, etc.) and 

items with plastic covers (e.g. DVDs) are low risk items. Regular book browsing and 
circulation processes can occur as normal. There is no need to clean, disinfect or quarantine 
these items for any period of time. 
 

 For information on cleaning, including technological devices, see the guidelines in the 
Cleaning and Disinfecting section. 

 

 The BC Teacher Librarians Association has developed Recommendations for Access to 
Library Learning Commons Resources to Meet COVID-19 Requirements. In the case of any 
discrepancy in guidance, schools are expected to follow the Ministry of Education 
guidelines outlined in this document. 

 
15.10 School Sports 
 Intra- and inter-school programs, activities (e.g. intramurals, sports team practices, games), 

sports academies and events can continue in alignment with the following guidance: 
 
 Requirements of relevant local, regional, and provincial public health 

recommendations and Orders for community gatherings and events. 
 

 Masks are worn by K-12 staff, other adults and students in grades 4 to 12 when they 
are indoors, and a barrier is not present. 

 

 Students are not required to wear masks during high-intensity sport activities (e.g. 
stationary bike, weightlifting, basketball, soccer); mask use during these activities is left 
to students’ personal choice. Staff are encouraged to move high-intensity sport 
activities outdoors whenever possible.  

 

 For low intensity sport activities (e.g. stretching, golf), students are required to wear 
masks when they are indoors, and a barrier is not present. 

 

 Use all available space to spread students and staff out as much as possible. 
  

https://bctla.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/BCTLA-Recommendations-for-Access-to-Library-Learning-Commons-Resources-to-Meet-COVID-19-Requirements-September-Update-1-2.pdf
https://bctla.ca/wp-content/uploads/2020/09/BCTLA-Recommendations-for-Access-to-Library-Learning-Commons-Resources-to-Meet-COVID-19-Requirements-September-Update-1-2.pdf
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 Shared equipment can be used, provided it is cleaned and disinfected as per the guidelines 
in the Cleaning and Disinfecting section of this document. 
 
 Students should be encouraged to practice proper hand hygiene before and after using 

frequently touched pieces of equipment (e.g. before and after a sports game using a 
shared ball), as well as proper respiratory etiquette. 
 

 Equipment that touches the mouth (e.g. water bottles) should not be shared unless 
cleaned and disinfected in between uses. 

  

 Sport activities should be held outside whenever possible. 
 

 See the Visitor Access/Community Use section for more information on protocols for 
spectators.  

 

 See the Return to School Sports Plan from BC School Sports for additional information. In 
the case of any discrepancy in guidance, schools and school districts are expected to follow 
the Ministry of Education guidelines outlined in this document. 

 
15.11 Strong Start Centres 
It’s expected that Strong Start programming will return to elementary schools early in 
September. All program specific protocols will be developed in alignment with this document.  

 
15.12 Extracurricular Activities 
 Intra- and inter-school extracurricular activities and special interest clubs can occur in alignment 
with the guidelines in this document and requirements of relevant local, regional, and provincial 
public health recommendations and Orders for community gatherings and events. 

https://www.bcschoolsports.ca/sites/default/files/BCSS%20Return%20to%20School%20Sport%20Plan%20v2%20-%20Sept%2023%202020.pdf
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The RCA Governance Model 
 
 
 

 
 
 
THE MODEL 
 
Boards create policies and policy manuals in order to ensure that their collective will 
is carried out. The Board policy processes used by any Board are perfectly designed 
to get the results the Board is now getting. If the collective will of the Board is not 
being carried out or if there is a lack of clarity, the Board should consider changing 
its policy processes.  
The governance model described in this document has been designed to ensure the 
Board’s corporate or collective will becomes reality. The key features of the model 
are: 
 

1.   Role Clarity: The Board’s Governance role and the Superintendent’s 
administrative role are completely discrete and entirely complementary. 

 
2.   Accountability: Delegation with accountability is powerful. Delegation without 

accountability is abdication.  
 
 
 

THE FALLACY OF GETTING GOOD AT A BAD GAME 
 
If a Board’s policy manual is badly outdated the Board may be tempted to simply 
update the policy handbook and thus perpetuate many of the weaknesses inherent 
in old style “door-stopper sized” manuals. Boards should not try to get good at a bad 
game but rather adopt a new policy process. Old style policy manuals typically mix 
and even link Board policy and Administrative procedures leaving it unclear as to who 
has authority for what. Over time conflict is the result. In addition, old style policy 
manuals tend to grow in size with little assurance that behavior ever changes. 
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GOVERNANCE: THE ROLE OF THE BOARD 
 
The role of the Board is defined in legislation. However, the role is addressed in 
several different sections. In addition, the BC School Act Section 65(2c) allows the 
Board to delegate a large number of its legislated responsibilities should it decide to 
do so. The decision as to which roles the Board retains or delegates rests with the 
Board.  Too frequently a Board’s policy manual does not define the Board’s job 
description. Without doing so the Board cannot effectively define the role of the 
Superintendent.  The Roles Clarification and Accountability (RCA) Governance Model 
ensures the Board’s governance role and the discrete yet complementary 
administrative role of the Superintendent are clearly articulated. 
 
In addition, the model gives the Board means for ensuring the Superintendent is held 
accountable for appropriately carrying out delegated responsibilities.  

 
CORE POLICIES 
 
The following are core policies in the RCA model: 
 
1.   Foundational statements   
2.   Role of the Board 
3.   Role of Trustee 
4.   Trustee Code of  
       Conduct and Sanctions 
5.   Role of Board Chair  
6.   Role of Vice Chair 
7.   Board Operations 
8.   Committees of the Board 
9.   Board Representatives 
10. Policy Development 

11. Board Delegation of  
       Authority 
12. Role of Superintendent 
13. Appeals Procedure By-law 
14. School Closures 
15. Recruitment and  

      Selection of Personnel  
    16. Indemnification By-law 

17. Restricted and Non-Restricted 
Surplus Funds

 
ADDITIONAL POLICIES & SUBSEQUENTLY CHANGING POLICIES 
 
In addition to the above core policies a board implementing the RCA model will choose areas 
over which it wishes to retain decision-making authority. After the initial creation of the policy 
handbook, if the Board wishes to have decision-making authority in a particular area it may 
do so in one of three ways: 
 
1.  The Board might add a policy to the policy handbook prescribing how this matter is to be 

addressed.  
 
2.  The Board may alternatively amend the “Role of the Board” policy by adding a statement 

which stipulates direction relative to this matter.  
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3.  The Board may amend the policy regarding the “Role of the Superintendent” policy to 

prescribe what the Superintendent must do relative to this matter. 

 
THE POLICY HANDBOOK 
 
Most policy manuals contain a collection of documents which are not, in fact, policies. For 
example, many contain a number of administrative procedures and forms. By creating two 
documents - a policy handbook and an administrative procedures manual - clarity is 
provided as to the distinction between policy (the Board’s work) and administrative 
procedures (the Superintendent’s work). The documents in the board policy handbook are 
“owned” by the Board and deal with matters the board approves, amends or deletes. 
Documents in the administrative procedures manual are “owned” by the Superintendent 
and deal with matters over which the Superintendent has been given authority. 

 
THE ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES MANUAL 
 
In the RCA model, the Board delegates to the Superintendent those matters which they do 
not have the expertise or time to complete. In addition, the Board should follow the adage: 
“If you cannot say” No,” refuse to say,” Yes”. This avoids rubber-stamping. This would be the 
case for example if the Board were asked to approve personnel decisions after those 
decisions had been made. A better alternative is to delegate authority to the Superintendent 
relative to such a matter. If authority has been delegated to the Superintendent, the 
Superintendent may choose to write administrative procedures relative to this matter, and 
these would be placed in the administrative procedures manual. This manual’s contents are 
added to, amended or deleted by the Superintendent. When such changes are made the 
Superintendent would so inform the Board in a formal Board agenda as an information item. 
The Board does not approve administrative procedures. Therefore, the Board may hold the 
Superintendent accountable for developing and administering appropriate administrative 
direction to staff as part of the regular Superintendent evaluation process. 

 

KEEPING POLICIES AND PROCEDURES CURRENT 
 

Policy manuals may include outdated statements. The deletion of such statements 
increases the level of trust individuals have in these manuals.  

 

Peter Drucker has stated that every year, every policy and procedure should be put on trial 
for its life, and those who cannot defend themselves should be eliminated. Sounds like 
tough - but necessary - medicine! In any event, processes are required to ensure the 
contents of the manuals described above are kept current. 

  
Two processes are proposed as part of this model. The first process is integrated into the 
Superintendent’s evaluation, while the second is integrated into the yearly Board review. In 
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this second instance, the Board reviews the action items from the past year’s minutes in 
light of the Board’s policies and annual work plan to ensure the Board is performing its role 
as prescribed in their board policy handbook.  
 
This yearly check-up provides an opportunity for the Superintendent and Board to discuss 
expectations and achievements in the context of specific actions taken and results 
achieved.  

 
PROCESS FOR ADOPTING THE RCA GOVERNANCE MODEL 
 

1. The process begins with a day long workshop involving the Board and Superintendent 
and any senior staff agreed to by the Board and Superintendent.  Typically the 
Secretary Treasurer would be included. The following three policies are developed in 
detail: 

 
 The Role of the Board 
 The Role of the Superintendent 
 Delegation of Authority to the Superintendent. 

 
2. The consultant then engages the Board in a process to clearly identify those 

additional areas over which the Board wishes to retain authority and any existing 
policy documents which are to be retained in the new model.  

3. The consultant advises the Board regarding required governance policies and the 
implications of particular decisions. 

4. Following this workshop, the consultant takes the Board’s direction and develops two 
draft documents, The Board Policy Handbook and The Administrative Procedures 
Manual. These two documents honor current practice, policy related documents and 
any direction determined in the initial workshop. A disposition of documents 
document is developed so the Board can see how existing documents have been 
utilized in the new model.  

5. The Board and Superintendent meet with the Consultant for a day long workshop to 
review the Draft Board Policy Handbook to ensure it reflects the direction provided in 
the initial day long workshop.  

6. Two days of meetings with the Consultants, the Superintendent and senior staff are 
then required to review the draft Administrative Procedures Manual.   

7. Final revisions are made and electronic versions of the two documents are made 
available to the Board for final adoption and placement in the district’s web site. Both 
the manual and the handbook are prepared in electronic format to facilitate the 
district’s placement on the district’s web site. This ensures transparency, currency, 
and ease of access.  
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8. The Board, in a public meeting, rescinds existing board policies, bylaws and 
administrative procedures and adopts the new Board Policy Handbook. 

 
 
 

COST IMPLICATIONS AND TIMELINES  
 
The Board shall be billed an upset cost of ($50,000 plus GST and travel). See draft services 
agreement 
 
Timelines are subject to the consultant receiving timely direction and the availability of the 
Board and senior staff relative to the meetings identified above and other required 
involvement in the process. On site district clerical assistance is required for the two days 
when the consultants meet with senior staff to review in detail the draft administrative 
procedures manual. Typically, the time between the Board engaging the consultant until the 
Board receives the documents for approval is three months. It is the consultant’s intent to 
engage resources to meet this timeframe. It is critical, however, that the time required is 
taken to not only get the right final products but also to implement them in accordance with 
a timeline that provides the best chance for successful implementation of the governance 
model. 
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BOARD OF EDUCATION PROCEDURES 
 
 
Within the framework of the Board’s policies and procedures, decisions are made that keep the 
District moving forward as it provides the best possible learning opportunities for students.  
 
In order to perform these and other duties, the Board comes together at regularly scheduled 
public and closed meetings.  It also holds other meetings or working sessions as deemed 
necessary. Agendas and minutes from public meetings are available for all to view on the 
District website at www.sd47.bc.ca . 
 
This Policy outlines the processes and procedures used to function and do the work of the 
Board.  
 
 
1. Quorum for District Meetings 
 
A quorum for District meetings shall consist of a simple majority (School Act, Sec 66). For School 
District 47 this means there must be a minimum of three trustees at Board meetings. A trustee 
shall be counted as in attendance for the purpose of making a quorum via video and/or 
teleconference (School Act, Sec 67.7). If fifteen minutes after the appointed time a quorum is 
not present, the meeting shall stand adjourned to a date in the same month to be fixed by the 
Chair, or until the next regular meeting.   In the event there must be a quorum initiated 
adjournment, the Secretary-Treasurer shall record the names of the Trustees present at the 
time of the adjournment. 
 
 
2. Inaugural Meeting and Elections  
 
After the results of the trustee elections are officially announced, an inaugural meeting will be 
held prior to the first regular monthly meeting.  The purpose of the inaugural meeting shall be 
to swear-in the new School Board (School Act Sec.50). The Secretary-Treasurer will give notice 
of the inaugural meeting and preside at it (School Act, Sec 67.1).   
 

http://www.sd47.bc.ca/
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At the first regular meeting following the inauguration, and again annually for the duration of 
the term there will be an election of the Board’s Officers. A Board Chair, Vice-Chair, Provincial 
Councillor to the BCSTA and a BCPSEA Representative will be selected by a show of hands vote 
from the five Trustees (School Act, Sec 67.2).  
 
The Secretary-Treasurer shall preside until the selection of the Board Officers is completed. 
Following the election of the Board Officers the regular Board Meeting will proceed. 
 
 
3. Regular Meetings 
 
3.1     There will normally be three meetings of the Board per month; one public, one closed, 

and one committee of the whole. Special meetings may also be called as required to do 
the business of the Board.  

 
3.2     The Regular Public Meeting is open to everyone. This meeting is normally held on the 

second third Wednesday of the month from September to June. Unless otherwise 
advertised it is held at 4:00 pm in the Board Room of the School District 47 
Administration Building.  

 
3.3     The business of this meeting shall be dealt with according to the prepared agenda in the 

following general order: 
a) Acknowledgement of Traditional Territories 
b) Presentations, if applicable 
c) Question Period 
d) Chairperson’s Remarks 
e) Approval of Agenda with any additions or deletions 
f) Adoption of Minutes  
g) Correspondence 
h) Reports from:      

i. Superintendent  
ii. Secretary-Treasurer  

iii. Committees 
i) Other Business Items 
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j) Question Period 
k) Media Question Period 
l) Adjournment 

 
 
3.4     The Board believes recording its official Regular Public Board Meeting proceedings will 

assist in its communication with the public.  Therefore, the Board, at its sole discretion, 
may video record all or any portion of Board Meetings held in public, subject to the 
following limitations: 

  
a) The video recording of any public meeting of the Board of Education or other video 

recorded Board meeting produced by the District is the exclusive property of the 
District to be used at the Board’s discretion. 

b) Video recordings of Regular Public Board Meetings will be stored and available for 
viewing until the end of each school year. 

c)  The Board approved written minutes will continue to be the official record of the 
Meeting. 

  
3.5 The closed meeting is normally held on the same day as the open public meeting.  
 
3.6     The business of closed meetings shall be dealt with according to the prepared agenda in 

the following general order: 
 

a)  Guests or Presentations (if applicable) 
b)  Questions and/or discussion regarding the presentation (if applicable) 
c)  Dismissal of guests (if applicable) 
d)  Approval of in-camera Agenda with any additions or deletions 
e)  Adoption of Minutes 
f)   Correspondence 
g)  Reports from:   

i. Superintendent  
ii. Secretary-Treasurer  

iii. Committees 
h)  Other Business 
i)   Adjournment 
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3.7     Question Periods will be held at all Open Regular Meetings. There will be one question 

period at the beginning of the meeting and another at the end.  The public may raise 
any question except for those which are usually considered in Special Closed meetings.  

 
 
4. Special Meetings 
 
4.1     A Special Meeting of the Board may be called by the Board Chair or, upon the request of 

a majority of the Trustees, shall be called by the Secretary-Treasurer.  No business other 
than that for which the Special Meeting was called shall be conducted at that meeting. 

 
4.2     When possible, written notice of a Special Meeting and an agenda shall be given to each 

Trustee forty-eight hours in advance of the meeting. 
 
 
5. Closed Meetings  

  
5.1     The Board may convene a meeting without the public (School Act, Sec.69.2). Topics 

which require: protecting individual privacy; negotiations of contracts; personnel issues;  
student welfare or discipline; issues dealing with security, land, labour, litigation and 
other such topics will be discussed at Closed Meetings.  

 
5.2     The Board may convene a meeting without the public and staff present. Matters of a 

confidential nature shall be discussed.  However, these meetings shall be subject to the 
requirements of the School Act, with respect to the presence of a corporate officer 
when the meeting is called to order and if any motions are to be considered.    

 
5.3    No Trustee shall disclose the proceedings of a Closed Meeting unless a resolution has 

been passed at the Closed Meeting to allow disclosure.  
 
5.4     Once considered in a closed meeting the Board may deem it appropriate and in the 

public’s best interest to continue the discussion of any previously closed topic at a public 
meeting.  
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6. Public Information Meetings 
 
6.1     The Board may hold public information meetings on major issues to provide or obtain 

information on proposed changes to operational practices which will substantially affect 
instructional delivery, facility location, school closure, program relocation, and district 
funding.  The Board Chair and/or designate shall preside over the meeting accompanied 
by appropriate resource staff assigned by the Superintendent to assist with the 
proceedings. 

 
6.2      Public Information meetings will be advertised using local media and/or the School 

District website www.sd47.bc.ca. 
 
 
7. Working Sessions 
 
7.1       The Board feels it is desirable to meet periodically in a working session environment. In 

this setting, trustees discuss District goals and objectives, evaluate the Superintendent, 
receive professional development on District programs and review other matters 
pertaining to the operation of the District.  

 
7.2    At these sessions the Board shall take no action that replaces debate or actions which 

should occur at public meetings. 
 
7.3    The agenda will be prepared by the Superintendent under the direction of the Chair. 

The Superintendent is expected to attend the working session and determine if other 
senior administration staff are to attend and for how long they will attend.  

 
 
8. Agenda for Regular Meetings 
 
8.1     Within three business days, items may be placed on the agenda by notifying the Board 

Chair. Items may also be included by notice of motion at a previous meeting or a 
request from a committee of the Board within three business days of the meeting. 

 

http://www.sd47.bc.ca/
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8.2     During the course of the Board meeting, the majority of trustees present may request 

that the Board Chair place items before the Board for discussion.  
 
8.3    The agenda will be supported by copies of letters, reports, contracts and other materials 

as are pertinent to the business which will come before the Board and will be of value to 
the Board in the performance of its duties. 

 
8.4     An agenda information package, containing the agenda and supporting information, 

should be distributed to each trustee at least three days in advance of regular Board 
meetings.   

 
8.5     The list of agenda items for the Open Meeting shall be posted in a place readily 

accessible to the general public one day prior to the meeting. Any elector may inspect 
the agenda and request a copy. 

 
 
9. Minutes 
 

The Board shall maintain and preserve by means of minutes a record of its proceedings 
and resolutions.  

 
9. 1    The minutes shall record: 

a)   Date, time and place of meeting. 
b)   Type of meeting (regular, special or committee). 
c)   Name of presiding officer. 
d)   Names of those trustees and administration in attendance. 
e)   A brief summary of circumstances of the issue being debated. 
f)   All resolutions, including their disposition, placed before the Board, and should be 

entered in full. 
g)  Names of persons making and seconding the motion. 
h)  Any points of order and/or appeals. 
i)   Appointments. 
j)   Summarized reports of committees. 
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k)  Trustee declarations pertaining to conflict of interest (sections 56, 57, or 58 of the 

School Act). 
 
9. 2.  The Minutes shall: 

a)  Be prepared as directed by the Superintendent. 
b)  Be reviewed by the Superintendent or designate prior to submission to the Board. 
c)  Be considered an unofficial record of proceedings until such time as adopted by a 

resolution of the Board. 
d)  Upon adoption by the Board, be deemed to be the official and sole record of the 

Board’s business. 
e)  Upon acceptance by the Board and by way of the Secretary-Treasurer’s assurance 

have the appropriate signatures affixed to the concluding page. 
 
9.3    The Secretary-Treasurer shall: 

a)  Establish and maintain a file of all Board minutes. 
b)  Establish a codification system for resolutions determined by the Board, which will 

provide for ready identification as to the meeting at which they were considered. 
c)  Provide for cross-referencing with resolutions of a similar nature adopted by the 

Board at previous meetings. 
 
9.4     Upon adoption by the Board, the Open Meeting minutes shall be available for public 

scrutiny online and at the Board office at all reasonable times. 
 
9.5     The Open Meeting minutes adopted by the Board shall be added to the District website 

www.sd47.bc.ca and distributed to all trustees and other destinations as directed by the 
Board as soon as is practicable. 

 
9.6     All committees of the Board, unless otherwise directed, shall prepare and submit 

minutes or a report to the Board. 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.sd47.bc.ca/
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10. Board Meeting Rules of Order 
 
10.1    The Board Chair shall preside at all meetings of the Board but may vacate the chair in 

order to enter debate or propose or second a motion. 
 
10.2    The Vice-Chair shall preside in the absence of the Board Chair or when the Board Chair 

vacates the chair. 
 
10.3     In the event that neither the Board Chair nor the Vice-Chair is able or willing to take the 

chair, the presiding officer shall be such person as the Board may elect for that meeting. 
 
10.4    The presiding officer shall rule on all points of order and shall state reasons and the 

authority for a ruling when making a ruling.   The presiding officer's ruling shall be 
subject to appeal to the Board.  An appeal may only be requested immediately after a 
ruling and before resumption of business. 

 
10.5    Where District policy is silent Robert's Rules of Order shall apply to the conduct of 

meetings. Where policy and Robert's Rules of Order are both silent, the decision of the 
presiding officer shall be the authoritative ruling. 

 
10.6    Where there is an inconsistency between these rules and the School Act, the School Act 

shall apply over the rule in question. 
 
10.7    The Secretary-Treasurer or Superintendent shall act as parliamentarian to the presiding 

officer and when requested shall advise the Chair or the Board on Rules of Order. 
 
10.8    The Board may adopt a procedural rule for one or more meetings by resolution of the 

Trustees present at the meeting. 
 
10.9     A rule of order may be suspended by unanimous consent of the Trustees present. 
 
10.10  An appeal of a ruling of the presiding officer shall be decided without debate by a 

majority vote of Trustees present. When an appeal is successful it does not set a 
precedent. 
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10.11  These rules may be amended by policy amendment only, at a meeting in which notice of 

intention to propose the amendment has been given at the previous meeting. 
 
10.12  All questions shall be decided by a vote on motion. 
 
 
11. Board Motions and Resolutions 
 
11.1     All matters requiring a Board decision or opinion relating to the formal Board meeting 

agenda shall be done by a motion, which has been moved and seconded for discussion  
 or debate. An opportunity for questions and/or clarification will be provided before the 

motion is read to the assembly by the presiding officer.  
 
11.2     Motions shall be phrased in a clear and concise manner so as to express an opinion or 

achieve a result.   A preamble does not form part of a Resolution when passed. 
 
11.3    The presiding officer may divide a motion containing more than one subject if it is felt 

that it would produce a fairer or clearer result and the same shall be voted on in the 
form in which it is divided. 

 
11.4     No motion other than to postpone consideration of a question, or a procedural motion, 

shall be reconsidered during the calendar year except by the reconsideration or 
rescinding process. 

 
11.5     A motion to reconsider cannot be applied to an action that cannot be reversed; for 

example, entering into a contract.  
 
11.6     A motion to reconsider can only be made at the same meeting where the original 

motion was voted upon and by a member who voted on the prevailing side. No question 
can be reconsidered twice. 

 
11.7     A motion to rescind will be considered only if notice has been given at the previous 

meeting or if notice was given in the call for the present meeting. A motion to rescind 
may be moved by any trustee, regardless of his/her original vote. 
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11.8     A motion to table is not debatable other than as to propriety. (There is no set time 

limit).  A motion to postpone is debatable; (it can be postponed indefinitely or to a 
certain time). 

 
11.9     A motion can be withdrawn or modified by the mover without the consent of anyone 

before the motion is stated by the Chair. Once the motion has been stated by the Chair, 
it belongs to the assembly and the mover must request its permission to withdraw or 
modify it. If there is an objection, the Chair shall ask the meeting if the request should 
be granted and a majority vote is needed for withdrawal. 

 
 
11.10   All motions to refer resolutions to the Canadian School Boards Association (CSBA), BC 

School Trustees Association (BCSTA), or branches thereof for endorsement or adoption, 
shall receive prior discussion in order to clarify intent and wording of the main 
resolution. 

 
11.11   All motions to amend Board policy shall be submitted in writing to the Secretary-

Treasurer and presented to the Board at a regular meeting immediately preceding the 
regular meeting at which they are to be discussed. (Notice of Motion). A written Notice 
of Motion to amend Board policy shall contain the proposed action and rationale. See 
Policy 7 (sections 3.10, 3.11, 3.12). 

 
11.12   All motions must be seconded except in Committee of the Whole or Board Committee 

meetings. 
 
 
12. Amendments to a Motion 
 
12.1     All motions shall be subject to amendment except the following: 
 

a) Motion that the question be now put. 
b) Motion for adjournment of debate or adjournment of a meeting. 
c) Motion to table. 
d) Motion to proceed to next business. 
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12.2  An amendment to a motion does not require notice. 
 
12.3  Only one amendment to an amendment shall be allowed and the same shall be dealt 

with before the amendment is decided. 
 
12.4  Amendments must be strictly relevant to the main motion and will not change the 

intent of the original motion.  
 
12.5  Amendments may also be made by a "substitute" motion if the substitute is not 

contrary to the principle embodied in the main motion. 
 
 
13. Debate 
 
13.1  Debate shall be strictly relevant to the question and the presiding officer shall warn 

speakers who violate this rule. 
 
13.2  No person shall speak until recognized by the Chair. 
 
12.3  No trustee shall speak more than three times to a question unless a motion to extend 

debate is made, seconded, and carried except the mover of the motion who will have 
the right to make a reply when all trustees who wish to speak have spoken.  

 
13.4  No trustee shall speak for a period in excess of three minutes at one time during debate. 

The presiding officer may caution the individual who persists in tedious and repetitious 
debate and may direct that trustee to discontinue if he/she persists. The presiding 
officer shall have sole discretion in applying this paragraph and may in her/his discretion 
ignore it. 

 
13.5  A matter dealing with the rights or interests of the Board as a whole or of a trustee 

personally (a point of privilege) may be raised at any time and shall be dealt with before 
resumption of business. 
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13.6  No trustee shall interrupt another trustee who has the floor except to raise a point of 

order or a point of privilege. 
 
13.7  A motion may be made by a member who has obtained the floor as long as a question is 

pending. The maker of the motion may speak first to the motion. 
 
13.8  A trustee may require the motion under discussion to be read at any time during 

debate, except when a trustee is speaking. 
 
13.9 When a trustee believes debate should be closed and a vote taken, the Chair will 

respond by announcing that the "question has been called “and ask if there is further 
discussion. If there is, it must be allowed. 

 
13.10  Debate can also be closed by a motion to end debate. This is not debatable, must have a 

seconder, and must be approved by the majority. 
 
13.11  This policy shall govern points of order and procedures not provided for or specified by 

the School Act. Where there is an inconsistency, the School Act shall apply. Where  
 situations arise which are not covered by the School Act or policy, the Chair will make 

reference to Robert’s Rules. 
 
13.12  An appeal may only be requested immediately after a ruling and before resumption of 

business. The appeal shall be decided without debate by a majority vote of trustees 
present. A successful appeal does not necessarily set a precedent. 

 
13.13  All motions are debatable except the following: 
 

a) Motion for adjournment of debate or for adjournment of a meeting other than to 
set a time limit, in which case the motion shall be debatable as to time only; 

b)  Motion to fix time to adjournment of a meeting; 
c)  Motion to proceed to the next business; 
d)  Motion to go into Committee of the Whole or Closed Session; 
e)  Motion to refer shall be debatable as to time or referral only; 
f)  Motion to table; 
g)  Motion to postpone is debatable as to time only. 
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14.  Voting 
 
14.1  A quorum of the Board shall be three trustees. 
 
14.2  All trustees present at a meeting are expected to vote, although, a trustee must abstain 

from voting in the event that he/she is in a conflict of interest position due to a direct 
pecuniary interest in the outcome of the vote (Section 58, School Act). A trustee may 
also abstain from voting if he/she states at the meeting her/his reasons thereon prior to 
a vote being taken. 

 
14.3  Where an interpretation is required, the question at hand shall be deferred until the 

following meeting or, if emergent, to the end of the meeting to allow staff to research 
the appropriate interpretation based on Robert's Rules. The resulting interpretation 
may require a change to said policy and, if so, will be done by notice of motion. A notice 
of motion to update this policy will be made subsequent to the question at hand being 
dealt with. 

 
14.4  Voting shall be by a show of hands and under normal circumstances all negative votes 

and abstentions shall be recorded by name in every case. Upon request, where a 
conflict exists, the reason(s) for an abstention shall be recorded. 

 
14.5  The Chair has the same right to vote and shall vote at the same time as the other  

members of the Board and, in the case of an equality of votes for and against a motion, 
(a tie), the question is resolved in the negative, and the Chair shall so declare. 

 
14.6  All questions shall be decided by a majority of the votes of the Board quorum present 

and voting recorded as otherwise provided by these rules or the School Act. 
 
14.7  In the event that a Trustee abstains as provided in paragraph 14.2 of this section that 

trustee shall be deemed to have voted for the question. 
 
14.8   The presiding officer may vote at the same time as the other members of the Board and, 

in the case of equality of votes for and against a motion, a tie, the question will be 
declared ‘not passed’ by the presiding officer.  
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15. Delegations to Board Meetings 
 
Input from individuals and groups within the school system or general public is encouraged and 
welcomed.  The Board believes that it has the responsibility to provide members of the 
community the opportunity to voice any concerns or ideas relating to educational matters 
directly to the Board.  The Board also believes it has a responsibility to conduct all of its 
meetings in an orderly and efficient fashion. Hence the Board will receive representations and  
delegations on any subject pertinent to Board business provided the item has been placed on 
the agenda. 
 
15.1  Requests to present shall be made in writing to the Superintendent or designate on or 

before 12:00 noon on the Tuesday preceding the regular Board meeting.  
 
15.2  In order to assist delegations with their presentations, guidelines for delegations, will be 

made available at the time the request to present is made.  
 
15.3  The Board Chair may refer delegation requests to a closed meeting. The Board Chair 

reserves the right to limit the number of delegations appearing at a particular Board 
meeting and may request they appear at an alternate date. 

 
15.4  The delegation shall identify a spokesperson for all group appointments. 
 
15.5  Despite 15.1 above, an individual or group may appear before the Board at a regular 

meeting and request placement on the agenda without prior notice. The Board will 
determine whether or not the delegation will be added to the agenda that that time. 

 
15.6  If a trustee wishes to request that the topic be referred to a later Board Meeting, the 

trustee should follow the process outlined in section 8.1 such that the request is 
brought forward to the Board Chair to include on the next meeting agenda.  

 
15.7  The Board appreciates the time and effort students, staff members and members of the 

general public take to present to the Board. In recognition, school delegations are 
acknowledged by sending a letter of thanks to the delegation.  
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16. Committees of the Board 
 
16.1  At the Inaugural Board meeting the Board Chair shall present recommendations of 

trustees for membership on Board Committees for the following year. 
 
16.2  The Board shall by Resolution decide upon the Chair’s recommendations.  
  
16.3  Members of the Board may attend meetings of any of its committees. 
 
16.4  No committee meeting shall be more than two hours in length. Meetings will be held 

only as required for Appeals, CUPE negotiations, Drugs/Discipline, PRDTA and Admin 
negotiations. All other committees shall meet regularly as required.  

 
16.5  The rules which apply in Regular Board Meetings shall be observed in meetings of Board 

Committees so far as they may be applicable. 
 
16.6  On completion of deliberations on matters referred to it, a committee shall report its 

findings and/or recommendations to the whole Board.   
 
16.7  No committee may make decisions on its own; they advise of the Board of School 

Trustees, in order to facilitate the work of the Board. 
 
16.8  The actions of a committee shall not be complete until its report has been dealt with by 

the Board.   A committee may refer matters to another committee it deems 
appropriate. 

 
16.9  Committees of the Board shall follow definite Terms of Reference which have been 

approved by the School Board of Trustees.  
 
 
17. Committee of the Whole 

 
17.1  By resolution, the Board may move to Committee of the Whole at any time during an 

Open Meeting, Special Meeting, or Closed Meeting.  
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17.2  The rules applied at regular meetings shall be observed while in Committee of the 

Whole so far as they are applicable, except as to the requirement for seconding of 
motions and limiting the number of times of speaking.  

 
17.3  Speeches in Committee of the Whole must be strictly relevant to the item or clause 

under consideration.  
  
 
18. Ad Hoc Committees 
 
18.1  The Board may at any time appoint an Ad Hoc Committees and set their terms of 

reference and duration. 
 
18.2  When an Ad Hoc Committee is appointed, the Board Chair shall name the members to 

serve on that Committee. 
 
18.3  The rules which apply in Regular Board Meetings shall be observed in meetings of Ad 

Hoc Committees so far as they may be applicable. 
  
 
19.  Resolutions, Policies and By-laws 
 
19.1  All matters shall be dealt with by resolution, policy statement or by-law. 
  
19.2  A Resolution shall have only one reading. 
 
19.3  Resolutions shall be assumed to be for the duration of the specific action referred to 

within a resolution or in any case not longer than one year, except for the following: 
a)   Resolutions may specify certain dates for which actions are applicable. 
b)  Resolutions which have policy implications or are intended to be for district 

guidance for periods greater than one year, shall be referred to the District Policy 
Development Process. (See Policy 7). 
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19.4  New policies, and significant changes to existing policy shall have two readings - the first 

for information; the second for recommendation. The readings shall be at two separate 
Regular Board meetings, unless a majority of trustees waive the rule in extraordinary 
circumstances. 

 
19.5  A By-Law shall have three readings. 
 

19.6  The following matters shall only be resolved by By-Laws:  
a)   Amendments to By-Laws. 
b)   Where required by the School Act.                 

 
 
20. Signatories for the Board 
 
Any two of the Chair, Vice Chair, Superintendent and the Secretary-Treasurer shall be the 
official signatories for legal documents and cheques.  
 
 
 
References:  School Act (sections 56, 57, 58, 66, 67, 67.1, 67.2, 69.2, 72, 95.43, and 95.45) 
  School District 47 Policy 7, Policy Development (sections 3.10,3.11 and 3.12) 



 

  
  

 
 

SOCIAL ACTION & PLANNING ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
 

TUESDAY JULY 6, 2021 
VIRTUAL MEETING ON MS TEAMS 

 
MEETING MINUTES 

 
PRESENT (VOTING): CITY OF POWELL RIVER 
    Maggie Hathaway, City Councillor (Chair) 
    Cindy Elliott, City Councillor 
     
    qathet REGIONAL DISTRICT 
    Clay Brander, Area C Director 
    Sandy McCormick, Area D Director 
      
    TLA’AMIN NATION 
    John Hackett, Hegus 
    Losa Luaifoa, Legislator 
 
PRESENT (NON-VOTING): Russell Brewer, City of Powell River 
    Rod Allan, Tla’amin Nation      
    Lianne Carley, Vancouver Coastal Health 
    Jay Yule, School District No. 47 

Rita John, School District No. 47 
    Kai Okazaki, Regional Social Planner 
    Rachel Pukesh, Planning Assistant / Recording Secretary 
 
ABSENT:   John Harding, Vancouver Coastal Health 
    Doug Skinner, School District No. 47 
    David Formosa, City of Powell River 
     
            
1. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 

 
The meeting was called to order at 10:10 am. 
 
Moved and seconded that the agenda of the July 6, 2021 meeting of the Social Action and 
Planning Advisory Committee be adopted as presented.  
           CARRIED 
 

2. ADOPTION OF MINUTES 
 

Moved and seconded that the minutes of the April 6, 2021 meeting of the Social Action and 
Planning Advisory Committee be adopted as presented.  
           CARRIED 



 
 

 
3. HOUSING 

 
  3.1 Housing Needs Report – Next Steps 
  See Appendix A and slides on Housing Needs Report – Next Steps.  Key points: 

• Each local government has now received and is considered having completed 
their housing needs reports.  While the Tla’amin Nation is not subject to the 
Local Government Act requirements, the two other local governments have 
now met their obligation to complete a report.  

• The report is intended to serve as a tool for the local governments to better 
inform OCP and other policy or law updates, and to assist in leveraging funding 
opportunities that may become available.  

• Local governments may want to consider updating their housing needs reports 
once the Census 2021 data is in.  

• The next day upon which a new report would be required by the LGA is 2026. 
 

  3.2 Housing Steering Committee / Roundtable – Next Steps 
  A verbal update was provided by the Chair.  Key points: 

• The Housing Roundtable has not met for quite some time, wanting the Housing 
Needs Report to be completed to better inform their discussions.  

• The next step for the Roundtable would be to meet again to get all of the local 
non-profits together to discuss how they best move forward together with 
respect to housing initiatives, how best to address where needs are not being 
met, whether we should establish a Housing Authority, and what the terms of 
reference and goals of the Steering Committee should be.  

• Anticipated timeline for a follow-up meeting is this fall.  
 
 3.3 BC Rent Bank 
 See Appendix A and slides on the BC Rent Bank.  Key points: 

• A Rent Bank is a homelessness prevention tool to provide housing stability for 
low to moderate income renters in the form of short-term financial assistance to 
meet any shortfall.  

• A question was asked with respect to funding source; for the past three years, 
new rent banks have been funded by the province after being established by 
the Vancity Community Foundation. 

• Seed funding is provided by the BC Rent Bank to establish the fund but then 
sustainable funding has generally come from partnerships between local 
governments and non-profits with the support of community partners.  

• A question was asked about what assurances a local government would have 
that sustainable funding sources could be found that would not put additional 
pressures on the individual taxpayer; at this time some of the community 
partners such as First Credit Union, the United Way, etc, are having 
conversations about funding sources and until a full proposal is brought to 
establish a rent bank here in Powell River, establishing specific funding sources 
is not clearly understood.  

• In Sechelt, the rent bank there has been established and has experienced a 
very high percentage of success with respect to repayment of the loans made, 
much of which are funded in partnership with the local credit union.  

• The Social Planner advised that here in Powell River, through the Powell River 
and District United Way’s Daniella’s Helping Hand Fund are already providing 
emergency one-time funding for housing but there is no repayment requirement 
for that fund.  A rent bank would provide for repayment parameters to better 
make the fund sustainable.  

• More information will be sought as to how the Tla’amin Nation members could 
either access the same services through a rent bank that other qathet residents 
could, versus having to establish their own fund.  The Social Planner will follow-
up on this.  



 
 

 
 3.4 UBCM Strengthening Communities Services Grant 

See Appendix A and slides on the UBCM Grant. Key points: 
• A significant workplan item for the Social Planner in the past few months.  
• Announcement on recipients for this grant should come by end of July.  
• Grant was targeted specifically to the region’s unsheltered homeless population 

and the application was regional involving all three local governments.  
• Lift Community Services is already renting local hotel spaces out with COVID 

relief funding.  Powell River District and United Way are also already providing 
the Daniella’s Helping Hand fund.  

• The grant application also looked at temporary staffing positions required to 
administer the grant and implement with community partners how best to 
collaborate on the work and build community-based capacity through increased 
training opportunities.  

   
4. POVERTY 

 
4.1  qathet Regional Poverty Reduction Strategy Project Update 

See Appendix A and slides on Poverty.  Key points: 
• The federal government has put out a poverty reduction strategy, followed by the 

province, and this is an important priority area for the Social Planner position 
serving the qathet Regional District.  

• This is the first kind of work regarding this topic at the local government level in 
partnership with many community providers and organizations.  

• Infographics summaries were provided in the agenda package but the complete 
survey results report is available on www.participatepr.ca.  

• 567 responses to the Community Wellbeing Survey.   
• The survey did find direct links between income struggles and the survey 

respondents.  Renters versus homeowners and singles / single parents were 
amongst the demographics identified through the survey respondents as most 
vulnerable.  

• Analyzing existing data was another important piece, in creating a community 
‘snapshot’ or profile.  Data more specific to the region, such as tax filer data, 
came in and was able to identify some of the indicators of poverty risk and effect.   

• A significant income gap between males and females is reflected in the data,  
about 67%.  

• A good portion of the population, about 18% or 3,500 people, were identified as 
being below the low-income threshold.   

• A question was asked about why only Electoral Areas B & C were reported on 
and not the other areas; how can information from those areas be fed into the 
bigger picture?   With census data, the more remote the areas involved, the data 
received is more limited and thus can be difficult to rely upon with any accuracy.  
The general themes pulled from Areas B & C can be applied to assume what 
situations exist in Areas A, D & E.  Responses to the supplemental surveys were 
very high for these electoral areas, specifically Texada Island, which may provide 
additional insight into general themes.  Moving into Phase 2 of this project will 
provide further opportunities for those electoral areas to participate.  

• A question was asked about relying upon 2016 Census data.  Will these statistics 
in the report be updated to reflect the 2021 Census data, once received?  A lot 
of the tax filer data collected was from 2018 and 2019 so more recent than 2016 
Census data.  Some of the data may be 5 years old but much of it is based on 
more recent data, and in upcoming years it would be very helpful to update this 
report to better reflect updated data but it would depend upon what resources 
could be allocated to that work.  
 
 

  

http://www.participatepr.ca/


 
 

5. OTHER 
 

5.1 Community Action Team 
The Chair provided a verbal update on this agenda item: 

• Last meeting of the Community Action Team (CAT) was June 28, 2021. 
• An extension on the Overdose Prevention Site to provide injectable drugs and 

receive prescriptions from a registered nurse trained to administer.  
• Looking toward purchasing some drug testing equipment for Powell River so that 

street drugs can be tested for their safety.  
• Just about 2 years into the OPS being in existence.  
• City Council received a request from White Rock looking to support a UBCM 

motion with respect to wait times for those arrested under the Mental Health Act 
to be held prior to being turned over to a doctor.  In the lower mainland there is 
a program called Car 67 where as part of the program a social worker travels 
with a police officer who is conducting mental health checks or making an arrest  
under the Mental Health Act.  

• Kathryn Colby from CAT has met with the local RCMP Staff Sergeant to discuss 
a local program here to perhaps create an on-call list of social workers so that 
when police are engaged for calls such as this, they can request a social worker 
to accompany them.   Funding source is TBD.  
 

 5.2 Accessibility – Referred from C3 Meeting 
 Verbally introduced by the Chair.  Key points: 

• A comment was made about the difference between how a local government 
may consider its facilities accessible versus what the actual disabled community 
thinks.   

• A discussion point was the accessibility standards currently available to and 
applied by local governments for things like infrastructure installation and how 
they may actually not meet needs and/or potentially create more dangerous 
situations.  

• The concept of universal design is an important one that should be incorporated 
by all three local governments so that all renovations and new construction are 
made universally accessible rather than creating some facilities that are not 
accessible and others that are.  Comment was made of the qathet Regional 
District’s recent projects such as the new fire hall up in Lund including universally 
accessible design for all washrooms.  

• Discussion about what the role of SAPAC should be in addressing this issue. 
• The province will be establishing accessibility standards as part of the recent 

passing of the Accessibility Act.  Important to consider other forms of accessibility 
than just the built environment.  Accessibility might be a larger discussion. 

 
Moved and seconded that an Accessibility Sub-committee be formed with Cindy Elliott, Clay 
Brander, Sandy McCormack and John Hackett as members responsible for reporting back to 
the SAPAC.  

CARRIED  
 
  5.3 Transition of Meriko’s Return 

The Chair thanked Kai Okazaki for all of his hard work over the past year. 
• Social Planner Meriko Kubota will return to the role in mid August.   

 
6. ADJOURNMENT 

Moved and seconded that the July 6, 2021 meeting of the Social Action and Planning Advisory 
Committee be adjourned at 11:10 am.  

 CARRIED 



Social Action and Planning 
Advisory Committee 

July 6, 2021
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3. Housing

3.1 Housing Needs Report – Next Steps
As part of BC Local Government Act (LGA), Part 14:

• Division 4 - Official Community Plans S.473 (2.1) 
• Division 22 – Housing Needs Reports s.585.2 - 585.4 

Tla’amin Nation not subjected to the LGA but the continuation of the report can be useful to:
• Support the development of the Comprehensive Nation Plan (and other housing policy work)
• Identifying housing needs to leverage indigenous-related housing funds available)

July 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.1 Housing Needs Report – Next Steps
Division 4 - Official Community Plan Purposes

• LGA s.473 (2.1), local government must consider the most recent housing needs report received 
under section 585.31 and the housing information on which the report is based

(a) when development an official community plan
(b) when amending an official community plan in relation to statements and map 
designations under subsection (1) (1) of this section or 

(c) when amending an official community plan in relation to housing policies under 
subsection (2) of this section

July 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.1 Housing Needs Report – Next Steps
Division 22 – Housing Needs Reports 
When and how housing needs report must be received:
585.31 (1) A local government must, by resolution, receive housing needs report in accordance 

with this section
(2) A local government must receive a housing needs report at a meeting that is open to 
the public
(3) A local government must receive 

(a) the first housing needs report no later than 3 years after the date this section 
comes into force
(b) every subsequent housing needs report no later than 5 years after the date 
that the most recent housing needs report was received

July 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.1 Housing Needs Report – Next Steps
Key dates to consider in the future: 

• Census 2021 and updating housing needs report to 2021
• Next required deadline – May 2026

July 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.2 Housing Steering Committee / Roundtable – Next Steps

July 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.3 BC Rent Bank
• Established by Vancity Community Foundation (Province of BC) as part of the 

Provincial Rental Housing Task Force.
• Short-term or temporary homelessness prevention tool providing housing 

stability for low to moderate income renters who are unable to pay rent or 
utilities. 

• Financial assistance in the form of a repayable loan (each community can choose 
how the repayable systems can be set-up)

July 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.3 BC Rent Bank
What does this mean in the qathet region?
• Offer a homelessness prevention tool for many renters across the housing 

continuum
• Support renters in emergencies that compromise their ability to pay rent or 

utilities
• Provide a financial assistance program to renters in low to moderate incomes and 

avoids high-interest lending

July 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.3 BC Rent Bank
What will a rent bank need?
• BC Rent Bank provides a one-time seed funding costs to help establish new rent 

bank
• In-kind contributions by a lead agency and community partners (staff time)
• Ongoing annual operations cost (contributions towards staffing, loan capital or 

administrative costs)
• Submitting an expression of Interest (EOI) - supporting Powell River District & 

United Way and other local community partnerships.

July 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.3 BC Rent Bank
Considerations as next steps
• This will be the first-ever formal rent bank system in the qathet region.
• Partnerships with local governments will help create a sustainable rent bank (i.e. 

support with the stability of rent bank ongoing operations)
• Should our region be successful, a full detailed proposal will be needed.
• Social Planner to continue supporting work with local organizations on setting up 

a rent bank in the qathet region

July 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.4 UBCM Strengthening Communities Services Grant
• Submitted April 16, 2021 (announce within 90 days of receiving application)
• Total grant submitted: $772,199
• Activities must support COVID-19 safety and unsheltered homeless population 

(refer to budget sheet for the full list of activities)
• This was submitted as a regional application with the City, qRD, and Tla’amin 

Nation

July 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.4 UBCM Strengthening Communities Services Grant
Activities include:
• Temporary rental spaces for additional shelters
• Temporary support for distributing incremental services (emergency supplies and 

services, transportation costs)
• Temporary staffing positions (Planner, Social Services Coordinator)
• Training opportunities on cultural safety and trauma-informed learning

July 6, 2021



4. Poverty

4.1 qathet Regional Poverty Reduction Strategy Project Update

July 6, 2021



4. Poverty



Regional Poverty Reduction Strategy



Regional Poverty Reduction Strategy

• Develop the first-ever poverty 
reduction strategy in the 
qathet region for the next 10 
years in partnership with:



Regional Poverty Reduction Strategy

• Some of Phase 1 included:
• Regional Community Wellbeing 

Survey Results (567 responses)
• Income-related experiences as 

part of overall wellbeing
• Why are people barely surviving 

while others are thriving?
• What helps people to thrive?
• How can we amplify the 

conditions to help people thrive?

• Infographics Summary 
(attached)



Regional Poverty Reduction Strategy

• Some of Phase 1 included:
• Community Snapshot Local 

Demographic and Income Data
• Stats Canada custom tabulation data 
• Income-based poverty indicators
• Living Wage
• Working Poor
• Government Transfers
• Financial assistance

• Infographics Summary (attached)



Poverty Reduction Advisory Committee
Advisory Committee and project 
team members (Missing: 
Maggie Hathaway, Jay Yule, Rob 
Hill, Julie Jenkins, Cindy Elliot, 
Pattie Torgersen and Sandy 
McCormick)



Next Steps

PHASE 1 
Current Situation
(Winter/Spring 
2021)

PHASE 2 
Setting Direction
(Spring/Summer 2021)

PHASE 3 
Plan Completion
(Fall 2021)

We are here

Adoption of 
Regional 
Poverty 
Strategy
(Late Fall 2021)



5. Other

5.1 Community Action Team

July 6, 2021



5. Other

5.2 Accessibility – Referred from C3 Meeting

July 6, 2021



5. Other

5.3 Transition of Meriko’s return

July 6, 2021



Thank you!
Kai Okazaki

(E): Kai.Okazaki@alumni.ubc.ca



Additional Slides



3. Housing

3.3 Housing Needs Report Implementation Framework - Work Plan
What:
• Next steps after completing the housing needs report
• Can be considered as a housing strategy or action plan
• Tangible approach to prioritize policy recommendations identified in housing needs 

report
• Aimed to look at the shorter term (up to 3 years)

April 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.3 Housing Needs Report Implementation Framework - Work Plan
Why:
• Provides clear directions of what policies to further explore within a timeline
• Allows existing strategic actions identified at the City, qRD, TN to continue moving 

forward and be prioritized within framework
• Aligns well with the next Census data released in 2022
• May identify and/or inform other policy recommendations should additional gaps are 

found in process

April 6, 2021



3. Housing

April 6, 2021

 

 
 
 

STEP 3  
Approval of 
Implementation 
Framework 
(Summer 2021) 

PHASE 1 PHASE 2 



3. Housing

3.3 Housing Needs Report Implementation Framework - Work Plan
Phase 2 tasks include:
• Develop approaches that help define housing focus areas and opportunities
• Conduct a housing policy tools review to vet applicability and viability in the qathet 

region (i.e. best practices in other BC communities)
• Prioritize housing action items 
• Develop and review timelines and monitoring for up to three years
• Present final report to City, qRD, and Tla’amin for approval

April 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.3 Housing Needs Report Implementation Framework - Work Plan

Options:
1. SAPAC supports staff to work with the City of Powell River, qathet 

Regional District, and Tla’amin Nation the housing needs report 
implementation framework

2. SAPAC supports an alternative direction
3. SAPAC does not support this direction at this time

April 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.4 Housing Fund opportunities in qathet region
• Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC)
• Federation of Canadian Municipalities (FCM) 
• BC Housing (BCH) 

April 6, 2021





3. Housing

3.4 Housing Fund opportunities in qathet region
CMHC – Housing Solutions
• Seed Funding
• Preservation Funding
• National Housing Co-Investment Fund
• Affordable Housing Innovation Fund
• Federal Land Initiative
• Construction Financing Initiative
• Mortgage Loan Insurance
• Mortgage Loan Insurance Flex

April 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.4 Housing Fund opportunities in qathet region
CMHC – Housing Solutions
• Seed Funding
• Preservation Funding
• National Housing Co-Investment Fund
• Affordable Housing Innovation Fund
• Federal Land Initiative
• Construction Financing Initiative
• Mortgage Loan Insurance
• Mortgage Loan Insurance Flex

April 6, 2021

Can be paired with FCM 
Sustainable Affordable 
Housing (SAH)



3. Housing

3.4 Housing Fund opportunities in qathet region
FCM – Sustainable Affordable Housing Fund
• Planning Grant (up to 80% eligible costs, max. $25,000)
• Study Grant (up to 50% of eligible costs, max $175,000)
• Pilot Project Grant (up to 80% off eligible costs, max $500,00)
• Capital Project Financing  - Retrofits (up to 80% of eligible costs) 
• Capital Project Financing – New Builds (up to 20% of eligible costs)

April 6, 2021



3. Housing

April 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.4 Housing Fund opportunities in qathet region
BC Housing

April 6, 2021

Building BC
• Rapid Response to 

Homelessness
• Community Housing Fund
• Indigenous Housing Fund
• Supportive Housing Fund
• Women’s Transition 

Housing Fund

Rental
• Shelter Aid for Elderly 

Renter (SAFER)
• Rental Assistance 

Program (RAP) 

Housing Hub
• Provincial Rental Supply 

Program Framework
• Affordable Home 

Ownership Program 
Framework



3. Housing

3.4 Housing Fund opportunities in qathet region
Partnership tools from local and indigenous governments to help facilitate
• Providing land (Lease is a more common example, land swap, donate, sell, etc.)
• Aligning zoning regulations to permit development of funded housing
• Reducing/waiving permit fees, development cost charges, etc. 
• Municipal housing reserve funds
• Tax exemptions

April 6, 2021



3. Housing

3.4 Housing Fund opportunities in qathet region

Options:
1. SAPAC supports staff to work with the housing steering committee and/or each 

government on available funds and report back at a future committee
2. SAPAC supports an alternative direction for staff
3. SAPAC does not support this direction at this time

April 6, 2021



4. Poverty

April 6, 2021



4. Poverty

4.1 qathet Regional Poverty Reduction Strategy Project Update
• Working with Lift Community Services and First Credit Union, hired Alofii Consultancy 

Inc. to support project initiative
• Note: Consultant team are all employed locally in qathet region

• Community well-being survey open on: www.participatepr.ca/povertyreduction
• Deadline: April 15, 2021 (depending on survey responses)
• 330 responses (as of April 5, 2021)
• Paper surveys available at Library, Rec Complex, and City Hall
• Phone line to call or text available with April at 604-578-8948

• Poverty Reduction Advisory Committee Meeting #1 (April 27th)

April 6, 2021

http://www.participatepr.ca/povertyreduction


5. Early Years

5.1 Childcare Action Plan Updates
• Licensed Childcare Facilities:

• Total: 501 childcare spaces
• Pending: 16 childcare spaces

Source: Licensing Officer (March 2021)

April 6, 2021

Age Group # of facilities offer 
childcare for Age 
Group

Total Capacity

0 - 12 7 49

< 36 Months 4 32

30 Months to 
School Age

6 88

Group (School Age) 5 113

Multi-Age (0-12) 4 63

Preschool 7 106

Occasional 5 50

Total 501



5. Early Years

5.1 Childcare Action Plan Updates
• March 2020 childcare spaces: 429
• March 2021 childcare spaces: 501
• Net childcare spaces (2020-2021): 72 
• Licensing application: 16
• New Spaces Fund: 139
• Target Spaces by 2030: 1,350 spaces

Source: Licensing Officer (March 2021)

April 6, 2021

March 2021

# of childcare spaces 501

Plus current applications:

Licensing Officer 
(Pending)

16

Plus MCFD New Spaces Fund:

Edgehill Elementary 
(Pending)

28

Kelly Creek Elementary 
(Pending)

28

Texada Elementary
(Pending)

8

Tla’amin Child Development and 
Resource Centre
(Approved)

75

TOTAL 656

# Difference (2020-2021) 227



5. Early Years

5.1 Childcare Action Plan Updates
• VIU confirmed funding success for 2021 with two streams:

• Early Childhood Education and Care (ECEC) Certificate
• ECEC Certificate, Special Needs Educator Designation  

• Child Care Resource and Referral Centres (CCRR) collaboration with providers on 
building local support and professional development

• ECEBC Chapter in Powell River initiative

• Letter from MCFD regarding Universal Child Care Prototype Site Initiative ($10 a day 
child care pilot)

April 6, 2021



5. Early Years

5.1 Childcare Action Plan Updates
• Childcare Action Plan Items:

Item: Consider all three local governments and SAPAC to write the Minister of 
Children and Family Development and the Minister of the State for Childcare to 
advocate the implementation of $10 a day childcare plan 

Item: Follow up on key points in correspondence with provincial government with the 
addition of better supporting parents to care for their own children – supporting 
choice for families and reducing demand of out-of-home childcare providers 

April 6, 2021



5. Early Years

5.1 Childcare Action Plan Updates

Options: 
1. SAPAC and the three governments supports staff to draft a letter to the Ministry of 

Children and Family Development to advocate for the implementation of a $10 a 
day childcare plan and better supporting parents to care for their own children

2. SAPAC direct an alternative direction for staff
3. SAPAC does not support this direction at this time

April 6, 2021



6. Other

6.1 COVID-19 Community and Social Services Session
• Provide local Powell River data and information for social service sector organizations
• Session #1 (January 2021): 

• COVID-19 Community Survey results (Division of Family Practice)

• Session #2 (February 2021):
• Vantage Point: Nonprofits, COVID-19, and Fabric of BC Communities

April 6, 2021



6. Other

6.2 Community Action Team

April 6, 2021



6. Other

6.3 UBCM Strengthening Communities’ Services Grant
• Assist local governments and Treaty First Nations as part of COVID-19 response with:

• Improving health and safety of unsheltered homeless people living in public or private spaces
• Reducing community concerns about public health and safety in neighbourhoods where 

unsheltered members are seeking temporary shelter and services
• Improving overall coordination on housing, homelessness, and service provision
• Increasing capacity to work with homeless individuals and indigenous organizations towards 

culturally safe and trauma-informed responses

April 6, 2021



6. Other

6.3 UBCM Strengthening Communities’ Services Grant
• UBCM grant can contribute up to 100% of cost of eligible activities:

• City of Powell River - $450,000
• qathet Regional District - $450,000
• Tla’amin Nation - $200,00

• Total: $1.1 million

April 6, 2021



6. Other

6.3 UBCM Strengthening Communities’ Services Grant
• City COTW - March 30
• Tla’amin Nation EC Resolution – April 7 
• qRD COTW - April 15
• Roundtable meeting with Non-profits
• Continued discussion with departments and staff at City, qRD, TN 
• Application deadline: April 16, 2021

April 6, 2021



6. Other

6.3 UBCM Strengthening Communities’ Services Grant

Options:
1. SAPAC supports submitting an application to the UBCM Strengthening Communities 

Services grant 
2. SAPAC supports an alternative direction for staff
3. SAPAC does not support this direction at this time

April 6, 2021



6. Other

6.4 SPARC BC Homelessness Community Action Grant
• One-time funding available for qathet region ($5,000-50,000+) 
• Used as separate initiative or in combination with the UBCM Strengthening 

Communities’ Services grant to leverage funding

April 6, 2021



6. Other

6.4 SPARC BC Homelessness Community Action Grant

Options: 
1. SAPAC supports submitting an application to the Homelessness Community Action 

Grant
2. SAPAC supports an alternative direction for staff
3. SAPAC does not support this direction at this time

April 6, 2021



     Imagine our community  WITHOUT POVERTY  

Draft Recommendations, qathet Ending Poverty Strategy 
 

Building on and strengthening existing structure: Social Planning Program 

• Review all City and qathet Region bylaws to ensure they are developed and enforced with a poverty 

lens, and that they provide support for poverty elimination strategies. As well, ensure that they do 

not further burden people experiencing poverty, make poverty a crime, or reinforce stigma. 

 (A list with bylaw areas for review will be later included as an Appendix). 

• In addition, we recommend that the three local governments support the following steps: 

• Social Cohesion: Social cohesion throughout the region 

o Implement recommendations from the Social Planning Program: 

▪ Public gathering space in each community: Develop and implement a regional 

public space policy (2022)  

▪ Permanent regional social cohesion (grant) program: Develop with community 

partners and implement a permanent social cohesion grant program (2022) 

▪ Year round regional public spaces activities plan: Develop with community 

partners a year round activities plan for public spaces, encouraging community 

building and integration, especially with Tla’amin (2022) 

▪ Regular public engagements by the three local governments: Develop and 

implement with the three local governments an infrastructure for regular public 

engagement (2022). 

o Provide ongoing support to the Seniors Community Council to reduce senior isolation.  

o Continue supporting the Sustainability Committee, in particular their actions regarding 

public and active transportation, and affordable and healthy food. 

o Establish and support a reconciliation committee, composed of representatives from the 

community and Tla’amin Nation12 

o Start a neighbourhood strengthening initiatives. For example, explore the opportunity 

to start an abundant community initiative – establishing strong neighbourhoods by 

building on community assets and strengthening relationships3  

• Economic Progress: Poverty alleviation and reduced income disparity  

o Implement recommendations from the Social Planning Program, in particular: 

▪ Economic progress principles implemented by three local governments 

• Finalize and implement economic progress evaluation framework with 

three local governments and community (business) partners (2022) 

• Develop social procurement policy with three local governments and 

community (business) partners (ongoing) 

 
1 The United Church has expressed a desire to participate in the committee. The final committee composition and 

inclusion of religious organizing should be in dialogue with the Tla’amin Nation.  
2 See Appendix A for ideas suggested by the Poverty Reduction Advisory Committee. 
3 See https://www.abundantcommunity.com/, 

https://www.edmonton.ca/programs_services/for_communities/abundant-community-edmonton or Hey 

Neighbour https://www.heyneighbourcollective.ca/  

https://www.abundantcommunity.com/
https://www.edmonton.ca/programs_services/for_communities/abundant-community-edmonton
https://www.heyneighbourcollective.ca/
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• Develop a way for the three local governments to inform each other 

about the economic development initiatives in their area (2022) 

▪ Adult workers in the region earn a living wage: Organize a living wage campaign 

together with all major businesses and local governments (2022) 

▪ Public is knowledgeable about economic progress and social procurement: 

Educate the public about economic progress, the framework, social 

procurement and living wage (2022) 

▪ Encourage collaboration in poverty reduction and economic progress [NEW]:   

• Implement the regional poverty reduction strategy action items with 

community partners [NEW] (2022) 

o To focus on diversification of economic areas that provide fulltime living wages4, 

establish and support an Economic Progress and Diversification Committee with the 

local business community and VIU – to ensure education and training needs are met.5  

o Support and facilitate the representation of one member of the Economic Progress and 

Diversification Committee on VIU’s Advisory Committee to develop their Academic Plan 

for 2021-2026.6 

o Explore the impact of student housing on the ability to grow the campus, attract 

students from outside the community and offer more local post-graduate programs and 

develop a plan for student housing (if appropriate).7  

• Housing: Suitable sustainable housing for all people  

o Implement recommendations from the Social Planning Program, in particular: 

▪ Housing Strategy for the Powell River Region: 

• Develop a housing strategy for the region (2021) 

• Conduct a rental inventory and feasibility study for a renter’s registry 

(2021) 

▪ Local innovation funding opportunities for affordable housing: Establish and 

Lead an Action Team to explore funding innovation (2022) 

▪ Diverse housing options for Vulnerable populations: Establish and lead an Action 

Team to develop housing options for vulnerable populations (2022) 

o Formalize the Housing Steering Committee and continue providing staffing support  

o Implement the recommendations made in the qathet Regional Housing Needs Report 

(April 2021), in particular the recommendations that will increase the number of 

 
4 Many of the economic development efforts have been focussed on expanding areas like tourism, which as 

created more precarious employment, often paying a lower wage. 
5 See Appendix A for ideas suggested by the Poverty Advisory Committee. See also recommendations regarding 

Early Childhood Education training in the Powell River Region-wide Childcare Planning Project report.  
6 See https://www.viu.ca/academic-plan 
7 Partly due to the lack of (student) housing enrollment in post-graduate programs is low as enrollment mainly 

relies on local students. As a result, program offerings have been very limited.  The indication by the VIU 

administration that “the majority of the students live at home or in shared accommodation and do not perceive 

student housing as an issues” (p. 50, qathet Regional Housing Needs Report) could be a self-fulfilling prophecy and 

might hinder campus growth and diversification of offerings.   

https://www.viu.ca/academic-plan
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“secure, appropriate, accessible, year round rental accommodation[s] and prioritize the 

development of a Powell River Housing Authority"8  

• Social Planning Research & Services 

o Implement recommendations from the Social Planning Program, in particular: 

▪ Develop an evaluation framework, which is regularly updated (ongoing) 

▪ Track ongoing progress, including financial impact (complete/ongoing) 

▪ Develop and distribute regular progress report (complete/ongoing) 

▪ Develop annual evaluation report, including up-to-date statistical information 

on social issues (ongoing) 

o Work with the Community Action Committee to improve mental health support and 

increase accessibility to treatment9 

• Childcare: Healthy early childhood development for all children   

o Implement the recommendations made in the Powell River Region-wide Childcare 

Planning Project (February 2020), in particular the recommendations that will increase 

Early Childhood Education staff availability.10 

Establish three community Led Poverty Campaign Action Teams. Campaigns take in general 2 – 3 years 

and focus on quick wins and awareness raising: 

• Ending Lone Parent and Working Poor Poverty: committee with local employers to develop 

campaigns and programs to work towards bringing the local lone-parent poverty level to 10% 

and working poor poverty level to 3% by 3030.  

• Ending Seniors Poverty: committee with senior serving organizations, such as the Powell River 

Senior Citizens Association, Seniors Community Council, Better at Home, Inclusion Powell River, 

Vancouver Coastal Health, Poverty Law and PR Assist to develop campaigns to work towards 

bringing the local seniors poverty level to 6% by 3030.  

• Ending Poverty: committee with a wide range of community members and organizations to 

develop campaigns to work towards the overall goal to reduce regional poverty level by at least 

50 % to a maximum of 9% by 2030 and increase community wellbeing, while we work towards 

ending poverty. 

• Each Campaign Action Team to develop and implement campaign plans and share with the Regional 

Social Planner to prevent any duplication. 

 

  

 
8 See Appendix B. See also Appendix A for ideas suggested by the Poverty Advisory Committee. 
9 See also Appendix A for ideas suggested by the Poverty Advisory Committee. 
10 See Appendix C. See also Appendix A for ideas suggested by the Poverty Advisory Committee 
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Potential campaign ideas, based on input provided by the Advisory Committee, Focus Groups and 

Promising Practices. Note: When Campaign Action Teams are formed, they will select and develop 1 (or 

more) short term campaigns to reduce poverty in a specific area Selected from the list below. New 

campaigns can be added. 

 

Lone parents and working poor 

• “Living Wage Inventory Campaign” of all businesses and organizations in the region that pay their 

employees a living wage and ensure they are recognized by Living Wage for Family Campaign.11 

• “Work for All Community Campaign” to support employers who hire people from vulnerable groups 

by developing and implementing strategies to promote positive reputation and financial viability. 

• “Inclusive Employment and Living Wage Employer Awards”  

• “One Small Thing Campaign” to encourage employers to do one small thing toward reducing 

poverty, e.g. 

o Take one position from part-time to full-time 

o Hire a lone-parent 

o Provide childcare to 1 employee 

o Pay a living wage. 

• “Employment Coaching Campaign”, where volunteers coach community members on job finding 

and reaching career goals  

• “Steady Work Awareness Campaign” about the impact of precarious and part time work. 

• “qathet Education and Training Scholarship Program”  

Seniors and people with disabilities 

• “Benefit Access Campaign” to ensure all seniors and people with disabilities access all benefits they 

are eligible for (e.g. GIS/OAS,  SAFER) 

• “Disability Benefits Campaign” where trained volunteers support people accessing the Disability 

Benefits Program 

 

General population 

• “Safe Place to Stay Campaign” to support van dwellers as a short-term response to the affordable 

housing shortage:  

o Dedicate a location for long term van dwellers (e.g. close to rec complex) 

o Increase access to public services (e.g. garbage, public restrooms, showers) 

• “Healthy Food and Choice Campaign” to reinvent food and goods distribution by working with the 

businesses, the foodbank and other charitable organizations  to offer people choice and dignity12. 

• “Recreation For All Campaign” to wave all recreation fees for people below the Market Basket 

Measure through a simple process. 

 
11 One of the existing objectives and actions in the Social Planning Program is related to living wage: Adult workers 

in the region earn a living wage: Organize a living wage campaign together with all major businesses and local 

governments (2022) 
12 See also https://civileats.com/2021/03/24/its-time-to-reinvent-food-banks-says-expert-katie-martin/  

https://civileats.com/2021/03/24/its-time-to-reinvent-food-banks-says-expert-katie-martin/
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• “From Asset to Income Campaign” to explore how to better use our natural resources, such as our 

Sunshine Coast Trail to generate income that can be used for social programming and education. 

• “Sharing the Wealth of our Land Campaign” promoting land sharing for food and housing. 

• “Financial Literacy Campaign”  

• “Universal Income Pilot” where randomly selected residents below the Market Basket Measure 

receive $500 per month for 24 month13 

• “Community Wellbeing Tax Exemption Campaign” where charitable organizations are exempt for 

property taxes when they provide one or more services that provide free food, clothing, 

employment to at risk groups, or community garden space. 

• “Internet for All Campaign” developing free internet throughout the qathet region 

• “Foundations of Wellness Campaign” to ensure children have financial and emotional intelligence. 

• “Poverty is not a Disease Campaign” to increase community awareness about poverty and reduce 

stigma 

  

 
13 See also https://www.stocktondemonstration.org/  

https://www.stocktondemonstration.org/
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Appendix A: Local Poverty Reduction Ideas from Poverty Reduction Advisory 

Committee 

During the June 1st meeting, Members of the Poverty Reduction Advisory Committee identified 
pathways that would help end poverty in our region. During the June 22nd and July 15th SMART (Specific, 
Measurable, Achievable, Realistic, and Timely) goals for 2 – 5 – and 10 years from now were developed 
for the following seven pathways: Affordable & Suitable Housing, Accessible Education and Training, 
Reconciliation, Affordable Childcare, Strong Local Economy, Sufficient Income and Affordable Substance 
Use and Treatment.  
 
Several ideas have already been incorporated in the recommendations of the qathet Regional Housing 
Needs Report  and the Powell River Region-wide Childcare Planning Project.  
 
Affordable & Suitable Housing 
Goals Year 2 

• Need a strategy to explore subsides connected to families to address rapidly increased/increasing 
housing costs 

• Research size of homes" regulations and Review/adjust to allow for smaller homes" 

• Housing committee to identify priority lands available for developing affordable housing 

• Set up a system to allow citizens to co-house/ share housing 

• Housing committee to develop a report on what a municipal housing authority could look like 
 
Goals Year 5 

• Planning dept. to coordinate/ incentivize construction according to the 2020 housing needs 
assessment 

• Advocate to change regulations so that anyone who wants to develop more housing on their 
property could 

 
Accessible Education& Training 
No specific years attached 

• Provide access to diverse online training - deal with access to technology and internet. Address 
technology gap. 

• Introduce financial literacy to elementary curriculum by grade 4. Continue through high school. Pass 
report to provincial levels with recommendation with the SD47 Trustees 

• Create a strategy to advocate for free post secondary 

• Elementary school - develop curriculum that better prepares children with foundations for wellness 
- financial, emotional intelligence, etc, This can be local through buddy systems, etc.. Explore other 
elementary school models of education. 

• COVID opened up Education for rural communities... how can we continue this? 

• Student loan forgiveness for those that face substance use issues????Wording could make issues for 
others.... 

• Local programs through Work BC for courses - raise awareness; lobby to make more available; 
remove barriers like age; ask front line workers what the barriers are 

• Incentive through municipality to pay for education as an investment in a future business. 
 
Goal Year 10 

• Post secondary education is free 
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Reconciliation 
Goals year 2 

• Policy development at Tla'amin and City and qathet, around reconciliation 

• Indigenous, non-indigenous, AND cross cultural community healing groups 

• Renew city to nation accord 

• Tla'amin language programs in all qathet schools not just James Thompson 

• Talking circles on reconciliation 

• Continue work within SD47 

• Education campaigns around the truth of how Canada has been set up 
 
Goals year 5 

• Visitors from the nation to schools 

• Tla'amin language programs in all qathet schools not just James Thompson 

• Training for non-indigenous staff at the Nation 

• Education, sharing, community building groups. 

• All people in our region need to understand the hyper local history in the region. 
 

 
Affordable Childcare 
Brainstorm/Vision 

• Resources: Early Years planning table and Region childcare report 

• Education -- after school care!! this is big and limits peoples' ability to work 

• Education -- providing training for the workers. so they have job and it is well paying. 

• Planning, so you can have easy access to childcare. envision childcare where people work. like 
sunshine treatment centre. 

• Neighbourhoods having local childcare. 

• Bylaws, making sure there is space avail.. licensing requirements 

• Income. well paid staff, paying people what they are worth. and affordable for parents 

• transportation so accessible for parents. 

• Food. having access to healthy food 

• Health-- child's health wellbeing. 

• Childcare- having childcare for parents who do shift work, weekends etc. Some need to work on off 
hours. CHOICE diversity of choices: licenses, unlicensed. 

 
Goals year 2 

• School district expand childcare spaces and staff. 

• Economic recovery with parents working. City could explore childcare staff. cCity will take action on 
what they have done in past two years exploring child care. Maybe city owned facilities and city 
staff. 

• City - explore childcare policy to facilitate space, choice, time of day. Work with operators 

• School District to work on childcare planning through Early Years Planning Table 

• Have stats on number of workers and number of spaces 
 
Goals year 5 

• Diversity  of operators and sectors in industry (beyond school district) 

• Pathway and funding in place for non profits in area who offer childcare (i.e. ymca style) 
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• Developed strong memberships ECEBC chapter in qathet region 
 
Goals year 10 

• Non profits in area who offer childcare (i.e. ymca style) 

• Choices/diversity in childcare: time of day, culture, pedagogy, style. 

• Everyone can access affordable childcare in qathet who wants. It meets their needs as a family 

• Unionized -well paid with rights and professional associations for childcare workers. 

• Implemented the region-wide Childcare Action Plan (10 year) 
 
Strong Local Economy 
Promising Practices 

• Increase number of social enterprises (e.g. one light) 

• Focus on getting people engaged 

• Help people get their first job 

• Clearly define our local industry (besides forestry) 

• Having residents understand where our future is and what makes community thrive 

• Ensure (free) amenities (e.g. skate parks etc.) and services (e.g. contractors) are there. 

• Better use of ALR land for farming – potentially providing food for work to people 
 
Goals year 2 

• Develop a strong vision around economic diversification and help decide what industries to focus 
on. 

• Have a strong engagement process to ensure community is onboard (but balance between 
engagement and building on ‘expert’ knowledge) 

• Apply for grants based on the vision (example: Campbell River) 

• Strong regular outreach to industries outside of the region (e.g. tech) 

• Creating sustainable tourism industry that supports high paying jobs (e.g. in managerial positions) 

• Move away from ‘only’ focus on tourism and mill town 

• Focus on wellness 
 
Goals year 5 

• Increase number of well-paying jobs 

• Education and training that supports our economy 

• Local education opportunities to keep students in town 
 
Sufficient Income 
Goals year 2 

• More bottom-up approach to community/economic design 

• Increase taxing for heave industry and large business 

• Reduced taxing/support for small and medium sized businesses 
 
Goals year 5 

• Basic Living Income. Data shows that when people aren’t trying to scrape by they start businesses, 
use less health and mental health services, volunteer more, etc. 

• Affordable post-secondary housing 

• Student loan forgiveness  
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Affordable substance use & treatment 
Promising Directions 

• Free access to safe drugs until ready for change – could be somewhere like old hospital but nice, 
maybe purchase beach gardens. Avoids people on streets, parks, stealing etc. and should bring 
down costs of medical, enforcement, etc.; Daily support, court yard music; When people are ready, 
facilities should be available. 

• Safe supply and low barrier housing  

• Community managed alcohol program 
 
Goals year 2 

• Access to community based alcohol management program 

• Access to safe supply 

• Re-entry programs – transition back to society. Community and work place! LONG TERM 

• Incentive program and supports to employers who hire (people on the road to recovery) 

• Recognition to employers – Notice on business/communication that let’s the public know we are 
giving a hand up. 

• Reduce stigma about addications. Build on what is happening. Raise awareness of how  Privileged 
people also are struggling 

• Partner with School District. Education about addictions. Normalize. 

• Reduce barriers to access servcies earlier! 
 
Goals year 5  

• Increased provincial access to free treatment beds for everyone, as well, broader range of local 
mental health and substance use programs, here at home! Spectrum – in patient and out patient 

• Affordable housing that is placed somewhere with low impact on neighbourhoods – essential for 
community to support this. 

• Affordable housing that is spacious and promotes healing – valued space 
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Appendix B: Recommendations qathet Regional Housing Needs Report 

 

From qathet Regional  Housing Needs Report, April 2021: 

https://powellriver.civicweb.net/document/101436  

 

Policy Recommendations 

 

qathet Regional District 

 

Section 5.4 projects the housing needs for the Regional District for the next 5 and 10 years and beyond. 

The following recommendations are geared to assist with filling the identified future housing needs: 

1. Housing Need Study Update – it is recommended that the qathet Region not update the Regional 

Housing Needs Study until 2023, anticipating that most of the detailed Federal Census figures will 

not be released until 2022. 

2. Housing Type Need – while homeownership is desired by some people, the extreme need is for 

safe, secure, appropriate, accessible, year round rental accommodation. 

3. Housing Needs – the following outlines the recommended housing needs to be met by 2026. 

1. qathet Electoral Area A - Based on the Scenario 1 Population Projection the housing gap for 

2026 is estimated to be 32 units. It is further recommended that 16 of these units should be for 

homeownership and 16 should be purpose built rental units and 43% (7 units) of the rental units 

should be affordable. Of these rental units, emphasis should be on smaller units (one and two 

bedroom units). 

2. qathet Electoral Area B Based on the Scenario 1 Population Projection the housing gap for 2026 

is estimated to be 31 units. It is further recommended that 16 of these units should be for 

homeownership and 15 should be purpose built rental units and 43% (7 units) of the rental units 

should be affordable. Of these rental units, emphasis should be on smaller units (one and two 

bedroom units). 

3. qathet Electoral Area C - Based on the Scenario 1 Population Projection the housing gap for 

2026 is estimated to be 22 units. It is further recommended that 11 of these units should be for 

homeownership and 11 should be purpose built rental units and 43% (5 units) of the rental units 

should be affordable. Of these rental units, emphasis should be on smaller units (one and two 

bedroom units). 

4. qathet Electoral Area D - Based on the Scenario 1 Population Projection the housing gap for 

2026 is estimated to be 47 units. It is further recommended that 24 of these units should be for 

homeownership and 23 should be purpose built rental units and 43% (11 units) of the rental 

units should be affordable. Of these rental units, emphasis should be on smaller units (one and 

two bedroom units). 

4. Utilize Housing Agreements to ensure affordable housing - The Regional District can require a 

housing agreement as a condition of approving additional residential units. This will ensure the 

housing remains affordable. 

5. Develop a process to track affordable housing units. While the OCP allows secondary suites in the 

Electoral Areas, and there is no zoning bylaw or development permit process to track those units. 

https://powellriver.civicweb.net/document/101436
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The qathet Regional District can have a septic covenant registered on title which will provide some 

information. However, there is no means to track if these are affordable. The qathet Regional 

District could also develop an incentive program for reporting, which could include a tax credit. 

6. Promote Public Information on Homeowners Grants for home modifications to allow aging in 

place – the Regional District can act as a liaison between the residents and the government agencies 

to apply for the grants to modify the homes (grab bars, ramps, lifts, widen doorways, lower counters 

etc.) to allow the residents to remain in the community and age in place. 

7. Support efforts of affordable housing non-profits like the Texada Island Non-Profit Seniors 

Housing Society – dedicate some staff time to assist with the planning of the Texada affordable 

housing project including, assisting with rezoning, application preparation, dialogue with BC 

housing, engaging the community and consideration of reducing or waiving application fees. 

8. Consider the potential for an affordable housing project in Lund – the OCP supports higher 

residential density in Lund, and while this might not be a short term goal, should the qathet Regional 

District identify a parcel of land that could be donated, and a community organization that would 

champion a project, Lund would be a suitable location for a moderately sized seniors’ affordable 

housing project. 

9. Approach Habitat for Humanity to identify a family and a housing project – because 

homeownership is a challenge for people, Habitat for Humanity provides an opportunity to build a 

home for a specific family to own. This requires “sweat equity” and a parcel of land. If a larger parcel 

of land would to be donated, or a municipal parcel of land was available for a $1 a year lease, the 

Regional District could champion a small development of up to 4 homes to be constructed by 

Habitat for Humanity. The potential resident/owners would apply and be vetted and have the 

opportunity to own an affordable home. 

10. Support the development of Housing Co-ops – housing co-ops provide an affordable 

homeownership option. Housing co-ops are private developments, however it is recommended that 

the Regional District indicate general support in principle. 

11. Continue to allow secondary suites in single family dwellings. 

 

City of Powell River 

 

This Housing Needs Assessment projects that between 13,322 and 14,663 people will live in the City of 

Powell River in 2026. Using the average household size of 2.0 people, this equates to a range of 6,661 to 

7,331 total housing units required to accommodate the population by 2026. Sections 6.4 and 6.5 of this 

report describe the number of net new units required, with specific price points, number of bedrooms, 

and accessibility design requirements to be met. The gap analysis shows that while homeownership is 

desired by some people, the extreme need is for safe, secure, appropriate, accessible year round rental 

accommodation. 

It is noted that the recommendations may create capacity issues for the City in terms of staffing 

requirements to assist the not-for-profit organizations, assess city land for potential affordable housing 

sites and working with developers to create housing agreements to provide more affordable housing 

units. However, it is also noted that the City currently is acting on many of these recommendations. 
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The following recommendations are provided to assist the City in closing the housing gap: 

1. Consider establishing a Powell River Housing Authority – A Housing Authority could work with not 

for profit organizations and BC Housing to lead the development, allocation and management of 

affordable housing in the City. 

2. Review opportunities to provide City-owned land for affordable housing in alignment with the 

City Lands Strategy and complete feasibility studies for the top sites – Affordable housing rarely is 

possible if the land must be purchased at market price. The City of Powell River has several 

properties that have been assessed as suitable for affordable housing. It is recommended that: 

a. The City find a partner to champion the development; 

b. Development be planned in phases; 

c. The land be leased for $1 per year for a minimum of 25 years; 

d. BC Housing participate in or fund the project; 

e. The City offer assistance to the not-for-profit champion to facilitate approvals; 

f. The City assist with managing the project; and 

g. The City develop the housing agreements. 

3. Amend the Sustainable Official Community Plan and the Zoning Bylaw to permit more residential 

development for mid-to-high rise developments – The City of Powell River should consider 

adjusting its Official Community Plan and Zoning Bylaw to allow more mid-rise and high-rise 

developments. This will help to provide a greater mix of housing types and more affordable options 

to the market. Higher density housing should be located along transit corridors and at key growth 

nodes to direct the majority of rental development to areas that can best accommodate higher 

density development. 

4. Incentivize Market Rental Housing Developments – The City of Powell River should provide 

incentives to market housing developers to ensure that they are financially interested in rental 

projects and will provide affordable units. This can come in the form of reducing or waiving 

application fees for all affordable rental developments (see also: Recommendation 9). Rental 

developments requiring rezoning or OCP amendments could also be fast-tracked through updates to 

the Development Procedures Bylaw. The City could consider pre-zoning or waiving public hearing 

requirements for affordable housing. Division 3, Section 464 (2) of the Local Government Act allows 

the development to be approved without a public hearing for the zoning bylaw amendment.14 This 

may encourage developers to build projects with an affordable housing component. The City already 

offers a number of incentives for infill development, such as carriage houses and secondary suites, 

such as low application fees and no development cost charges required. 

5. Secure affordable housing units with Housing Agreements – To ensure that affordable units remain 

affordable, the City should continue to pursue Housing Agreements with the developer/owner of 

rental developments to protect the units and the tenants from eviction and raised rents. Housing 

agreements can set out the length of time units are to remain rental units, set rental rates, and set 

target tenants for the units (i.e. seniors’ housing). Tenant protections can be further augmented 

 
14 Local Government Act, Division 3, Public Hearings on Planning and Land Use Bylaws. The Act stipulates that 

(454(2)) A local government may waive the holding of a public hearing on a proposed zoning bylaw if (a) an official 

community plan is in effect for the area that is subject to the zoning bylaw, and (b) the bylaw is consistent with the 

official community plan. 
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with the development of a Tenancy Assistance Policy that applies at rezoning and/or tenancy 

protections in the business licence bylaw. Maintaining the quality of the rental stock can also be 

achieved through the development of a rental property maintenance standard bylaw. 

6. Develop a Community Amenity Contribution Policy – Municipalities may identify what constitutes a 

community amenity, such as parks, childcare, and housing. The City could develop a Community 

Amenity Contribution Policy to establish what the City considers to be an amenity and to identify 

various ways developers can contribute towards affordable housing as an amenity. Council may also 

want to consider other regular contributions to the Affordable Housing Reserve Fund that are not 

linked to development, such as planned contributions from the budget. 

7. Consider exploring density bonusing or inclusionary zoning – Inclusionary zoning can require that 

new developments include a certain percentage of new affordable housing units offered within a 

development are provided at below-market or near-market rates. Density bonusing would function 

the same way.15 For example, if the zoning allows 40 units, and the developer is willing to secure 10 

as affordable, the density may be increased to 60 units. 

8. Explore British Columbia’s residential rental tenure zoning legislation – The new tool in the Local 

Government Act allows municipalities to enact zoning requiring new housing in residential areas to 

be rental-only, ensure they are preserved as such, and demand that a certain number of units in a 

new development be rental. 

9. Consider a policy regarding city fees for the development of affordable housing projects – Waiving 

or reducing application fees, community amenity contribution fees, and development cost charges 

can incentivize affordable housing developments. The City already provides a 100% exemption from 

development cost charges. The City’s practice is also to eliminate the need for Community Amenity 

Contributions for affordable housing projects. The City could also consider waiving application fees 

for affordable housing developments. 

10. Continue to relax standards for affordable housing projects, such as reducing parking 

requirements – The City already relaxes Zoning Bylaw parking requirements for affordable housing 

projects on a case-by-case basis. Other infrastructure requirements could be explored where 

suitable. 

11. Continue to provide technical assistance through the development application process – In 

addition to the customer service provided for all developer and development applications, provide 

staff time to assist not-for-profit organizations in working through their application and rezoning 

process. Staff can advise the provider on the process, the requirements, the timing and the 

background work in addition to guiding them through the public consultation phase. The City could 

consider updating the Development Procedures Bylaw to ensure this technical assistance is provided 

to not-for-profit applicants. The City can also convene conversations in the community about 

cooperative housing, co-housing, and community land trusts to encourage community members to 

participate in their development. 

12. Use available affordable housing programs and funding – Through BC Housing, CMHC, Habitat for 

Humanity, and other not-for-profit organizations, there are programs to fund construction, repairs, 

 
15 The standard Floor Area Ratio for residential development in the City of Vancouver is 3.0. However, if a 

developer agrees to provide one third of the rental units for affordable housing, and signs a housing agreement 

with the City, the Floor Area Ratio can be increased to 7.0. 
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upgrades and modifications. For example, BC Housing offers an Affordable Homeownership Program 

and many other programs are available through BC Housing and CMHC. The City can champion and 

coordinate these efforts. Attention should be paid to the development of affordable rental housing 

as well as year-round emergency beds, respite housing for women and families, and transitional 

housing. 

13. Communicate housing needs and successes – Staff should communicate the findings of the housing 

needs assessment to the development, real estate, and construction communities. Additionally, the 

city can share success stories for owner-developed infill development to encourage more of the 

same. 

14. Update procedures to monitor housing progress – In completing this first Housing Needs 

Assessment, staff should adjust internal procedures and data management processes to both 

measure progress against the housing targets and facilitate data collection for the next Housing 

Needs Assessment. 

15. Housing Needs Assessment Update – It is recommended that the Regional Housing Needs 

Assessment not be updated until 2023, anticipating that most of the detailed Federal Census figures 

will not be released until 2022. The Housing Needs Assessment should be updated by 2026. 

 

Tla’amin Nation 

 

It is projected that there will be between 924 and 1,251 Tla’amin Members by the year 2026. It is 

projected that the household size will reduce slightly to 3.0 person per household. This will then require 

between 308 and 417 housing units. This is an increase of 76 and 185 housing units in the 5 year time 

frame, in addition to the 160 existing housing units in need of major repair or renovation. In addition, 

these housing units should fill the needs of the members and include: between 103 and 144 one 

bedroom units, between 134 and 187 two bedroom units and between 66 and 86 three bedroom and 

larger units. It is possible that some of this housing could be purpose built seniors/elders lodges and 

multi-family housing. 

1. Housing Type Need – while homeownership is desired by some people, the extreme need is for 

safe, secure, appropriate, accessible, year round rental accommodation. 

2. Develop and Service Lots – based on the Comprehensive Community Plan and Land Use Plan, clearly 

identify land for future housing development, protect the land from any other uses, develop a 

strategy for servicing these lands and strategize as to how to access the funding to service the lands. 

3. Consider Developing Housing In The City Of Powell River – while people want to live in their 

community, the lack of serviced land is a limiting factor. There may be advantages to building or 

buying housing in the City to house members unit there is housing available in the community. This 

could take the form of a BC housing supportive housing, or an outright purchase of an existing 

residential  building. This may include the “Airport Lands”. 

5. Plan For The Long Term Housing Demand – given that the potential exists for the need for up to 185 

new housing units, the Nation would be advised to take a broader view of housing. Single detached 

housing is not a cost effective way of providing this many housing units. The Nation should consider 

the total housing need, the size of the units required and the long term benefit of housing people in 

a safe and healthy manner. Multi-family housing may be the solution to the overall housing needs. 
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Row housing and apartment housing can meet many needs. If this housing is available, people can 

be moved out of the housing that requires major renovation and ultimately the single detached 

house, after renovation, may be provided to a larger family and provide more appropriate housing 

for all involved. 

6. Survey The Members Living Outside Of The Community – the Community Housing Needs Survey 

provided some information regarding members and their desire to move home. However, a more 

detailed survey by the Nation specifically to determine how many of their members would move 

home if there was housing would provide a better idea of what the actual housing demand would 

be. Not every member will want to move home due to current employment, education, or existing 

housing situation. 

7. Continue to Nurture Intergovernmental Relationships – Tla’amin is a newly formed self- governing 

jurisdiction. The Nation has been developing excellent relations with adjacent governments, which 

will form strong alliances for the long term provision of needed housing in the Region. 

8. Develop Policies Regarding Third Party Development – if there are lands that could potentially be 

developed by third party developers (either Nation land, CP land or Treaty Land Entitlement) there 

must be clear policies for developer so that they understand their role, their responsibilities and the 

financial commitment required. The concept of developers providing a community amenity 

contribution is common is municipalities. Generally in a municipality, the developer provides 5% of 

the land in value or land for the municipality to use for recreation and then there are other 

contributions which can vary to include cash per housing unit, or a percentage of the construction 

cost. This amenity money is used for a variety of community benefits, and some of the municipalities 

accept affordable housing units. This is often the dedication of units within a market multi-family 

building, but could also be a financial contribution to the construction of units on the Nation lands. 

This would apply to residential, commercial and industrial development. Some First Nations take, 

along with a hefty application fee, 5% of the gross construction costs. 

9. Identify a Habitat for Humanity Project – Tla’amin Nation to continue the communication with 

Habitat for Humanity for one or more projects on Nation land. This may include: providing one or 

more lots, vetting the families for consideration, and providing financial and administrative support. 

10. Identify a Project with BC Housing – BC Housing has funding for indigenous housing both on and off 

reserve. With the current housing needs, Tla’amin members would benefit from a multi-unit project 

either in the Community or in Powell River. 
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Appendix C: Recommendations Powell River Region-wide Childcare Planning 

Project 

 

From Powel River Region-wide Childcare Planning Project (February, 2020)  

https://powellriver.civicweb.net/document/87533  

 

Aim: By 2030 have an addition of 921 qualified childcare spaces and roughly 131 additional ECEs in the 

region (with a 1% increase every year) 

General recommendations: 

• Make the Region-Wide Childcare Plan a standing item on both the Social Action Planning Advisory 

Committee (SAPAC) and Early Years Planning Table (EYPT) 

• Continue with the Childcare Planning Advisory Committee and provide compensation for time 

• Amend bylaws: 

• City of Powell River Zoning Bylaw 2100, 2006 (specifically Part 2: Definitions and Part 7: Home-

Based Business Regulation): 

o Consider the creation of a childcare permitted use in residential and institutional zones 

that better reflects the Provincial mandate 

o Review of restrictions and requirements of childcare uses as home-based businesses, 

including: number of employees, customers, use of square footage, traffic or parking, and 

building and fire inspection 

o Number of children permitted in childcare is not updated to the Province’s legislation 

o Review parking requirements in relationship to curbside management in the Traffic Bylaw 

for regulations that may inadvertently limit childcare and/or cause conflicts in residential 

areas. 

o Review the Institutional Zone in terms of permitted uses to ensure that childcare is 

permitted near schools and other institutions. 

o Review community amenity contribution policies as they relate to the creation of new 

childcare spaces. 

• City of Powell River Business Licence Bylaw 2226, 2010: 

o Review Business License Bylaw for specific regulations for childcare facilities in homes, 

such as frequency of inspections, business license renewals, home-based business 

requirements as they pertain to secondary suites, and other potential opportunities and 

challenges. 

o Currently home-based licenses for existing childcare facilities have rollover renewals (the 

applicant does not need to re-apply each year). There is the possibility that exceptions to 

Home-Based Business regulations to facilitate childcare centers have been made in the 

past, which has created inconsistencies between historical and newly licensed operators. 

Auditing these and reviewing the process for license renewal is an opportunity.  

• Additional recommendations for local bylaw review include thorough examination of the 

following policies for meaningful consideration of childcare planning, and ensuring they are in 

line with provincial regulations: 

o City of Powell River Sustainable Official Community Plan Bylaw 2370, 2014 (specifically 

sections 6.3.2 Youth, 

o Family & Special Needs Policies, 8.1.2 Economic Development Policies) 

o Powell River’s 2015 Integrated Community Sustainability Plan (ICSP), specifically Strategy 

Area: Our Economy, Strategic Direction 1 

https://powellriver.civicweb.net/document/87533
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o Electoral Area A Official Community Plan, Bylaw No. 500, 2015 

o Savary Island Official Community Plan, Bylaw No. 403, 2006 

o Electoral Area B Official Community Plan, Bylaw No. 465, 2012 

o Electoral Area C Official Community Plan, Bylaw No. 467, 2012 

o Texada Island Official Community Plan, Bylaw No. 395, 2005 – updated Bylaw at second 

reading: Texada Island Official Community Plan Bylaw No. 551, 2019 (Not currently 

adopted) 

Phased plan 

2020-2021: Project launch and quick gains 

Expectations/hopes: 

• 14 new ECEC graduates from VIU 

• 75 new spaces at Tla’amin CDRC 

• By-laws amended to remove barriers for creation of new spaces 

• Networking and professional development support for ECEs and other formal and informal childcare 

providers offered locally 

• Ready-to-launch childcare plan initiated (including: 1) New Spaces funding application submitted, 2) 

fair wages negotiated for childcare providers, and 3) Work BC grant obtained to support a new 

cohort of ECEC students at VIU). 

 

Local Strategies, led by Social Planner: 

• Implement “ready-to-launch regionwide childcare plan”: 

o Apply for provincial new space funding 

o Negotiate competitive wages for qualified providers 

o Fund a new cohort of ECE workers  

See Section one of the report for a full description. 

• Adjust by-laws as per specific recommendations (see above) to remove barriers for home-based 

childcare operators and expedite permits for opening new spaces. 

• Apply for MCFD’s New Spaces grant for a region-wide childcare co-operative, base on promising 

practices outlined in Appendix F. Identify locations for new facilities, based on community 

engagement findings in this report (near schools, hospital, and seniors’ housing, as well as in the 

more remote areas of the qRD). See Appendix B for concrete recommendations from focus groups. 

Finalize decisions around infrastructure for new childcare spaces (including sizes of each unit in 

order to work towards target number of new spaces). 

• Draw from Newfoundland’s experience with co-operative childcare (Appendix F) and related 

documents, and pursue partnership with First Credit Union, Club Bon Accueil, and other non-profit 

or community-based organizations. Explore possibility of purchasing modular units to implement a 

networked approach for a regionwide childcare co-operative (rather than single facility). UBC has 

used them, and company information may be accessible from them: 

https://planning.ubc.ca/vancouver/projectsconsultations/under-construction/academic-

lands/acadia-modular-childcare )  

https://planning.ubc.ca/vancouver/projectsconsultations/under-construction/academic-lands/acadia-modular-childcare
https://planning.ubc.ca/vancouver/projectsconsultations/under-construction/academic-lands/acadia-modular-childcare
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• All three local governments and SAPAC each write the Minister of Children and Family Development 

and Minster of the State for Childcare to advocate the implementation of the $10 a day childcare 

plan. 

• Acquire funding to maintain the CPAC, providing childcare and honoraria for members’ 

participation. 

• Continue circulating petition to federal government (Appendix E). Consider shifting to online 

petition, with support from Rachel Blaney’s office, or by visiting: www.petitions.commons.ca 

• Follow up on key points in correspondence with provincial government (Appendix D), with the 

addition of better supporting parents to care for their own children – supporting choice for families 

and reducing the demand on out-of-home childcare providers. 

• Advocate for more accessible supports for children with special needs and childcare subsidies – 

whether in-home or out-of-home care is needed. 

• Advocate an ongoing annual intake of ECEC students at VIU (with specialization options), in order  

tosupport the development of a growing workforce in the qRD. 

• CCRR to continue the collaboration with childcare providers that began with the focus group. Build 

in local support and professional development for workers as well as informal childcare providers. 

• Support and draw from implementation of EYPT strategic plan (parenting and education, community 

data and feedback, quality childcare) (Early Years Planning Table, 2018).  

 

2022-2026: Increased quality childcare options 

Expectations/hopes: 

• ECE wage subsidies will have increased to at least $2/hr and tuition bursaries continue 

• VIU will have a new cohort of ECEC students 

• In-community professional development and networking that aligns with what ECEs need and want 

will be regularly offered through CCRR  

• Graduates of the ECEC program will be hired locally and/or open in-home childcare in the region 

• Five to eight new facilities will be opened throughout the region 

• Parents/guardians continue to be supported through EYPT and related childcare planning advocacy 

efforts 

 

Local strategies, led by Social Planner: 

• Formalize partnerships for a regionwide networked childcare co-operative 

• Explore possibilities for centralizing administration - offering varied hours of operation, sharing 

substitute workers, etc. 

• Develop business plan (with diverse funding sources for operations) and by-laws, drawing from 

resources shared by Newfoundland’s Growing our Future Childcare Co-operative. 

• Approach provincial government – with support from three local governments as well as MLA and 

MP – with a strong proposal for provincial support of this as a universal childcare pilot project for 

the qRD. 

• Launch the opening of new facilities one at a time, actively recruiting quality workforce in the 

process 
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• Continue offering professional development and networking opportunities to childcare providers. 

• Continue advocating for ECE offerings in Powell River through VIU. 

• Continue advocating provincially and federally, as above, to support affordability, accessibility, 

quality, and choice in childcare – including support for parents/guardians who choose to care for 

their own children 

• Continue advocating for more accessible supports for children with special needs and childcare 

subsidies – whether in-home or out-of-home care is needed. 

• Continue supporting and drawing from implementation of EYPT strategic plan (parenting support 

and education, community data and feedback, quality childcare) 

 

2027-2030: Universal childcare for the qRD 

Expectations/hopes: 

• Five to eight new facilities (of varying sizes with varying hours of operation) will have opened in the 

qRD, through a co-operative model 

• VIU continues to offer ECEC program in Powell River 

• The $10 a day child care plan will have been implemented in more parts of BC, and (possibly) the 

qRD has been supported as a pilot site 

• Parents/guardians continue to be supported through EYPT and related childcare planning advocacy 

efforts 

 

Local strategies, led by Social Planner:  

• Work with local businesses, non-profits, and schools to bring quality childcare in-house. Explore 

partnering with the Chamber of Commerce, SD93, and SD47 to facilitate this, and co-ordinate efforts 

among these as part of a networked region-wide approach.  

• Seek funding to support the launch of new quality childcare centers in places of work and/or 

learning (such as https://www.communityfoundations.ca/initiatives/theinvestment- 

• readiness-fund/). 

• Work collaboratively with CUPE and BCGEU to explore possibilities for ECEs to join unions. 

 

 

 



 

 

.  

Workshop Notes  

 
M e e t i n g :  

Poverty Reduction Advisory Committee, Workshop 1: Current situation and 
Community Assets 

 

D a t e :  June 22 and July 15 (Catch-up meeting), 2021 

 

L o c a t i o n :  Zoom 

 
A t t e n d e e s :  

• Poverty Reduction Advisory Committee – See Appendix A 

• Project Team: Kai Okazaki, Social Planner, representing City of Powell River, 
qathet Regional District and Tla’amin Nation; Stuart Clark, Lift Community 
Services; Tara Chernoff and Caitlin Bryant, First Credit Union,  

• Alof!i Consultancy: April Treakle, Alison Taplay, Nola Poirier, Christien Kaaij 

 
 

On Tuesday June 22, 2021, members from the Poverty Reduction Advisory Committee and Project 
Team came together for the third of five workshops to develop the qathet Region Poverty Reduction 
Strategy. The workshop was conducted via Zoom and Mural and focused on finalizing the vision for 
the region and setting goals. This document provides a summary of the results.  
 
As none of the representatives of the business community and health were able to attend, a catch-
up meeting was held on July 15th to gather their input. The results are integrated in this document. 

Welcome and Introductions 
After acknowledgement that most of us work and live on the traditional and treaty lands of the 
Tla’amin Nation, Kai welcomed everyone and reminded the group of the ultimate aim of this 
project: Poverty eradication in the region.  He provided and reviewed the timeline for the 
development of the poverty reduction strategy: 
• Workshop 1 – April 27: Current situation & Assets (complete) 
• Workshop 2 – June 1: Assets, Gaps & Vision (complete) 
• Workshop 3 – June 22: Goals & Actions (today’s workshop)  
• Workshop 4 - August 24: Accountability 
• Workshop 5 – September 21: Strategy 
 
Christien briefly reviewed what was discussed at the previous workshop and highlighted the goals of 
this meeting: 

• Finalizing the Vision (not included in the July 15th meeting) 

• Setting our region’s goals to end poverty and explore actions 

The group reviewed and agreed to the working assumptions and a brief poll was taken. The poll 
asked participants “Which of these biases about poverty might impact your decision making?” 
Most people (65 %) selected “Wellbeing is about making the right choices”, followed by “People 
with a higher education don’t experience poverty (35%) and “If you work hard enough you don’t 
experience poverty (30%). See Appendix B for all the poll results.  
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Several participants indicated that their biases were not reflected, and some people provided their 
thoughts on the topic. One participant mentioned that they believe the system is designed in a way 
to keep people in poverty; one participant one participant indicated to believe that most people are 
one paycheque away from poverty; and one mentioned that their bias is that people who have 
wealth/money don't care about poverty or community in a holistic sense. 
 
After the poll, participants moved into breakout rooms of 2 – 3 people where they took turns 
answering these questions: 
Who are you, and what brings you to this work? 
What have you learned about poverty in our region and what do you feel others should know? 
 

Our Vision 
 
During the previous meeting it became clear that, when thinking about our community without 
poverty, we see a vibrant, thriving inclusive community where people are well, have a sense of 
belonging, and are fully engaged and integrated. Based on that, the following draft vision was 
proposed:  

A community without poverty, where everyone thrives 
 
A community where everyone thrives is the vision that is stated in the regional Social Planning 
Program. The group was unanimous that the two statements should be reveres. The vision is to have 
everyone thrive.  Poverty elimination is one of the things that contribute to thriving. Poverty and 
thriving can coexist, but no-one should have to live in poverty.  
It was mentioned that a common understanding should be developed about what thriving entails 
and that poverty will have to be defined, as there are many different types of poverty, incl. cultural 
poverty. It was also mentioned that the vision should lead to a society where policies are in harmony 
and not hindering poverty alleviation. 
 

 

OUR VISION: 
 

A community where everyone thrives, and no one lives in poverty. 
 
 

Note: Participated of the July 15th catch-up meeting did not have the opportunity to provide 
feedback on the vision. 
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Our Targets 
 
Both the June 22nd and the July 15th groups were asked in a poll “Which demographics & Statistics 
should we focus on to have the biggest impact?”.   
 
The following top three demographics where chosen. 

• 50% of adults and more than 60% of children in lone parent families are low income 

• 47.1% of lone-parent families are low income 

• 100% of teens living independently experience poverty 

The following top three statistics from the survey were chosen. 

• 72% of respondents who identified as lone-parents identified facing challenges meeting 

their or their family’s needs each month 

• 54% of respondents living alone identified facing challenges meeting their needs each 

month 

• 37.7% of all respondents are facing challenges meeting their own or their family’s needs 

each month. 

While the low-income measure takes basic household expenses into account it was recognized that 
low income (or poverty) is not the only indicator if people are thriving. The 10-point Thriving-
Surviving scale could be an indicator, however, thriving should most likely be better defined.  
It was recognized that all demographics and statistics are closely related, and it is expected that 
changes in one will cause changes in other. See Appendix C for all the results. 
 
Based on this selection, it is clear that the group would like to focus on lone parents, and those 
living alone – including teens. 
 
After some dialogue, the group mentioned a goal to strive for a 90% improvement of all statistics in 
10 years and a 50% improvement in 5 years. However, some questioned the feasibility of this 
timeline and suggested to look at Canadian or BC statistics to make sure we are on par with those 
stats first. 
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Our Pathways 
 
During the last meeting, several pathways to end poverty were identified: 
 

• Strong Local Economy 

• Sufficient Income 

• Affordable and Suitable Housing 

• Accessible Substance Use & Treatment 

• Accessible Education & Training 

• Strong Neighbourhoods 

• Accessible Transportation 

• Reconciliation 

• Affordable Childcare 

• Affordable & Healthy Foods for All 

Participants were asked which pathway they would like to work on today and/or be on a working 
group for (see Appendix D for an overview). Appendix E provides a full overview of the ideas for 
each pathway brought forward during the vison exercise during the June 1st workshop. 
 
Seven pathways were selected to work on today: Affordable & Suitable Housing, Accessible 
Education and Training, Reconciliation, Affordable Childcare, Strong Local Economy, Sufficient 
Income and Affordable Substance Use and Treatment. Participants were asked to develop for the 
pathways SMART (Specific, Measurable, Achievable, Realistic, and Timely) goals for 2 – 5 – and 10 
years from now. 
 
Affordable & Suitable Housing 
Goals Year 2 

• Need a strategy to explore subsides connected to families to address rapidly 
increased/increasing housing costs 

• Research size of homes" regulations and Review/adjust to allow for smaller homes" 

• Housing committee to identify priority lands available for developing affordable housing 

• Set up a system to allow citizens to co-house/ share housing 

• Housing committee to develop a report on what a municipal housing authority could look like 

Goals Year 5 

• Planning dept. to coordinate/ incentivize construction according to the 2020 housing needs 
assessment 

• Advocate to change regulations so that anyone who wants to develop more housing on their 
property could 

 
Accessible Education& Training 
No specific years attached 

• Provide access to diverse online training - deal with access to technology and internet. Address 
technology gap. 

• Introduce financial literacy to elementary curriculum by grade 4. Continue through high school. 
Pass report to provincial levels with recommendation with the SD47 Trustees 

• Create a strategy to advocate for free post secondary 

• Elementary school - develop curriculum that better prepares children with foundations for 
wellness - financial, emotional intelligence, etc, This can be local through buddy systems, etc.. 
Explore other elementary school models of education. 
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• COVID opened up Education for rural communities... how can we continue this? 

• Student loan forgiveness for those that face substance use issues????Wording could make 
issues for others.... 

• Local programs through Work BC for courses - raise awareness; lobby to make more available; 
remove barriers like age; ask front line workers what the barriers are 

• Incentive through municipality to pay for education as an investment in a future business. 

Goal Year 10 

• Post secondary education is free 

 
Reconciliation 
Goals year 2 

• Policy development at Tla'amin and City and qathet, around reconciliation 

• Indigenous, non-indigenous, AND cross cultural community healing groups 

• Renew city to nation accord 

• Tla'amin language programs in all qathet schools not just James Thompson 

• Talking circles on reconciliation 

• Continue work within SD47 

• Education campaigns around the truth of how Canada has been set up 

Goals year 5 

• Visitors from the nation to schools 

• Tla'amin language programs in all qathet schools not just James Thompson 

• Training for non-indigenous staff at the Nation 

• Education, sharing, community building groups. 

• All people in our region need to understand the hyper local history in the region. 

 

Affordable Childcare 
Brainstorm/Vision 

• Resources: Early Years planning table and Region childcare report 

• Education -- after school care!! this is big and limits peoples' ability to work 

• Education -- providing training for the workers. so they have job and it is well paying. 

• Planning, so you can have easy access to childcare. envision childcare where people work. like 
sunshine treatment centre. 

• Neighbourhoods having local childcare. 

• Bylaws, making sure there is space avail.. licensing requirements 

• Income. well paid staff, paying people what they are worth. and affordable for parents 

• transportation so accessible for parents. 

• Food. having access to healthy food 

• Health-- child's health wellbeing. 

• Childcare- having childcare for parents who do shift work, weekends etc. Some need to work on 
off hours. CHOICE diversity of choices: licenses, unlicensed. 

Goals year 2 

• School district expand childcare spaces and staff. 
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• Economic recovery with parents working. City could explore childcare staff. cCity will take action 
on what they have done in past two years exploring child care. Maybe city owned facilities and 
city staff. 

• City - explore childcare policy to facilitate space, choice, time of day. Work with operators 

• School District to work on childcare planning through Early Years Planning Table 

• Have stats on number of workers and number of spaces 

Goals year 5 

• Diversity  of operators and sectors in industry (beyond school district) 

• Pathway and funding in place for non profits in area who offer childcare (i.e. ymca style) 

• Developed strong memberships ECEBC chapter in qathet region 

Goals year 10 

• Non profits in area who offer childcare (i.e. ymca style) 

• Choices/diversity in childcare: time of day, culture, pedagogy, style. 

• Everyone can access affordable childcare in qathet who wants. It meets their needs as a family 

• Unionized -well paid with rights and professional associations for childcare workers. 

• Implemented the region-wide Childcare Action Plan (10 year) 

 
Strong Local Economy 
Promising Practices 

• Increase number of social enterprises (e.g. one light) 

• Focus on getting people engaged 

• Help people get their first job 

• Clearly define our local industry (besides forestry) 

• Having residents understand where our future is and what makes community thrive 

• Ensure (free) amenities (e.g. skate parks etc.) and services (e.g. contractors) are there. 

• Better use of ALR land for farming – potentially providing food for work to people 

 
Goals year 2 

• Develop a strong vision around economic diversification and help decide what industries to 
focus on. 

• Have a strong engagement process to ensure community is onboard (but balance between 
engagement and building on ‘expert’ knowledge) 

• Apply for grants based on the vision (example: Campbell River) 

• Strong regular outreach to industries outside of the region (e.g. tech) 

• Creating sustainable tourism industry that supports high paying jobs (e.g. in managerial 
positions) 

• Move away from ‘only’ focus on tourism and mill town 

• Focus on wellness 

 
Goals year 5 

• Increase number of well-paying jobs 
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• Education and training that supports our economy 

• Local education opportunities to keep students in town 

 
Sufficient Income 
Goals year 2 

• More bottom-up approach to community/economic design 

• Increase taxing for heave industry and large business 

• Reduced taxing/support for small and medium sized businesses 

 
Goals year 5 

• Basic Living Income. Data shows that when people aren’t trying to scrape by they start 
businesses, use less health and mental health services, volunteer more, etc. 

• Affordable post-secondary housing 

• Student loan forgiveness 

 
Affordable substance use & treatment 
Promising Directions 

• Free access to safe drugs until ready for change – could be somewhere like old hospital but nice, 
maybe purchase beach gardens. Avoids people on streets, parks, stealing etc. and should bring 
down costs of medical, enforcement, etc.; Daily support, court yard music; When people are 
ready, facilities should be available. 

• Safe supply and low barrier housing  

• Community managed alcohol program 

 
Goals year 2 

• Access to community based alcohol management program 

• Access to safe supply 

• Re-entry programs – transition back to society. Community and work place! LONG TERM 

• Incentive program and supports to employers who hire (people on the road to recovery) 

• Recognition to employers – Notice on business/communication that let’s the public know we are 
giving a hand up. 

• Reduce stigma about addications. Build on what is happening. Raise awareness of how  
Privileged people also are struggling 

• Partner with School District. Education about addictions. Normalize. 

• Reduce barriers to access servcies earlier! 

 
Goals year 5  

• Increased provincial access to free treatment beds for everyone, as well, broader range of local 
mental health and substance use programs, here at home! Spectrum – in patient and out patient 

• Affordable housing that is placed somewhere with low impact on neighbourhoods – essential for 
community to support this. 

• Affordable housing that is spacious and promotes healing – valued space 
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Next Steps 
As per members request the meeting on August 24 will be via zoom. The meeting will focus on 
accountability. At the meeting, the focus group results will be presented, and goals will be finalized. 
 
While many Advisory Committee members indicated ability and willingness to work over the 
summer to further develop some of the pathways, the project team made the decision to convene 
working groups in the fall. 
 
For the coming months, the next steps will be: 

• Distribution of the results of the Focus Groups 

• Writing of draft strategy 

• Next meeting: August 24th. 
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Appendix A: List of Advisory Committee Members 
Losa  Luaifoa Elected official Tla'amin Nation - community services 

Rob Hill Represents MLA Nicolas Simons, SD47 Schoolboard trustee 

Julie Jenkins Powell River & District United Way 

Cindy  Elliot City of Powell River Councillor 

Maggie Hathaway City of Powell River Councillor – Had to step out for the visioning portion 

Clay Brander Area D Director 

Terry Hollo Standing in for Sandy McCormick Area C Director 

Kathryn Colby Manager Community Development, Lift Community Services 

Ann Kurtz PR Transition House Society and PR Community Services Assoc 

Leanne Kerntopf Brain Injury Society and foodbank 

Lilla Tipton Inclusion Powell River Society, CEO Disability/Community Support 

Jaclyn Miller Ministry of Children and Family Development; and School Board trustee 

Julie  Jensen interim VIU Campus Administrator 

Melissa Sibbald Expert 

Dan  Snell Expert 

Adeline  August Expert from Tla'amin 

Lisa Wilson Expert from Tla’amin 

 
Catch-up meeting: 

Dave  Formosa Local business owner and Mayor 

Sarah McClean Local Business owner  

Steve Brooks Local Business owner 

Tim Ladner Local Business owner 

Rebecca Withers Mental Health, FNH 

Mary J. White United Church 

   

 Regrets: 

Jay Yule Superintendent  

Telis Savvaidis Local Business owner and President Chamber of Commerce 

Pattie Torgersen Manager Mental Health, Vancouver Coastal Health 

John Hackett Hegus, Chief Tla'amin Nation 

Sandy McCormick Area C Director 
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Appendix B: Poll Results 
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Appendix C: Our targets: Demographics and Statistics to focus on 
 
1. Which three (3) demographics should we focus on to have the biggest impact? 

June 22, 2021 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

July 15, 2021 
 

 
 
One participant in the July 15th meeting was not included in the vote. They voted that we should 
focus on 47.1% of lone-parent families are low income; and 25% of children experience poverty. 
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June 22, 2021 
 
2. Which three (3) statistics from our survey should we focus on to have the biggest impact? 
 

 
 
July 15, 2021 
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Appendix D: Advisory Committee Member’s interests to work on 
pathways 
 
Names in bold indicates the people that worked on the pathway during the workshop. 
 

Pathways Advisory Members who want to be 
involved/on a working group 

Organizations that should be 
informed (and involved) 

Strong Local Economy Steve, Sarah, Tim, Tara, Maggie Business Community (Chamber 
etc.) 

Sufficient Income Mary, Caitlin, Ann, Stu, Julie Jenkins 
 

Affordable and Suitable 
Housing 

Maggie, Lilla, Leanne, Stu, Terry, 
Cindy, Alison, Julie Jensen, Sandy, 
Melissa, Addie 

Development, Municipality, 
Texada Non Profit Senior Housing 
Society, Lift, Life Cycle Housing, 
BC Housing 

Accessible Substance Use & 
Treatment 

Rebecca, Dave, Alison, Dan, Kathryn, 
Ann, Losa, Addie 

Lift 

Accessible Education & 
Training 

Dan, Julie Jensen, Lisa, Melissa, Alison, 
Addie, Rob, Cindy, 

tla'amin nations education and 
training coordinator, career link, 
viu, social worker should have an 
idea of frontline barriers.   

Strong Neighbourhoods Ann, Caitlin 
 

Accessible Transportation Cindy, Lilla, Terry 
 

Reconciliation Jaclyn, Losa, Rob, Cindy, Addie, 
Allison, Stu, Melissa, Kathryn 

 

Affordable Childcare Ann, Julie Jenkins, Cindy, Melissa, Julie 
Jensen 

Early Years Planning Table, SD47, 
VIU, PacificCARE, After school 
care-PRESS? 

Affordable & Healthy Foods 
for All 

Julie Jensen, Terry, Lisa, Julie Jenkins, 
Alison 

 

Other 
 

SAPAC connects to many 
pathways identified, Province of 
BC 
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Appendix E: Pathways 
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The City of Powell River, qathet Regional District and Tla'amin Nation have 

partnered to complete the qathet  Regional Poverty Reduction Strategy as part of 

the Union of British Columbian Municipalities (UBCM) Poverty Reduction Planning 

& Action Program. This project is in partnership with Lift Community Services and 

First Credit Union  
 
 
 
 



 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Foreword 
 

 

 

 

I want to express my sincere thanks to the people that participated in the focus groups and 

interviews. I feel honoured to have witnessed your stories and listen to your experience, 

fears and hopes. I commend your bravery to share with me your tears and laughter. 

You demonstrated that poverty is not who you are, but truly an experience that anyone can 

face. Living in poverty is not for the faint of heart: it takes courage, creativity, and very hard 

work to make it through another day. 

 

Thank you. 

 

Christien Kaaij  



 4  Focus Group Results  

Summary 
 

 

 

Between June 11 and June 19, 2021, five focus groups and two interviews were 

conducted with people living around the poverty line. Several similar themes emerged in 

all the groups: 

• Living in poverty is stressful and negatively impacts people’s health.  

• Poverty hinders people’s ability to buy healthy foods, move around freely, live in 

appropriate housing, and engage in social interactions.  

• Living in poverty is exhausting and it takes “all one’s time and energy trying to 

survive.” 

• Living in poverty means living in constant fear: fear of losing your home, fear of not 

being able to pay your bills. 

• Poverty is experienced by people of all ages, backgrounds, and education levels. 

• People living in poverty feel stigmatized and face discrimination. 

• The current system is hindering people to move out of poverty. In particular, the 

system to apply and receive Disability Benefits is not fitting people’s needs. 

• Poverty is isolating, it hinders the ability to socialize with friends and travel. 

• Poverty impacts people’s ability to plan and save for their future and the future and 

education of their children. 

• Homeownership drives some people living on low income into debt. Education 

about the true cost of owning a home would be helpful. 

• Working people on low income (working poor) are unable to secure fulltime work 

(e.g., because of seasonal work or being on call) or the pay is insufficient. 

 

Cultural poverty, caused by colonial trauma, residential schools and children leaving their 

community to receive education, is another form of poverty that impacts people’s lives. 

 

“Real” affordable and suitable housing, childcare and higher wages were recognized as 

important for people to live well and avoid poverty. In addition, participants recognized the 

need for 
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• affordable mental health and treatment services 

• food security 

• improving public transit and reducing the cost of travel 

• universal basic income 

• service coordination and accessibility 

• more places to connect, socialize and have community conversations.  

 

Seniors highlighted the need for affordable healthcare, in particular dental care, eyecare 

and hearing aids. They also highlighted how poverty impacts their ability to make end of 

life decisions that fit their beliefs.  

While there remains a the lack of affordable housing and the people are forced to live in 

their vans, more van parking places with access to bathrooms are needed. 

 

Several unique things our community could do to reduce poverty were suggested: 

• Build on our community spirit of friendliness, giving and value for diversity as a way 

to encourage others to “Be Kind”. 

• Make our outdoor areas more 

accessible and have them generate 

more income for the general 

community  

• Examine underused land for housing 

projects, like communal housing or 

tiny housing projects, and land for 

food sharing 

• Explore employee-based housing 

• Develop safer bike infrastructure 

• Make ferry rides free for residents 

• Create spaces and activities to enable people of all ages and backgrounds to come 

together 

• Reduce stigma and start system change from the top 

 

    

 

“People used to ask how can 
you live on such little money: 

I don’t drink, I don’t smoke 
and you don’t travel when you 

are poor”  
Senior focus group participant 
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1. Introduction 
 

 

 

Between June 11 and June 19, 2021, five focus groups and two interviews1 were 

conducted with people living around the poverty line. The groups were organized as 

follows: 

• Indigenous People 

• Seniors 

• General Low Income 

• Lone Parents 

• Working Poor 

 

Focus groups were conducted via Zoom and interviews via phone. Participants received a 

$20 stipend for participation. Participants were selected based on their profile retrieved 

from the Community Wellbeing Survey, where survey participants were asked if they 

would be interested in providing additional information, for example via a focus group or 

interview. Between five and six people were invited for each focus group via email, 

followed up by several phone calls. Participants were offered assistance to overcome 

potential barriers with Zoom. In the end, between 2 and 3 participants attended each focus 

group. There was some cross over between the groups, for example: a participant in the 

lone parent focus group and one in the general low-income focus group identified as 

Indigenous; a participant in the low-income group was a senior; and one participant in the 

Indigenous and one in the low-income group could be classified as ‘working poor’. 

Focus groups were recorded. Notes of the focus groups were shared with each participant, 

and they were given the opportunity to suggest changes. After review of the notes by the 

participants the recordings were deleted.  

 

This report provides a summary of the results, which will be used to inform the 

development of the qathet Ending Poverty Strategy.2  

 

 
1 See Appendix A for the interview guide. 
2 Previously named the “qathet Poverty Reduction Strategy”. 
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2. Focus areas 
 

 

 

When asked if they agreed with the survey results that housing, childcare and higher 
wages are very important to live well and avoid poverty, all participants agreed. Several 

examples were giving regarding issues people experienced with housing. A senior said 

how “subsidized housing – it was a lifesaving for me. I 

would not be able to continue to pay my mortgage and 

condo fees.”  The stress for finding affordable housing 

is high. “I just talked to a friend last night who has to 

move out of her apartment as the people that own it 

want to live there. Where does she go, she has 

disabilities and is older, when a 1-bedroom apartment is $1,200 and pensions are $1500.” 

A couple of people were living on and off in their vans. “I am technically homeless and am 

now renting a room from my sister. If I don’t have that, I live in my van.”  

 

Many participants talked about the cost of food, in particular healthy food. 

 “Every time I walk into [a store] the prices have gone up from the previous week.” and “a 

lot of people that are low income have health issues which makes healthy food very 

important.” “Underline Healthy food. I can buy the cheap stuff…I cannot afford to buy all 

the things I want to buy. If I do, I have to shop at 5 different stores which is time consuming 

and tiring.” 

 

They highlighted the importance of free or affordable mental health services and 

education regarding harm reduction. “It would be nice for everyone to have the ability to go 

to a counsellor and not just a psychiatry (sic) who wants to give you pills. I have been 

lucky that I have had some [free] counselling. Without counselling I would not have been 

here… It saved my life.” 

 

Several participants brought up the importance of a systems change, which could 

potentially be accomplished through establishing universal income for everyone. “If 

everyone got $1,000 a month, if you are not wealthy, people on the street would do better, 

“It is easer to go into Harvard 
law school than to get 

housing..”  
Focus group participant  
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we all would do better. … Universal basic income is one of the things that can really 

change from being poor to being able to have a roof over your head and eat well.” They 

expressed how “our current income assistance system is broken …. I know that once 

you are on it just being poor is a full-time job, just trying to get by, so you cannot get out of 

it. … our Income Assistance has to be fixed otherwise when people fall in poverty is near 

impossible to get out.” 

 

Several participants mentioned the importance of inclusion and interconnectedness: “It 

is bad enough being poor but if you feel isolated, depression and hopelessness often 

become the reality.” They suggested creating “places in the community where it is free 

and… desirable for all demographics to 

interact. I feel that is one of the biggest 

reasons why there is such a disconnect, 

especially with different social groups, 

because we don’t in our society hang out, 

even though Powell River is a small town… 

there are not a lot of places, free places, 

where everybody in the community is 

welcome and the purpose is just to kind of 

be there and hang out and get to know 

your community. I think that is integral to reduce poverty as it would be an equalizer.” 

Family Place was given as an example where this is demonstrated. “Just being a caregiver 

and parent is an equalizer and I have seen people from every demographic come through 

the doors and make connections with people and they don’t even know what the other 

person does or much of their history…. They just connect on a common thing.” 

 

Stigma and racism came up several times. A participant mentioned how they “found a lot 

of people here intolerant of people who are poor.” “Those who are over-privileged and 

over-entitled beside those who live in poverty create a “We/Them” situation. It can be color 

of skin, religious views, money/poverty, gender, it can be 

any differences. ”A suggestion was made to have more 

education about racism, especially visible minorities. “I 

worked as a bartender at [name] and there is such gross 

stereotyping especially around First Nations people in this 

“I really think there is that 
attitude of “if you'd done this 
or done that you would not be 
in the position you are in” and 

that is unkind and 
judgmental.”  

Focus group participant 

“Colonial violence is a huge 
part of most indigenous past.”  

Focus group participant  
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town, amongst I would say the 40 -70 year white male population, which is probably harder 

to reach education-wise but it is just so gross and so blatant and so many [ ] are business 

owners and in charge of decisions making in our community. It is just so gross.” 

 

Other focus areas that were mentioned: 

• Public transportation, in particular that “Tla’amin has three busses that come out 

here but they don’t have convenient times” and don’t line up with many work or 

school hours  

• Gas prices, and participants questioning why “the gas prices are way higher than 

anywhere else” and many mentioned they “don’t ever travel anywhere”  

• Utility costs: “If you have a choice between food and utilities, you got to have heat. 

I know the government does not think of cable as necessary but if you are poor and 

you cannot go anywhere that is the only thing that keeps you sane, it kept me sane 

especially during Covid”  

• Income gap between men and women, something that was found “very appalling 

that women make 67% less than men”, in particular that in 2021 “we still have to 

fight for women’s equality”  

• Accessibility of streets, and how in many places “we have unpaved sidewalks for 

most of it and that is not safe for people who are living with disabilities or children 

walking down the road”  

• Communal services, like laundry, showers and public washrooms especially 

services open at night 

• Community or Family focus groups, as an Indigenous participant mentioned 

“how we used to have within our Nation family focus groups to inform what program 

and services are out there, what skilled positions are out there.” 

• Legal support, a participant mentioned that if “legal anything happens to me, I 

cannot afford a lawyer. Justice [ ] looks like it is just for people with money.”  

• Healthcare costs: “dental care is huge, hearing $2,000 and glasses $1,000…. 

Between my eyes, ears, teeth and the therapy I need with my broken shoulder there 

is not much left – I always wondered what older people did with their money, but 

now I know.”  

• Having pets, as “Pets are important”, “having something to be responsible 

for…makes your suicide rate much lower”. However, there is a stigma that “if you 

are poor, you should not have pets” and rental housing is hard to find. 
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3. Top things to do to end poverty 
 

 

 

When asked “If you had magic powers and could end poverty in our community, what 

would be the top 3 things you would do?” There were many different ideas, similar to the 

ideas mentioned above. 

 

All focus groups spoke about the importance of suitable and “actually affordable 
housing.” “Even the new Inclusion housing that are being opened for the fall, for a one 

bedroom it is $785, but if you are on [disability] and unable to work it will be over half of 

your cheque, just right there, not including 

hydro, internet, etc. It is not affordable.” Many 

described that more affordable places are 

often substandard or unsuitable for their 

physical needs, causing the tenants to be 

homebound. “My rent is very reasonable, but 

there are spiders and mold. I don’t have the 

ability to move because it is so expensive. 

“Speaking from Texada island, finding a rental for under a $1,000 right now is 

unreasonable… Only place that is less than that is a trailer park, and you still will have to 

find a trailer. I know several cases where people are living in leaky moldy trailers and stuff 

like that and then their health is compromised, and they cannot find a job and it will go 

round and around.” Participants suggested more communal or cooperative housing as one 

solution to create more community and affordable housing. 

 

Many people raised the topic of Food security. People mentioned “more community 

gardens.” “as they are wonderful and social” and “it connects people.” However, one 

participant cautioned that “growing a garden is not cheap.”  

It was felt that more around food sustainability could be done. Lift’s program “Loop” was 

provided as a good example where “food that is going into the garbage ends up being 

given to people for fee.”  

 

 

“People did not create this 
situation (lack of housing), 

but they are getting the brunt 
of it”  
Focus group participant  
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Several participants mentioned accessible mental health supports. ”If I could wave my 

magic wand, I would have mental health supports available for free for everyone, with zero 

waitlists… Have it complete covered and be something like they pursue you, you don’t 

even have to ask.” The suggestion was made to have counsellors randomly call to check 

in, without people having to ask for services. 
 
Affordable addiction treatment and harm reduction was also mentioned by several 

participants. One participant shared how they had to participate in a TV show to be able to 

afford treatment. “You cannot afford it; it is very expensive. It cost like 90 grand to get into 

the place where I now got into. I watch so many people come in for 30 days, they were 

right back to where they were. You need the 90 days, but you need to make it affordable. 

... It saved my life. I would not be here today.”  

 

Improving public transit and the cost of travel was brought up again. With no bus 

service between the Lower Mainland and Courtenay/Comox, participants were wondering 

“how do you travel out of the community for appointments, see family etc.” One participant 

shared how VCH required that they “had to have [their] own car. No car, no work.” They 

shared how “the car thing made me angry all the time because I had to go into debt to buy 

a reliable vehicle, and further into debt for repairs.” 

 

Other things that participants mentioned: 

• Creating a physically accessible community, e.g. by paving the sidewalks and 

creating accessible outdoor trails 

• Holding community conversations or focus groups 

• Increasing program awareness 

• Increase program accessibility, for example by having supports “available outside 
of 9 – 5. People have work so they don’t have access to it unless they take time off, 

but they cannot afford that.” 

• Universal/basic income: “I like the idea of a basic income, because if you are poor, 

you know at least that you will survive and not end up in a tent city. My fear was 

also to become homeless”. Participants also mentioned how they “love to see our 

community be a trial community for basic income.”  

• Changing our tax system, as one participant mentioned: “Let’s have more taxes for 

the upper threshold of business holders.” 
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• Service coordination. The example was given how “a lot of disability-based groups 

have been dealing with disability and poverty, [however] they often miss the place 

where it comes together.” With stronger coordination things could be prevented 

when it would “start to spiral down.”  
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4. The Impact of Poverty 
 

 

 

Participants were asked “How do you experience poverty? What does it look or feel like for 

you? How is it impacting your life?” Two participants recognized that they are currently 

“mostly out of it”, as one was receiving retirement income and the other indicated that “I 

cannot say that I am poor since I am getting my old age security, as it has been the most 

money I have had in years.” 

 

Participants described how poverty “is affecting me every single moment of the day”, 

as they “have to watch every penny, every second of my life.” It was indicated how they 

“spend all the money on groceries or clothes for school” 

and how they “have nothing left over. If I want to buy 

something special for my kids… That’s what sucks.” They 

described how “poverty is choosing what bill is going to be 

paid off fully on time” and there was general skepticism 

about the ability to eliminate poverty. One participant got 

emotional when sharing “I have a “good” paying job, however I rent and I have student 

loans, and that is most of my income right there. I just also found out I am pregnant and 

don’t have any idea how to do it. I have got 32 weeks to figure it out. But right now, it 

seems impossible.” 

 

A participant shared how the system is forcing people to “cheat”, “because when you 

do not cheat you cannot live on what you get otherwise you cannot pay for food, or 

housing, and you are on the street essentially, so it forces people into a terrible situation.” 

 

 

 

 

“I compare it to stomach 
issues. Poverty is an acid 

burning reflux health issue.”  
Focus group participant 
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Not having suitable and accessible housing, limited their ability to go outside. 

Participants shared how “fear is a big one”, caused by the lack of stable affordable 
housing. And two people shared how they “don’t want to be homeless.”  A participant in 

her late twenties-early thirties shared “I just 

know that 90% of the people in my age bracket 

or the most are technically homeless, like they 

don’t have the name on the lease.” They 

shared how “having stable housing would help 

you get nicer hair [laughter] that would help 

getting a better job.” They shared they and 

many others often lived in their van, something 

that is not known by many people in the community as they “try really hard” not to be seen 

“because if you see us, we are getting kicked out.”  Another participant shared: “I talk to 

many people who say they want to move away. We are in our 30s and have no hope to 
buy a home here. We live in the basement suites of our parents. We have no options of 

finding other places to live. We work what we can to the point of ending up in [needing] 

mental health [supports].”  Others shared how they “have given up the idea of ever owning 

a house. Even trying to save the 50K down payment is not a thing that is ever going to 

happen.” Another participant who was able to afford a home 6 – 7 years ago with support 

of their family shared “that ever since we bought a house it is just further and further 
into debt…It is not something that makes me feel secure. But I am also very happy that I 

don’t have to live on the wim and the needs of the landlord anymore.” They shared, how 

education about the true cost of owning a home might have been helpful, as they were 

unaware that “having a mortgage is about as much as paying rent, but a few years into it 

we realized we needed to double our income just to afford everything after the mortgage 

payment.” 

 

Poverty is also negatively impacting people’s health. One Indigenous participant shared 

how they are losing relatives at a young age. “What happened to our Elders when they 

used to live till like 80, 90 or 100 and now they are like 50 or under.” Another participant 

shared “I have experienced poverty since I was a small child. ... I was able to get out of it 

for a small time but as I have been living in poverty for so long, it caught up to me health 

wise.” This was echoed by other participants. A senior participant who is currently living in 

their van mentioned how a doctor had advised them to change their lifestyle but they 

 

“I have lived in houses that 
don’t have clean housing 
water to drink. We have to 
bring our own water in.”  

Focus group participant  
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“cannot make proper meals in [their] car or have a shower”. One participant described how 

poverty is “just eating crappy food, as there is nothing else I can afford” and “skip meals 

as I don’t eat 3-times-a-day meals with vegetables as I cannot afford that.”  

Participants also shared their fear of not being able to cover medical costs. “I am 

afraid, like right now I am in the middle of a root canal. What if I cannot afford to get my 

teeth fixed, my eyes glasses replaced – that kind of medical things. And we have more 

and more when we age.” “When we have to travel medically, we get a TAP (Travel 

Assistance Program) sheet. But if you have to stay in Vancouver for any amount of time, 

that is not affordable.” 

 

Discrimination and stigma impact people’s health and the services they receive. 

Participants mentioned the stigma attached to receiving Disability Benefits, being “treated 

as not contributing to society for having a disability.” An Indigenous participant shared how 

they experienced lateral violence when they asked for help and how “it took me 2 years to 

get diagnosed. She thought I [was] this alcoholic.  ... She was absolutely stereotyping me.” 

Another Indigenous participant highlighted the existence of cultural poverty caused by 

colonial trauma, residential schools and children leaving their community to receive 

education “in the white man’s world”. They shared “here I am working, soon to retire, but I 

do still feel I am in poverty because I did not learn the traditional ways accurately and to 

perfection. My late mom [spoke] the language and knew how to live off the land, that be 

berry picking, salmon harvesting, skinning a deer. That’s the poverty for me. I was not 

allowed to speak my language. I was not allowed to do the labour intensive how to cut a 

fish and skin a deer, because I needed to get an education in the white man’s world. 

Because in the white man’s world sometimes cutting fish does not pay your rent in the 

city.” 

 

Several participants who are working mentioned job 
insecurity and the need to have more than one job to 
cover the high cost of living. “I feel like not secure. I feel 

that both our jobs are not secure, and we are walking on a 

tight rope. He has a seasonal job now, a temporary seasonal 

job with BC ferries, he is really excited about it but he hasn’t 

had a call for over a week. I work 20 hours a week, I would 

really like to work more but… . childcare is more expensive.” 

 

“There were many years 
where I had to have two to 

three different jobs to make 
ends meet until I got a 

permanent position with 
Vancouver Coastal Health”  

Focus group participant  
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Another participant shared “I have a good hospital job and I work a second job and I go to 

school fulltime. But my hospital job, 90% of it is rent. I have $110 after I pay rent to pay for 

hydro, groceries, medication. Everything else has to be paid for $110 a month unless I 

work multiple jobs, which I have to in order to survive, and go to school fulltime. I have a 

degree and I am working on a second degree in order to try to improve my employability 

and get more. That means working a lot, I don’t get to sleep I don’t get to do any of 

that…even when you think you have a good income you still fall within that poverty line 

because of how expensive our community is.”  

COVID-19 brought some temporary financial relief for some. “With the CRB (Canada 

Recovery Benefit) and CERB (Canada Emergency Response Benefit) …our income was 

like $500 - $1000 more …and all of sudden we had $100 left over at the end of the month 

…Ever since having kids we had not experienced that so it had been a decade really.” 

 

With the cost of transportation and the gas 

prices, many participants indicated how 

“people that are poor don’t travel”, “and you 

are very careful where you are driving, as gas 

is very expensive.” For those with a car, car 

repairs are difficult. “My car is in dire need of 

repairs, and I can only repair one thing at a 

time [becomes emotional], and if something 

else goes…” Ferry costs add another expense 

and one participant described how “it is 

expensive to catch that ferry to bring my son to 

see his father.”  

  

 

“If you have money the 
buying a new tire is an 

inconvenience, but if you are 
poor, it can mean a 

catastrophe.”  
Focus group participant  
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5. Being out of Poverty and Thriving 
 

 

 

When asked “When do you know you are out of poverty? When do you know you are 

thriving? What does that look or feel like? What is the impact on your life?, for a few 

people it was hard to imagine as they “have never really been out of poverty”, and they 

found it more an “unobtainable dream.” 

 

The feelings described by most participants reflected reduced stress. “All of a sudden, I 

am not stressed out a hundred percent of the time. I can have some joy in my life. I have 

some more energy and I am happy here, just by removing 

of all that stress.” “I would know when I was out when I 

was not living paycheque to paycheque and having to 
rely on credit, and not going into debt when I am already 

in debt. I know when I was thriving, I could invest in my 
future and my children’s future, pay into retirement 

savings and my children’s education. …. Being able to look 

more than 1 month ahead would be great.” “I am stressed 

out a lot, so I would not feel stressed in parts of my body. If I go to the gas station, I would 

not be worried that gas is 1.71 and only throw in what you can. Popping up extra 

expenses, that pop up that you cannot pay.” “That I can have just one good night of sleep.” 

 

The enormous energy it currently takes to survive would be lifted, as one participant nicely 

described: “Safe housing, eating well, feeling a sense of personal control over health 

and not spending all one’s time and energy trying to survive, I would say put that on the 

top and that would make sense of everything else.” 

  

 

“Out of poverty is when you 
are not looking for a quarter in 

all your cloths to see if you 
left a quarter in your pocket.”  

Senior Focus group participant  
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In addition to a relief of stress and gaining personal control, participants shared many 

other things: 

 

“Knowing you can go to the grocery store or 

farmers market and buy healthy food”, and 

“once in a while when I can buy a treat, food, 

some kind of food I really like but is not the 

cheapest available and not worry that I cannot 

be able to eat later in the month.” 

 

Having stable housing, “a home of my own where I can be free”, “that I am not living in a 

rental, where you can hear people banging on the walls next to you or hear people talking 

through the walls. Have your own house.” 

 

“When culture and ceremony take place, when the drums are brought up. If it is the 

elders that are singing and dancing and we are learning it at the children’s level.”  

 

Living without poverty and thriving is “being able to socialize freely”, “having dinner with 

your friend in a restaurant, and not afraid you cannot pay your bills” or not having or “make 

a lame excuse as it was not in my budget.” 

 

“When I can drive a car and know that I have enough money to maybe fix a simple 

mechanical problem and get around.” 

 

Two senior participants said that if they were out of poverty or thriving they could follow 
their belief in making end-of-life decisions. They would “rather be buried than 

cremated” or “have a green burial”, “but cremation is cheaper”, even though their “religion 

does not allow me to be cremated, but I cannot afford something else.“ 

 

 

 

 

 

“I want to feel so affluent that 
I can give a king size 
chocolate bar [during 

Halloween]” 
Focus group participant   
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6. Unique things our community could do 
 

 

 

In one of the closing questions, participants were asked “What is unique about our 

community and what could we do to ensure everyone thrives that nobody else in our 

country could do?” 

 

Several people reflected on the community spirit and friendliness, noticing how “young 

people and teenagers actually smile at me when I am walking wherever I am walking or 

say “Hi". They also noticed that “this is a very giving community. When there is a house 

fire people pull together for total strangers.” In addition, they “have seen that people are 

motivated to participate and that they really value families and diversity to a scale I have 

not seen in a small town.” The advice was giving for “stepping forward and be just kind.” 

They reflected how “Bonnie Henry says “Be kind”, but I am pretty sure our ancestors said 

that too, “Be kind”. When you are kind, you tend to move forward at a more gracious 

speed than when you are not kind.”  

 

Several participants mentioned that we “have access to nature and that is pretty free.” In 

particular, “fact that we have an accessible trail”, which could be further enhanced by 

“making things more accessible,” which “would make people really happy as well.” A few 

others mentioned how “we have the Sunshine Coast Trail” that attracts “people from all 

over the world” and could be used to “get an income …[that] could go to our community, 

so that our tourism is not just benefiting the businesses, but the community as a whole ... 

for social programming and education.” 

 

Our natural environment and “unused land” provide also opportunities for “unique 

projects.” Thoughts were raised to start “housing projects, like tiny housing on pieces of 

land …. where they can garden to grow food”, more communal housing like Blueberry 

Commons, and “encourage more food sharing” and land sharing where, for example 

“one person living on 16 ha and struggling to manage … have other people living on the 

land to make better use of the land and make their own lives better.” 
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To generate more housing, it was suggested to “partner with employee-based housing “, 

as some “[VCH] staff that moved here … had to live in their trucks along the beach 

because there was nowhere for them to live.”  

 

To bring people more together it was suggested to establish more intergenerational 
connections and bring “children and Elders together”, or to establish a choir for homeless 

people or for seniors - building on our community being “a very musical place. 

 

To support transportation, a safer bike infrastructure was mentioned, as “having bike 

paths … between chunks of town” would allow people “to go to work, so you are not hit by 

a semi-truck.” One participant shared “that’s one of the reasons I don’t have a bike, I don’t 

feel safe on the road.” Additionally, the suggestion was made to make ferries free for 
residents, or “at least eliminate the cost … from here to Texada.” 

 

Participants discussed the good relationship between the Tla’amin Nation and School 
District 47 and how it has resulted in Indigenous programs from K-12. While people do 

experience racism in the community, an Indigenous participant provided the advice to 

“look at the positive and turn it and say this 

town is not racist and work on non-racist 

people that are pulling together.” The canoe 

analogy was used to describe the pulling 

together. Others suggested to “come 
together around food”, as “it starts with food 

and then it is community, then the land, then it 

is housing and that is where housing or the 

possibility of housing can happen.” 

 

Some participants provided insights about how the system should change which “really 

has to start from the top.” They indicated how, if “our employers don’t respect us, it will 

trickle down, from government to employers to everyone. … [When] people keep talking 

about poverty, [they] slowly peel the stigma out of it. With poverty, people are unhappy, 

people turn to substance use – not everyone. I think that if we would take care of 
poverty, there would be far less social issues.” 

 

 

“You can be the canoe puller, 
you can be the road crew, you 
can be the boat crew, the land 

crew or the support group. 
Many levels, but we all pull 

together in the end.” 
Focus group participant 
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  “I feel Powell River is ripe for people to stand up and say I have an 
idea, and others stand up and say “I like it and join, let’s stand up 

together”. Don’t know if it is because we are isolated and we cannot 
drive somewhere to Vancouver. We actually have to make it her. I feel 
we can capitalize on it. It just needs some leadership to create this.”   

Focus group participant  
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7. Other Issues and Suggestions 
 

 

 

Several participants reflected how “the process is very difficult for people to get onto 

Disability Benefits. It takes multiple months [and] it can be very defeating.” They descried 

the stigma and lack of understanding how “everyone’s disability is experienced by 

everyone differently”. The process of “applying to provide all that medical information and 

then there is someone that is not your doctor, and you are turned away”, is disheartening. 

The cap on additional earning gives the feeling that they “cannot actually get ahead” and 

they would rather “take the money when [they] need it” when they have a “period [they] 

cannot work for a long time.”  

Even participants who received Disability Benefits through work found it “very stressful”. 

They shared: “I am still under the poverty level.… The insurance company has cut me off 3 

times and each time I have to fight with them, and I go from doing okay to having nothing. 

The safety net is very flimsy and has very large holes.” 

 

Due to a lack of affordable housing, one senior participant permanently lived in their van 

and one other participant lived on and off in their van. Both described how “there are no 

places that will accept [their van].” The lack of van parking places “has a large impact on 

our back country”. One participant shared how the inability to “have a home or create one 

themselves” due to the lack of the ability to keep their van in one spot with bathroom 

facilities “is impacting my wellbeing, how I feel about myself my future and everything 

else.”  
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8. Conclusion 
 

 

 

This report reflects the experiences of some of the people living in poverty in the qathet 

Region, in particular seniors, lone parents, working families and Indigenous people. Their 

contributions in the focus groups confirmed that poverty is experienced by people of all 

ages, backgrounds, and education levels. 

 

Many participants had experienced poverty most of their life. What stood out was the high 

level of stress caused by the need to balance a very limited income with the high cost of 

living and dealing with ‘the system’. Most participants, working and non-working, described 

the feeling of being stuck or kept hostage by the system that is hindering them to get 

ahead and out of poverty. For many their health was negatively impacted due to an 

inability to secure suitable housing, buy healthy foods, or socialize, and the high amount of 

stress their situation causes them. These factors keep people trapped or brings them back 

into poverty. Poverty also impacts people’s ability to move around within and outside the 

community. People who identified as working poor shared their inability to secure fulltime 

well-paying jobs. Many participants reflected on the stigma attached to poverty or receiving 

Disability Benefits, and Indigenous participants shared experiences of racism and 

stereotyping. Cultural poverty, caused by colonial trauma, residential schools and children 

leaving their community to receive education, was brought up as another form of poverty 

that impacts people’s lives. 

 

Building on our natural resources and community spirit, suggestions were made to reduce 

poverty by bringing people together, sharing resources, supporting active transportation, 

and finding ways to use our natural bounties so it would benefit everyone, for example 

through housing development (e.g., tiny homes and employee housing), land sharing and 

generating income for the entire community. 

 

 

 

 

 
“I sometimes feel proud I did it by myself with not very much”  

Focus group participant 
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Appendix A: Interview Guide 
 

 

 

Introduction: 
Thank you so much for participating in this focus group.  

 

My name is… and I am part of the project team that is supporting the community with the development 

of a poverty reduction strategy. 

 

I want to let you know again that all information you provide will be kept confidential. Your information 

will be used to develop a regional poverty reduction strategy to improve the wellbeing of everyone in 

our community.  

 

We hope you are comfortable answering all questions, but you do not have to. You can also stop your 

participation at any time. We will record this meeting. The recording will only be used to ensure the 

notes are accurate. The recording will be destroyed within 7 days. 

 

Do you have any questions for us before we start? 

 

Questions: 
• From our survey we know that housing, childcare and higher wages are very important for 

people to live well and avoid poverty. Would you agree? 

• In addition to these things, what do you feel we should be working on to end poverty in our 

community and make sure everyone thrives? 

• If you had magic powers and could end poverty in our community, what would be the top 3 

things you would do? 

• How do you experience poverty? What does it look or feel like for you? How is it impacting 

your life? 

• When do you know you are out of poverty? When do you know you are thriving? What does 

that look or feel like? What is the impact on your life? 

• What is unique about our community and what could we do to ensure everyone thrives that 

nobody else in our country could do? 
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• Who do you know who really cares about this topic, about ending poverty? (business, 

churches etc). Why? 

• Do you think they would like to be involved? 

 

Closing question: Would you be interested in helping us show the general public the impact of poverty 

by participating in our photo voice? Photo voice just means that you use pictures to tell a story or 

convey a message. If you are interested, we would ask you to submit one or two photos that answer 

one or both of the following questions: 

• How is poverty impacting your life? 

• What do you want others to understand about living in poverty? 
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Steve Hopkins

From: Allison Burt

Sent: September 3, 2021 1:06 PM

To: Steve Hopkins

Subject: Fw: Possible rainbow crosswalk at Selkirk/Nootka

In an effort to respond to the City of Powell River's email dated August 27, 2021 re: Possible rainbow 
crosswalk at Selkirk/Nootka intersection and their need for a response by September 16, 2021, in the interest 
of time I consulted with the SOGI District Lead, Willow Dunlop, rather than the full SD47 SOGI committee. 

We are so appreciative of the City of Powell River's advocacy for another rainbow crosswalk in Powell River. 
We know how important SOGI-inclusive environments are to creating a positive and welcoming space for all 
people in our community.  SOGI-inclusive symbols and signage demonstrate a commitment to inclusion and 
diversity and we wholeheartedly support these symbols in our community. 

We do have concerns that the location of the rainbow crosswalk at Selkirk/Nootka, essentially in front of 
Westview Elementary School, will look like a school and/or district initiative. Not that we don't want a 
rainbow crosswalk there, but that we haven't planned for rainbow crosswalks at any of our other schools. If 
we were to invest in rainbow crosswalks at each of our school sites, we would prefer a process that would use 
the SD47 SOGI Committee to explore a rainbow crosswalk initiative for each of our school sites for 
consistency. This would also include engagement and consultation with the school community (students, 
staffs, parents, etc.). However, we know from our discussions with other regional SOGI Committees about 
their processes, costs, outcomes, and challenges of rainbow crosswalks at their school sites, we would prefer 
to allocate funds and resources for other SOGI initiatives. We have had discussions about alternatives that 
include the possibility of Pride flags at every school and site, rainbow benches, rainbow stairs, and rainbow 
parking barriers. These are more practical and easily maintainable options to promote diversity and 
inclusiveness. 

We would welcome further conversation on this topic with the City of Powell River. 

Sincerely, 

Allison Burt (she/her/hers)   |  Director of Instruction 
Curriculum, Assessment & Reporting
School District No. 47 
Phone  604.414.5262 
4351 Ontario Avenue, Powell River, BC  V8A 1V3  |  www.sd47.bc.ca

With great respect and recognition, I acknowledge and honour the lands of the Coast Salish peoples, specifically the Tla’amin Nation, whose traditional 
territory School District No. 47 resides on. As I strive to deepen my own understanding of Indigenous knowledge, perspectives, and worldviews, I value 
the opportunity to live, work, and learn on this traditional territory.   
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Steve Hopkins

From: Allison Burt

Sent: September 3, 2021 10:16 AM

To: Steve Hopkins

Subject: Fw: SOGI Initiatives for 2021/2022

Based on the ARC Foundations 2021 Powell River SOGI Report, the SD47's SOGI Committee's draft operational 
plan items, and the recommendations from Jordana Pangburn's Presentation to the Board, the following 
actions and initiatives have been scheduled or tentatively planned for the 2021/2022 school year: 

 SOGI Kits to each school with SOGI-inclusive books, lesson plans, posters, and SWAG 
 Observe SOGI Awareness Days with activities and educator resources 
 Tangible SOGI-inclusive environment resources for schools and educators (flags, stickers, posters, 

SOGI-inclusive designs, etc.) 
 Professional Development for all staff: school based PD days; staff meetings; District Day; Planning Day

o Learning Bursts delivered by SOGI School Leads  
o Introduction to SOGI-inclusive Education and SOGI Scenarios (Henderson Elementary/Davis 

Steele/Facilitator) 
o SOGI123 for Schools (all staff/Scout Gray from ARC Foundation/Facilitator) 
o District Day SOGI workshops (Willow Dunlop) 
o Planning Day Keynote: Ivan Coyote   
o 2SLGBTQIA+ sexual health education professional development for PHE teachers 

 Learning Opportunities for students and school community 
o Out In Schools, BC's award-winning 2SLGBTQIA+ education program for all Grade 5 students 
o Out In Schools presentation for school community 
o ArtStarts: Ivan Coyote Performance for Brooks Secondary students 
o Parent education through newsletters/engagement sessions 
o provide 2SLGBTQIA+ sexual health education curriculum to all students

Sincerely, 

Allison Burt (she/her/hers)   |  Director of Instruction 
Curriculum, Assessment & Reporting
School District No. 47 
Phone  604.414.5262 
4351 Ontario Avenue, Powell River, BC  V8A 1V3  |  www.sd47.bc.ca

With great respect and recognition, I acknowledge and honour the lands of the Coast Salish peoples, specifically the Tla’amin Nation, whose traditional 
territory School District No. 47 resides on. As I strive to deepen my own understanding of Indigenous knowledge, perspectives, and worldviews, I value 
the opportunity to live, work, and learn on this traditional territory.   



September 2021 

 
 
 

 
JULY 

 Participate in National Trustees Gathering on Indigenous 
Education & CSBA Congress – July 7-9, 2021 (virtual) 

 
SEPTEMBER 

 Review Board Annual Work Plan 

 Receive Enhancing Student Learning Report 

 Review School Growth Plans 

 Review Audit Findings Report 

 Adopt Annual Financial Statements 

 Adopt Multi Year Capital  

 Review Executive Compensation Disclosure  

 Approve Power to Suspend 

 Approve Maintenance of Order 

 Recognize Orange Shirt Day – Every Child Matters 
 
OCTOBER  

 Receive Summer Facility Plan Report 

 Review Enrolment Information 

 Represent Board at BCPSEA Symposium 

 Represent Board at BCSTA Provincial Council 

 Chairperson – Represent Board at Ministry of Education 
Annual Partner Liaison Meeting 

 Recognize World Teachers’ Day 

 Recognize World Mental Health Day 
 

NOVEMBER  

 Attend Remembrance Day Assemblies 

 Review Schedule of Winter Concerts  
 
DECEMBER  

 Election of Board Chairperson & Vice Chairperson 

 Receive Statement of Financial Information  

 Review Annual PR Living Communications Plan 

 Attend BCSTA Trustee Academy 

 Attend Winter Concerts 

 Sign Cards for School and Staff Appreciation 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
JANUARY  

 Receive Strategic & School Growth Plan Interim Report  

 Participate in informal Board/Superintendent Evaluation 

 Approve Trustee Appointments to Committees and 
Community Liaison Groups 

 Review Trustee Remuneration 

 Submit Financial Disclosure Forms by January 15th 

 Represent Board at BCPSEA AGM   

 Recognize Literacy Week  
 

FEBRUARY 

 Adopt Amended Annual Budget 

 Review School Calendar Consultation Information 

 Represent Board at BCSTA Provincial Council 

 Recognize Pink Shirt Day – Anti Bullying 
 
MARCH 

 Approve School Calendar Submission 

 Review Provincial Motions for BCSTA AGM 

 Approve Budget Process  
 
APRIL 

 Review Government Grant Information 

 Represent Board at BCSTA Provincial Council 

 Attend BCSTA AGM 

 Recognize Education Week 
 
MAY 

 Recognize Mental Health Week 
 
JUNE 

 Adopt Annual Budget  

 Receive Carbon Neutral Action Report  

 Review Annual Facility Grant Plans 

 Review Strategic Plan 

 Review Board Meeting Calendar  

 Review Draft Board Work Plan 

 Participate in Employee Recognition Event 

 Participate in Board Retirement Celebration 

 Participate in SD47 Graduation, Award and Scholarship 
Ceremony 

 Recognize National Indigenous Peoples Day 

ANNUAL BOARD WORK PLAN 2021-2022 



PROSPECTIVE DAYS OF OBSERVANCE 
 

SEPTEMBER 

• International FASD Day  

• Terry Fox Run 

• Orange Shirt Day – Every Child Matters 

• National Day for Truth and Reconciliation 

 

FEBRUARY 

• Digital Learning Day 

• Pink Shirt Day – Anti Bullying 

• Black History Month 

• Moose Hide Campaign Day 
 

OCTOBER 

• World Teachers’ Day 

• World Mental Health Day 

• LGBT History Month 

• National Prinicpals’ Month 

 

MARCH 

• Employee Appreciation Day 

• International Women’s Day 

• World Down Syndrome Day 

• International Transgender Day of Visibility  

• International Day for the Elimination of Racial Discrimination  
NOVEMBER 

• World Kindness Day 

• Remembrance Day 

APRIL  

• Day of Silence  

• Education Week 

• World Autism Day 

• International Day of Pink 

• World Creativity and Innovation Day 

• Earth Day 

• National Day of Mourning 

• National Administrative Professionals Week 

 
DECEMBER 

• National Day of Remembrance  
& Action on Violence Against Women  

• Human Rights Day 

MAY 

• National Prinicpals’ Day 

• National Child and Youth Mental Health Day 

• Mental Health Week 

• Teacher Appreciation Week 

• National Day of Action against Anti-Asian 
Racism 

• Child Care Provider Appreciation Day 

• Speech and Hearing Month 

 
JANUARY 

• Literacy Week 

• Black Shirt Day – Anti Racism 

• Bell Let’s Talk Day 

 

JUNE 

• National Indigenous Peoples Day 

• National Indigenous History Month 

• Pride Month 

 



 Office of the Chief Medical Health Officer 

#800 - 601 West Broadway 
Vancouver, BC V5Z 4C2 

604-675-3900 
 

 
 

30 August 2021 
 
Dear School Administrators:  
 

Re: COVID-19 vaccine clinics at your school 
 

In order to promote a safe return to school, we are working with select schools to offer COVID-19 
vaccine to all eligible grades in school setting for the month of September. Your school has been 
selected based on immunization coverage of youth 12-17 in your geographic area. Our plans to 
strengthen vaccine coverage include the following: 
 

1. School-wide immunization clinics in September: Our staff will reach out to you to propose 
a date for these clinics. Vaccine will be offered to all eligible students and staff who need 
their first or second dose. In addition, we would like to work with you to explore whether 
families can be safely invited to the same clinic. Please support our staff with provision of 
adequate space (such as a gymnasium or another large site), time (immunization clinics are 
expected to take an entire day), and set up. We also appreciate your support in releasing 
students from class for the immunization clinics.  
 

2. Offering COVID vaccine at routine immunization clinics through the school year: The 
immunization clinics for routine vaccines are expected to commence in late September and 
will last until June. You may recall that immunization services in schools were suspended 
last year and thus this year’s clinics will be larger in size and can expect to take more time 
and space. As we offer routine vaccines to students 12 years and older in all schools, we will 
continue to offer covid vaccine to eligible students. As above, please support our staff with 
a large safe space and plenty of time for their clinic so that they can immunize all who need 
to be caught up. 

 
3. Vaccine promotion: In advance of start of school and during the month of September, 

Vancouver Coastal Health will be promoting COVID vaccination to students, staff and 
families in order to promote back to school safety. Two mRNA vaccines are now available to 
youth 12 and older: Pfizer and Moderna. Unimmunized individuals can now register at this 
link: https://www2.gov.bc.ca/getvaccinated.html and we encourage everyone who is 
eligible to get two doses of the vaccine. Please help us in getting this message out to your 
school community. 

 



 Office of the Chief Medical Health Officer 

#800 - 601 West Broadway 
Vancouver, BC V5Z 4C2 

604-675-3900 
 

 
 

In closing, we thank you for your attention to ensuring a safe and healthy school year. If you 
have any questions about the content of this letter, please contact your School Medical Officer 
or your local school public health nurse. 
 
Sincerely,  
 

 
Mark Lysyshyn MD MPH FRCPC 
Deputy Chief Medical Health Officer  
Vancouver Coastal Health 
 

 
On behalf of: 
Dr. John Harding, School Medical Officer (Coastal Rural) 
Dr. Alexandra Choi, School Medical Officer (North Shore) 
Dr. Meena Dawar, School Medical Officer (Richmond) 
Dr. Althea Hayden, School Medical Officer (Vancouver) 
Dr. Mark Lysyshyn, School Medical Officer (Vancouver) 
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